
 
 

WCCUSD 

 
 

JOINT MEETING 
WCCUSD BOARD OF EDUCATION 

and 

CITIZENS’ BOND 
OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

 
MEETING PACKET FOR: MARCH 27, 2019 

 
1400 Marina Way South  Richmond, ca  94804 



	
NORMS OF BEHAVIOR 

Every team has two components that team members must keep in mind if 
the team is going to succeed.  
● The team must pay attention to the Committee’s purpose. 
● The team must also carefully shape and monitor the team process it 

uses to accomplish its purpose. 
Team process includes: 
● How team members interact with and communicate with each other 
● How team members will be responsible and accountable for 

accomplishing the CBOC’s purpose 
 

These team norms or ground rules are established with all members of the 
team participating equally: 
● Recognize cross-disciplinary interaction requires patience and 

openness to diverse perspectives 
● All views are important 
● Participation needs to be equitable and balanced 
● Expect, respect, and accept disagreements 
● Reducing defensiveness is the responsibility of all 
● Be tough on issues not on each other 
● Place cell phones on silent 
● Read agenda packet before the meeting 

 

CBOC Chair Don Gosney can be reached at: 
Home Office: (510) 233-2060  Mobile: (510) 685-2403 

email dongosney@comcast.net 
CBOC members are requested to call or email if they are unable to 

attend a CBOC meeting 



WCCUSD 
CITIZEN’S BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

B A S I C  P A R L I A M E N T A R Y  P R O C E D U R E S  
 

THE CBOC CONDUCTS THEIR AFFAIRS USING 
ROBERTS RULES OF ORDER 

 
All discussions and actions go through the Chair. 

 
All actions require a MOTION and a SECOND before proceeding. 
 
Ø Once a MOTION has been seconded, it then belongs to the body.   
Ø There is no such thing as a friendly (or unfriendly) amendment.  

Amendments are made and seconded, discussed and then the amendment is 
voted on for acceptance or rejection. 

Ø If an amendment is passed, then the AMENDED MOTION is voted on. 
 
Motions and amendments need to be clear and concise in what is being 
discussed and voted on.  The CBOC does not vote on general ideas—they vote 
on specific language.  Words matter. 
 
A MOTION TO END DEBATE must be seconded and requires a 2/3 
majority for passage. 
 
Ø A MOTION TO TABLE is used to postpone the vote on an issue until a 

later date.  
Ø A MOTION TO TABLE cannot be used as a means to kill a motion—

only postpone it. 
Ø When a MOTION TO TABLE is made, it must also be stated when the 

item is to be removed from the table for a vote. 
 
Motions require a simple majority (50%+1 of those voting) for passage. 
An ABSTENTION does not count as a ‘YES’ or a ‘NO’ vote.  An 
ABSTENTION is used to validate that a quorum exists. 
 
A quorum (50%+1 of the total number of CBOC members) must be present to 
vote on any issue. 
 
A MOTION TO ADJOURN is always in order. 



CBOC TABLET INSTRUCTIONS 
(Tablet Has Touchscreen Function) 

 

 
CBOC TABLET CANNOT BE REMOVED FROM THE 

PREMISES 

In an effort to reduce costs, as an alternative to a printed agenda 
packet, pre-loaded tablets are provided to the CBOC members and 

the public.  A limited number of printed packets are still made 
available for both the CBOC and the public.  

 
 

 Login: CBOC Password: cboc 
 

 

 
L O G I N  

 

1. Power button is on the left side at the top. Press it for a few seconds 
and it should blink white . (Tapping on this button can also be used to 
revive the computer if sleeping.) 

2. Press Ctrl-Alt-Delete 
3. The CBOC user account should appear . Type cboc (all lower case) for 

the password and press ENTER. 
4. Click the CBOC link on the desktop. This will open up the Google 

Drive folder. 
5. Click anywhere in the icon and it will open the pdf within Chrome. 

a. single click (tap) on LINK to open back up documentation in a new 
tab 

 
D O C U M E N T  N A V I G A T I O N  

 

Double Click/Tap—GOOGLE DRIVE LINK 
Single Click/Tap on GOOGLE DOCUMENT—CBOC Packet Agenda 
Single Click/Tap on LINK within the CBOC Packet Agenda—to OPEN 

DOCUMENT in NEW TAB 
Return to GOOGLE DRIVE TAB for Agenda Packet 

Right/Left Arrow—TO ACCESS ADDITIONAL DOCS (Not included 
in Agenda Packet) 

 
 

 



CBOC TABLET INSTRUCTIONS 
(Tablet Has Touchscreen Function) 

 

 
CBOC TABLET CANNOT BE REMOVED FROM THE 

PREMISES 

F A Q S  
 

WIFI TROUBLESHOOTING 
If the wifi is a problem (there's a wifi icon in the lower right on the login 

screen, also after you log in), you can click or tap this icon and select 
WCCUSDADMIN and press the Connect button 

(the password is saved so it shouldn't ask you.) If that doesn't work, try 
WCCUSDBYOD. 

 
ALTERNATIVE CBOC PACKET IN PDF WITHOUT LINKS 

Click the CBOC pdf. The down arrow in the icon will download the pdf. 
The download will appear on desktop. 

Open the pdf (there is no link ability within the download file) 
 

MAKE THE PDF LARGER 
There's a magnifying glass icon in the pdf controls at the bottom, this will 

enlarge the pdf to fit the screen. 



 
 

F a c i l i t i e s  O p e r a t i o n s  C e n t e r  
1 4 0 0  M a r i n a  W a y  S o u t h  

R i c h m o n d  C A  9 4 8 0 4 - 3 7 4 7  

A G E N D A  
Wednesday March 27, 2019 at 6:15 PM 

 

Note: Links in this document are PDFs on Google Drive. Clicking on the 
links should open the PDFs in a web browser on your computer.  The full 
agenda packet may be viewed on the CBOC website or by clicking this link: 
 

03.27.19 CBOC Agenda Packet 
 

A L L  I T E M S  A R E  
D I S C U S S I O N  O N L Y  

 

A .  O P E N I N G  P R O C E D U R E S  
A.1 CALL TO ORDER & OPENING REMARKS 
 

A.2 PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

A.3 ROLL CALL 
WCCUSD BOE: Tom Panas, Valerie Cuevas, Consuelo Lara, Mister 
Phillips & Stephanie Hernandez-Jarvis 
[5 members ~ 3 required for a quorum] 
 

CBOC: Sallie DeWitt, Kathy Fleming, Don Gosney, Vanessa Hill, 
Lorraine Humes, Anton Jungherr, Cameron Moore, Robson Swift & 
Gregg Visineau   
[9 members ~ 5 required for a quorum] 

 

A.4 AGENDA REVIEW AND ADOPTION 
 

A.5 PUBLIC COMMENTS FOR ITEMS NOT ON THE AGENDA 
Items already on the agenda may not be spoken on in this section.  
Speakers must fill out a Speaker Form with the appropriate agenda 

item listed.  Speakers will be allowed three minutes. 
 

1 of 175 1 of 175

https://drive.google.com/open?id=1b1wnrteNcgbqw1Uvw8mppyU_zpLDEzJ2


WCCUSD 
CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

 

2 

B .  D I S C U S S I O N  I T E M S  
D I S T R I C T  R E P O R T S  

 

B.1 PRESENTATION OF THE BOND FINANCIAL AUDIT 
 2010 Measure D, 2012 Measure E as of June 30, 2018 
 Dr. John al-Amin, Associate Superintendent Business Services 
 

Comments:  Representatives from Christy White Associates (CWA) 
will present their independent audit report of the West Contra Costa 
Unified School District’s 2010 Measure D and 2012 Measure E 
General Obligation Bonds Financial Audit for the fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2018. 
 

The 2010 Measure D and 2012 Measure E General Obligation Bonds 
Financial Audit June 31, 2018 is posted on the district website. 

 Bond Financial Audit 06.30.18 
 Page 4 of 175 

 
B.2 PRESENTATION OF THE BOND PERFORMANCE 

AUDIT 
 2010 Measure D, 2012 Measure E as of June 30 2018 
 Lisa LeBlanc, Associate Superintendent Facilities, M&O, Bond 
 

Comments:  The District’s Performance Audit firm, Moss-Adams 
LLP, will present the independent Bond (2010 Measure D and 2012 
Measure E) Performance Audit for the year ended June 30, 2018. 

 2018 Performance Audit 
 Page 28 of 175 

 
B.3 REVIEW OF FORENSIC ACCOUNTING REPORT 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 Lisa LeBlanc, Associate Superintendent Facilities, M&O, Bond 

Comments:  Moss Adams LLP will present the Forensic Accounting 
Investigation Implementation Review. 

 WCCUSD FAI Implementation Review 
 Page 82 of 175 

2 of 175 2 of 175

https://drive.google.com/open?id=1cRIKLQ9_tKcqGQKl6o4povfRtGZnv-wW
https://drive.google.com/open?id=18JlXmFsh7uk9y9qw5tgBCv-sspVJ0n8F
https://drive.google.com/open?id=1nw4hxg76nRcPmEmYiPFIl0K_ZeCJ5hfw


WCCUSD 
CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 

 

3 

B .  D I S C U S S I O N  I T E M S  
C B O C  R E P O R T S  

B.4 PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO BOARD POLICY 7214.2 
 CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE (CBOC) 
 Lisa LeBlanc, Associate Superintendent Facilities, M&O, Bond 
 Cameron Moore, CBOC 
 

Comments:  The Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee will present 
their recommendations related to Board Policy 7214.2 

 CBOC Proposed Revised Board Policy 
 Page 125 of 175 
 Explanation of Proposed Amendment 
 Page 138 of 175 

 
B.5 FACILITIES MASTER PLAN DISCUSSION 
 Lisa LeBlanc, Associate Superintendent Facilities, M&O, Bond 
 Gregg Visineau, CBOC 
 

Comments:  The Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee will present 
information relating to Facilities Master Plan escalation costs. 

 FMP Escalation of Costs 
 Page 164 of 175 
 FMP Escalation of Costs with notes 
 Page 169 of 175 

C L O S I N G  
C. COMMENTS FROM BOARD PRESIDENT TOM PANAS 

AND CBOC CHAIRPERSON DON GOSNEY 
 

D. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Disability Information 
Upon written request to the District, disability related modifications or 

accommodations—including auxiliary aids or services—will be provided. 
Please contact the Superintendent’s Office at (510) 231-1101 at least 48 

hours in advance of the meeting. 

3 of 175 3 of 175

https://drive.google.com/open?id=1uv29glFhOCyZo1DtSR_PF5o06Tl9g5cZ
https://drive.google.com/open?id=1JNMtxFX6yXCyY2bvCVYBVnOjF_eYJL2V
https://drive.google.com/open?id=1PLrngT7eqDrcTvjjeICNQCAfYfOxJOaz
https://drive.google.com/open?id=17aA-fX03zNe91rW4giS3JIWwtLI5t1xB


San Diego 

Los Angeles 

San Francisco 
Bay Area 

2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E 

BOND BUILDING FUND 

WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL 

DISTRICT 

FINANCIAL AUDIT REPORT 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 

JUNE 30, 2018 

4 of 175 4 of 175



20-IO MEASURE D AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND

WEST CONTRA COST A UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT

TABLE OF CONTENTS

JUNE 30, 2018

l11trnductior1 and Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee Member Listing ................................................. ] 

Independent Auditors' Report ........................................................................................................................ 3 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

B,1J,1nn' Slll'el ..................................................................................................................................................... 5 

Statenwnt of l\cvenues, Fxpenditures and Changes in Fund Balance ....................................................... 6 

Notes lo Financial St,1lernenls ......................................................................................................................... 7 

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION SECTION 

Reconciliation of Annu,11 Financial and Budget Report with Audited Financial Statements ................ 14 

OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

Independent Auditors' Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance 
,md Other ]\ilatters Basctl on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with 

c;m•cn111u·11t 1\l{diti11g Sra11dards ................................................................................................................ 15 

AUDIT FINDINGS AND MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSES SECTION 

Schedule of Audit Findings and Management's Responses ...................................................................... 17 

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings ................................................................................................ 18 

5 of 175 5 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 
WEST CONTRA COST A UNlFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

INTRODUCTION AND CITIZENS' BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEMBER LISTING 

JUNE 30, 2018 

The \V,,st Contr,1 Cnst,1 Unified School District was established as the Richmond Unified School District on July J, 
l<l(,r, ,ind with the pnss,1gc of i\B S35 (Bates), was renamed the West Contra Costa Unified School District on March 
17, I 'J'n. Till' I )istrict is comprised of ,rn area of ,1pprnximi1tely I 12 square miles located in Contra Costil County. 
ThcrL' were no ch,rngcs in the b,nmd,1ries of the District during the current vear. The District is operilting one 
"l'<:ci,1I cduL\lliun pre-school, thirty-twu elementarv schools, five J...i11derg,1rten through eighth, six middle schools, 
(lilt' rniddle-colkgc high school <1nd six high schools. The [)istrict also 111i1intains two alternative high schools, an 
elL'llH'nl.1n· u1m111u11ity d,1v school ,ind ,1 school for continuing i1dult education. 

TIH: gl'ncr,1I oblig,1tio11 bond;, ,1ssuciated with Mec1;,url' D werL' issUL'd pursu,mt tci thl' Constitution ,rnd bws of thl' 
c.;t,1ll' <1f Calilon11.i (the Stale), including the provisions of Chapters I and 1.5 of Part 10 Education Code Sectionc: 
1 ·,2c., I - 1 ·128/i of the C,ilifornia Fduc<1tion Code, ,1nd other ,1pplic,1blc provisions of law. The bonds are authorized to 
lit• is·,ued liy .i n•soluli(lll adopted by the lhh1rd of Educc1tion of the District on Mardi 3, 20Hl. 

Tlw District n•,,cin·d <1uthuriLatio11 lrom an election held on June 8, 2010, lo issue bonds of the District in an 
.iggn'gc1k principal ,rnwunt not lo exceed $38ll,OOO,OOO to fina11l'e specitic construction and renovation projects 
c1111inwed bv l'ligiblt' voters within the District The proposition required ,1pprov,1I by at leilst 55 percent of the votes 
LdSt bv ,,Jigible voters 1vitl1i11 thl' Dislricl (the 20llJ Authoriz,1lion). The bonds represent Series A through E 
bsuc111c1'c' pf thc autlll\rized bonds issued undl'r the 2010 Authorization, totaling $315,000,000 as of Junl' 30, 2018. 

Tlw gc1wrc1I ohlig.ition bonds associated with Me,isure h were issm·d pursuant to the Constitution and laws of the 
St..1!t' ol C.1l ilorni.1 (llw Stale), including the provisions of Chapters land 1.5 of Part 10 of the California Education 
Code, and ritlwr .111plic,1h1L, provisions of law. Thl' bonds are authorized to be issued by a resolution adopted by 
Board of Education ,,f tlw District on August I, 2012. 

Tlw District n•1'l'ivcd authorization from an election held on November G, 2012, to issue bonds of the District in an 
,l)�)',H');,lle prin,·ip,11 ,1111ount not lo exceed $360,000,000 to finance specific construction and renovation projects 
,ippro\'t'd hy l'iigihlc \·otcr', within the District. The proposition required approval by ilt least 55 percent of the votes 
,,1st hv eligible votl'l's within the District (the 2012 Authorization). The bonds represent Series A through D 
is•,11,llln", or the ,111tlrnriz,·d bonds issued under the 20l 2 i\uthoriz,1tion, totaling $29:'>,000,000 ilS of Jrnw ,10, 2018. 

Upon p.iss.i,1;l' of l'n•t•ositiun :N, ,111 accompanying piece of legislation, AB 1908 (Chapter 44, Statutes oi 2000), wc1s 
,1lsP cn<1dnL 1vhid1 c.1nw11dnl the EdtH:,lti\ln Code to establish additional procedures which must be followt:'d if a 
I )istrict <;('t·ks .1pprn\',1I nf ,1 bond nw.isurc purs11,rnt to the ',','3/., m,1jnrity authorized in Measurf' I) and 1,: including 
formation, co1111x•sition and purpose of thL' Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee, and ,1uthorization for injunctive 

r,·1 id ,1g,1i11st thL.' i rnpruper L'x1x·nditure of bund revenues. 

6 of 175 6 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 

WEST CONTRA COST A UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

INTRODUCTION AND CITIZENS' BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE MEMBER LISTING, 

CONTINUED 

.JUNE 30, 2018 

l\-h-mlwr 

v,,l,1rit' Cttl'\'.lS 

Mhler Phillips 

M,1d,,li1w Krnm't1bl'rg 

Tom Panas 

Elil'.abt'lh Bl<.•ck 

N&ne 

Sallie DeWitt 

K.1tll\ Fleming (Viel' Ch,1irperson) 

llt'nisl' Ci,mni 

P(•n c;us1wv (l 'h,tirpnson) 

/\una K, Harris 

Leis,, Johnson 

;\nton Ju11gltcrr 

C,rnwron Mo,.,rc (St'lTl'lary) 

Robson Swift 

( ;rl'g� VisinCtlll 

Vac,rnt 

V,K,1111 

Vac,mt 

V,K,1111 

Vacanl 

Vac,1111 

V,1Canl 

Governing Board 

Oifk..-

Prl'sident 

Clerk 

Mt'mlwr 

Member 

Member 

Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee 

ReprL'sL·ntation 

Active in a Business Organization 

El CL•rrilo Rc,,idc•nl 

Active in a Bona fide Taxp,1yers' Organization 

Richmond Rc-.idenl 

S,rn Pablo Resident 

Richmond Rc-.ident 

Hercules Resident 

l'arent or Guardian & !'TA Jvkmber 

WCCLJ5D Student 

Actin' in a Senior Citiz!c'n5' Organization 

l'i1rent or Guardian 

WCCL
J

SD �:mplt•ycc Union 

Building Tr,,des Council 

l'inole Resident 

Richmond RL"-.idt•nt 

Cnincorpor;:itcd 1\n•a 

Cni11nl1'por.:il1•d 1\ n·a 

2 

Term E,pires 

Dl'ccmber 20 I 8 

December 2020 

D,,cember 2018 

Decemlwr 2020 

December 2018 

Education Code Section 

15282(a)(l) 

N/A 

15282(<1)(3) 

NIA 

NIA 

NJ/\ 

NIA 

15282(a)(S) 

NIA 

15282(a)(2) 

15282(a)(4) 

N/A 

NIA 

NIA 

N//\ 

N/A 

NIA 

7 of 175 7 of 175



Christy White, CPA 

Michael D. Ash, CPA 

John Whitehouse, CPA 

Heather Daud Rubio 

SAN DIEGO 

LOS ANGELES 

SAN FRANCISCO/BAY AREA 

Corporate Office: 
348 Olive Street 

San Diego, CA 92103 

toll-free: 877.220.7229 
tel: 619.270.8222 
fax: 619.260.9085 

www.christywhite.com 

l.ice11se'1 by th, Califaniia 

State Board of Acco,mtnncy 

christyGwhite. ��� 
A PROFESSIONAL �4"' ACCOUNTANCY CORPORATION � 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

Governing Board Members of 

West Contra Costa Unified School District and the 
Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee 

Riclunond, California 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the 2010 Measure D and 2012 
Measure E Bond Building Fund of West Contra Costa Unified School District (the "District") 

as of and for the year ended J1me 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, 

which collectively comprise the 2010 Measure D and 2012 Measure E Bond Building FLmd's 

basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management's H.esponsi/Jility for tlie ri11a11cial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 

statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maiJ1tenance of internaJ control 

relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Respo,isi/Jility 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditrng standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 

Govemment A11riiti11g Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

about whether the financial statements are free from material. misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amow1ts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 

judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

3 

8 of 175 8 of 175



\V,, hclil'\'t' that the ,1udit l'Vidence 1ve h,,ve obt,1ined is sufficient and ,,ppropriMP to provide a b,1c;is for our audit 

(\pinions. 

;\s disn1ss\'d in Nole U\, lhc tinc1ncial stakml'nts prl'svnt only thl' individual Proposition 39 Bond Building fund, 
,·,,nsbting nl lhe twl construction proceeds of the IV!easure D and E general obligation bonds as issued by the 
District, through tlw ( ·ountv llt Contra Costa, and are not intt'nded tn present fairly tlw financial position of the 

J)islrid in confonnH1· with generallv an·epted ,iccounting principles.

011i11io11 

111 our opi11io11, llw li11,111Cic1I st,1te111ents referred to above present fairly, in illl material respects, the respective 
fina11ci,1I position of the 2lll0 l'vle,1sure D and 2012 i'vleasure E Bond Building Fund of \,Vest Contra Costa Unified 
Schnol District ,,., of June ,10. 2018, ,rnd the rl'spectivc ch,111gcs in fin,rncial position for the year then ended in 

c1ccord,11H:c with clL'CllUnling principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Ui/1n /Hailers 

.C:,11pplc111m/111y /11/iu11111/w11 

( )ur ,1udit 1\·,1s ,·onductcd for tlw purpose of forming opinions on the fin,,nci,11 statements that collectively comprise 

the 21110 !Vkw:.rn'<.' ]) ,111d ::'012 ML'JSt1n' E Bond Building Fund's b,,sic financi,11 statements. The supplementary 

i11furm,1tio11 listed in thl' t,1blc Df contents is presl'nted for purposes of additiondl analysis ,111d is not a required p,1rt 

of the b,1sic linanciol sloternents. 

1 lw stq1plcment,1rv intormatir,n listed in tlw t;ibk of contents is the responsibility of management ,md w;is derived 

fn,m ,ind rel,1tcs dircctlv to the undcrlving accounting ,md other records used to prepare the basic financial 
st<itt-mcnts. Such 111i<>rm,1tion h,b been subjected to the m1diting procedures applied in the audit of the basic 
fin,111cial ;,l,1tPmPnts ,md certain additinnal procedures, including compdring ,ind reconciling such information 

directly to tlw umlcrlving accounting and other records US('d to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
lic1sic li11,111L·ial slalc11wnls llwmsdves, and other additional procedures in accordance w.ith auditing standards 
gl'lll'r,dlv ,HT\'f'lt'd i11 lhe Unilt'd Stc1les ot /\mericc1. In our opinion, the supplementarv information is fairly st,1tcd, 
in ,111 n1,1teri,1I respects, in relation to the basic fin,rncial stdtl'tnt'nts as D \Vhole. 

()titer Ifr11orti11g R.1•1111ircd l1y Gm>em11u'11l A11dili11g Stantlards 

In ,ic(urd,rncc with C(li't'rn111c11/ /\11dili11s St1111d11rd�, w�· h,1ve ,1lso issued our report t.foted March 11, 2019 on our 
c<>11siderc1lion of tl1L' Measure D ,rnd E Bond Building Fund's inlern,11 control over finJnci,11 reporting and on our 
tests ut it<; compli;mcc with Cl'rtain provisions of laws, regulations, cnntr.icts, ,ind grant ,1greements and other 

rn,1tters, The purpose of that report is solclv to de,;cribc thL' scope of our testing of internal control over financial 
rq>orting ,rnd cumpli,rnce ,ind the results of th,1t testing, ,1nd not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
l\k,1surc I) ,md E Bond lluilding Fund's internal control over fin,rncial rpporting or on compliance. Th<1t report is 

,111 inll'gral p,1rt ,>f ,1n ,1udit performed in ,,ccordance with Govcm111c11/ Auditing Sl1111d11rds in considering the 
l\'1e,1st1rL' I) ,rnd 1: llnnd lluilding Fund's inlPrnal control over financial reporting and compli,111cP. 

S,111 Diego, California 
March 11, 20]9 

9 of 175 9 of 175



FINANCIAL SECTION 

10 of 175 10 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2ffl2 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 

WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BALANCE SHEET 

JUNE 30, 2018 

ASSLTS 

C.ish ,md invcstnwnts

;\cn,unts f'L'Cl'ivablc

T,,t;il a�,d� 

LIABILITIES ANO FUNIJ BALANCE 

I.IABILITmS

i\ccnu·d li,1bi Ii ti<·s 

Tnt;1I li.ibiliticc, 

1-'UND BALANCE 

l{cslriclt'd tor Nlcasun• I) & F cc1pit<1I projects 

T(>t;il li,1bilitics ,rnd fund balance 

Measure D 

$ 94,362,b0S 

I 19,832 

$ 94,482,HO 

$ 2,(>47,7'ih 

2,h,17,7.'ih 

l) I ,8:l4,hfl4
tl' cp 94,482,140

Thl' ,1<Yn111pi111Yi11g rn,te, In fin,111ci,1] st.1ll'nwnt,, are an integral part of thi., statement. 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Measure E Total 

54,304,277 $ 148,666,885 
71,292 191,124 

54,375,569 $ 148,858,009 

10,7S6,217 $ l.l,401,9Tl

10,756,217 13,403,9n

4:l,619,:l'i2 135,454,0'.',6 

54,375,569 $ 148,8.58,009 

11 of 175 11 of 175



20Hl MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 

WEST CONTRA COST A UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Measure D Measure E 

REVENUES 

L\•r.il n•vc·11L1l' s 676,241 '¼ 355,098 :f, 

f'tll. Ji rL'\'t'l ll ll'S 676,241 35'\098 

LXl'l:Nl)JTURES 

L1ciliti,•s ,1equisiti,,n ,md construction I .l,787,24'i 4\6,%,372 

!)1.<bt •;ervicc - issu,111n· costs 232,775 252,775 

T,1t.1l ,.<,;pt•11tlitun", 14,040,020 4S,939, 147 

F,ces.s tddint'IH v) "f n·,.,.nu,'s 

n1·,•r (1111.lcr) v,pvnditurt·s (1 J,3(,3,779) (4'.1,584,049) 

OTI IER FINANCINC SOURCES 

Prrnn•ds I rom l,.,n); t,•rn1 dPbt 65,000,000 r,o, non, ooo 

T,,t,1I otlwr fi11,11King sourct's 65,000,000 60,000,000 

NIT CIIANGI; IN HJND BALANU: 51,6:\6,221 14Al5,9'il 

l"und fl.il,1nn•, lulv 1,2017 40, I <J8,4bl 29,21n,401 

Fund ll.tl,11Ke, jum· l(), 2018 s 91,834,684 $ 43,619,352 s 

Ti 1t • ,ll'<'"'11p,111yi11g 1101,•s tn fi11,111,·i;1I ,t;1tc11wnls are an integr.il part nt this staknwnt. 

Tot,11 

1,031,339 

1,031,3:N 

'i9,47.l,6 I 7 

505,5:'iO 

S9,979,167 

('i8,947,828) 

125,000,000 

125,000,00() 

66,0.52, 172 

(,9,401,864 

135,454,036 

12 of 175 12 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 
\VEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2018 

NOTf l - SICNIPICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

1\. Reporting Entity 

The fi11<111cic1I stc1leme11h include the c1ctivity ,111d b,il,rnces of th(;· 2010 Mtw,urc D ,md 2012 Me,1sLire E Gener,11 
( Jblig,,tion Bonds, onlv. Tht' acliYitics of tlw 20HJ Measure D a11d 2012 l'v1easure E General Obligation Bonds are 
recorded ,,long with otlwr ,iclivitics in tlw District's Building Pund. These fir1c1ncic1I statements ,ire not intended 
lo 11n•sc11t llw li11<111ci,1I 11(1silio11 ,md results of operations of West Contra Cosl,1 Unified School District as ,1 
wliuk. Tlwrl' c1n• 110 rdc1tcd p<1rlics or compo1wnt units indudt�d in this tinancial statement presentation. 

In ,1Ccordc11icc with l'roposilion 3'), lhe Citizens' Bond Oversight Comrnillcc (CBOC), ,vas established pursu,rnt 
tu tl1e requirl'lllPllh ,,t ,;l,1lt' l,1w ,111d the proviskms of the 2()10 l'vkasure D ,md 2012 Measure F Cener,11 
( Jblig<1lio11 Bunds. Tia• CBOC is required by stale l,nv lo ,1clively review and report on the proper expenditure 
of l,1,p,nTrs' nwncv for school construction. Thl' CBO(' provides oversight and c1dvises the public whether the 
I )isl rid is spt>nding tlw lfond funds tor school capital improvements within the scope of projects outlined in the 
Bond prnjed ]bl. In fulfilling its dulies, the CBOC reviews, among other things, the District's annual 
pt•rf\1rn1c1nll' <111d ti11,lllcic1I .iudils of the Me,1sure D & E aclivily. 

B. ;\q:_gt111tingJ'olicies

The I )istrict ,Kcounts tor its fin,mcial tr,msactions in Jccord,mcc with the policies and procedures of the 
C,1liforni<1 Depcirtrnent of Fduec1tio11's Califim1ia Sd,oul 1kco1111tiJ1g Mr1111wl. The accounting policies of the 
District conform lo gener,1llv ,1ccepted ,1ecounting principll's as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting 
'-it,111d.irds llt.1c1rd ((;1\'-ill) ,11ld tht• 1\merica11 Institute ol Certified Public Account,rnts (AICl'1\). 

Tlw inform,llinn prl'.,;l'nled is lor the Me,isure D & E bond fund b reported on a modified acnual basis ,md 
d\1ec; 11\1! include C,1pit,1l Assets ,11ld Long-Term Debt. Capital .l\ssets and Long-Term Debt i1l'e reptirted in the 
Covern11w11l \ViLlc ii11,1nci,1I st,1t�•nk•nts in the District Audit Reptirt. 

C. Encumbr,1nccs

l'nc11n1h1·,rn,-(' ,1ccrnrnting is u.scd in all budgeted funds tn rPserve portions nf applicable appropriations for 
i\·hid1 l·ommilnwnls h,1ve been m,1de. Encumbrances are recorded for purchase orders, contracts, and other 
commilnlL'nls wlwn Lhev drt' wrillen. Encumbr,mccs are liquidalL'd 1Nhen the commilrnenls Me paid. 

D. \:as_h am! Investm1?11t5 

In dccord,mce wilh Fduc:ilion Code Sections l'i3.'i7 ,md 41001, the District mainl,1ins a portion of its cash in the 
Co11trc1 Co;.ld County Tre<1surv. Tht· n,untv ponls these funds with those of other districts in the county <1ml 
i1nTsts the c.:,sh. ThL'sc pc1oll'd funds m-c carriL·d at cost, which approximates market value. Interest earnL·d is
,kpositcd qu,1rtcrlv into participating funds. Any invPstnwnt lossPs are prnportion;:itely shared by all funds in
the pool.

7 

13 of 175 13 of 175



20HJ MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
NOTES TO HNANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
JUNE 30, 2018 

NOTT: I - SICNIHCANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

E. Use of Estimates 

The 11rq1aralio11 of financial st,1tenwnls in conformity with gl'nerallv accepted accounting principles requires 
111,magcmcnt to make estimates ,md assumptions that affect the reported amounts of Jssds and liabilities and 
di,,cl1)c,un· of ,-ontingcnt ,i:;sets ,md liabilities ,it the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of 
rcvc·nucs and expenditure:-. during the rq,1orting period. Actui11 results could differ from those estimates. 

F. Budgets and Budgetary Accounting 

;\111n1,il [,udgds c1rc .1doptcd on d bilsis consistent with genernlly ciccepled .Jccounting principles for ,ill 
gon·n11Hl'lll fund:--. By stale law, the [)islrkt's Coverning Board must adopt a budget no later than July J. A 
11ublic hl'dring must lie n>nducted lo receive comments prior lo <1doption. The District's Governing Board 
sc1tislicd tlws,• rl•quirl'nwnts. 

llwse budgl'ls are n'vised by lhe District's governing bodl'd during the yeM lo give consideration lo 
u11<1nlil'ipc1tL·d inn11m· ,md vxpenditures. Formal budgetary integration was employed as c1 management 
control dc\·k,' during the year for all budgeted funds. The District emplovs budget control by minor object and 
b\' individu-11 ,1ppropriation ,1Cdlt1nls. 1-'.:-qwndilures cannot IPgallv exceed appropriations by major object 
,Kl'<)U Jl t. 

< ; . Fun 51 _Ba h_1_11 ce_ 

Fund Bal.1nce is di,·idL'd into five classifications b,1sed prin1c1rily on the extent lo which the Dislricl is bound lo 
nb;,L'l'H' cu11slr<1inls imposed upon lhc use of Lhe resources in the govunnwnl,11 funds. The five classific,1lions 
,ire N,,,1,1,c11d11/,/l'. l<.c�t,·ictcd, Cu111mitfcd, .l\�,i:s 11cd and U11a,sig11cd. The category applicable to Proposition 39 
bonds i:-- th t• Fi.c.,frictcd clilssificalion. The restricted fund bulancc classification reflects ilmounts subject t<1 
exh'rn,1llv irn11nsc>d ,md lcg,illy enforceable con5tr,1ints. Such conslr,1i11ts rn,1y be imposed by creditors, gr,1ntors, 
contributors, or lc1ws or regulations of other govcrnrncnls, or m.ay be imposed by law through constitutional 
f'rovi:--ion;, or e11<1bling Jt,gislation. 

8 

14 of 175 14 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 

WEST CONTRA COST A UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUEU 

JUNE 30, 2018 

NOTE 2 - CASH ANO INVESTMENTS 

Summary of Cash and Investments 

C,1sh ,ind invec;tmL'nt-,; as of lunL' 10, 2018 ,1rc classified in the accompJnying fin,mciJl -,;tatements JS follows: 

Measure D Measure E Total 

C,1•;11 in c, nmrv rn',lStll'\' s 8J,:l0:l,:l64 s J9,c,S7,0J8 $ 122,960,402 
(\1sh with tis,\11 ,l):;l'lll 919,128 4,527,122 5,466,250 
l.<lCill cl):':L'IKV invcstnwnt fund 10,120,11 6  10,120,117 20,240,233 

Tnt,d $ 94,162,608 s 54,104,277 $ 148,666,885 

Policies and Practices 

Tlw l)istrid is c1uthorized under Calitorni,1 Cnvernnwnt Code to make direct investments in (()cal agencv bonds, 
n,1h':�, or w,1rranls within the State; U.S. Treasury instruments; registered state warrants or treasury notes; securities 
of !he U.'-i. ( ;,,,·ernmcnl, or ils ,1gencics; bankers acceptances; commercial paper; certificates of deposit placed with 
u>n1mt•rci,1I [,,inks c111d/or s<1vings and loan nimpanil's; rl'purchase or reverse repurchase agreements; 111ediun1 term
corpor,1te notes; sl1cires ol beneficial interPst issuPd by diversified management companies, certificates oi
pc1rticipc1tion, "bligc1lions with first priority security; and collateralizt'd mortgage obligations. Investments of debt
pn1\'C'eds held bv trustees ;ire govenwd bv the provi�ions of debt agreements rather than the generL,l provisions of
tlw C.1liforni,1 ( ;ovcrnment Code. Thesl' provisions allow for the acquisition of investment agreements with

111,Jturitil'S up to :'Ill H',ll'S.

C11•;/, in Co1111ty Tff11.,;un1 Tlw District is considered lo be an involuntary participant in an external investment pool 
,is tlw I>istricl is rl'quired to deposit ,1ll receipts and collections of monies with their Countv Treasurer (Education 
Code St •diPn 41001). The fair value of the District's investment in the pool is reported in the accounting financial 
-.;t.iknwnls ,it .rn1n11nh bc1scd upon the i)istrict's pro-rata share of the fair value provided by the County Treasurer 
inr th,, l'lltirc portfolio (in relJtion to the Jmortized cost of thJt portfolio). The babncc avJilJble for withdrawal is 
b,1�ed on the ,1cniu11ti11g record� m,1int,1i11L'd by thL' Countv T1·e,1surcr, which is recorded on the amortized cost 
h<l>�is. 

9 

15 of 175 15 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUN D 

WEST CONTRA COST A UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 

JUNE 30, 2018 

NOTF 2- CASH ANO INVESTM.ENTS (continued) 

l'olic:ies and Pl'actices, continue,! 

Cn,l, ,t•i//1 /'isrn/ /lgoll - The C,1:,;h with Fiscal Agent in the Building Fund represents contract retentions that c1re 
!'I.iced \\'ith ,in indepemlen\ third 1x1rtv. These amounts are carried in the contractor's name ,111d all investment risk 

re;;idl'" with tlw nmtr,ic\or. 

l,ouil A:.;mtlf !11,·c.••/111<'11/ F111u/ !LAir) - West Contra Costa Unified School District places certain funds with the St<1te 
()t C1litorni,1's I oc,11 Agency lnvestnwnt Fund (LAIF). The District is a voluntary participant in LAlF, which is 
rq�ubt,•d by C,difnrni,1 (;m•E'rnlllL'lll Code Section 16429 under the oversight of the Treasurer of the State of 
c·.ililornic1 ,111d tlw l'c,oled tvloney ltwestrnent Bo,1rd. The St,ite Treasurer's Office pools these funds with those of 
1,th,•r gov,Tt11m·11l,1l ,igc11L·ic� in lhc :-;talc ,rnd in,·esls the cash. The fair vc1lue of the District's inveslrnenl in the pool 
b n·pc.>rll'd in tlw c1nlllllpc111ving fin,111cial slatenwnt;; b,1sed upon the District's pro-r<1ta share of the fair value 
providl'd hv 1,/\ 11: tnr the entire I .Al I-' portfolio (in relation lo the amortized cost of that portfolio). The monies held 
in the puoll'd irn'<''-'lnwnts tunds are not subject to categorization by risk c,1tegory. The balance available for 
wilhdravv,d j5 bc1sed on the ;iccounting records mc1inl,1ined by LAIF, which are recorded on an amortized cost basis. 
h1mb ,Ir(' c1cn•ssibh• ,md tr,111sferabk lo thL' mastl'r c1ccounl within twenty-four hours' notice. Included in LAlF's 
invl'slr1wnt p\lrtloliP are coll,1ll'ralized mortgage obligations, mortgage-backed securities, other asset-backed 
',t•curi!il's, ,1nd flo,1ling rate securities issllt'd by federal agencies, government sponsored enterprises and 
c,, rpo 1·,1 t il ,11 "· 

LAIi' i� c1dr11i11isll'rt'd bv tlw State Trt•asurer. LAIF invl'stments <1re <1udited annually by the Pooll'd Monev 
lnvl'slnwnt llo,ird c111d the St,1te Cnntrnlln's Office. Copies of this audit m,1y be obtained from the State Treasurer's 
Oltice: 91;, C,ipitr,1 !Vlall; Sacramento, Californic1 95814. The Pooled Money lnveslment Board has established 
pnlkies, gu,ils, ,1ml objecti\'l'S lo m,1kc certain that their goal oi saidy, liquidity and yidd are not jeopardized. 

lO 

16 of 175 16 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONl'INUEO 

.JUNE 30, 2018 

NOTE 2 - CASII AND INVESTMENTS (continue<ll 

General Authorizations 

1:,ccpt for invc;-;t111e11ts by trustees of debt proceeds, the m1thority to invest District funds deposited vvith the 
u>untv trc.isury is ,.kkgc1ted to the County T1·c,1surcr rn1d T,,x Collector, The table below identifies examples of the
im·1•stnwnt tvp1:s permitted in the investment policy:

1\uthorized 
1 n n·st111,,11t_,�)__..'f_)(_' _____ _

l .oc.1I 1\g<'tK\' Bonds, Notes, \'\l,1rrants
l,q.;istered Stcite Bunds, Notes, W Mra11t:o 
U.S. Trt'.1surv Oblig,1lions 
U.'.-i. ;\gcncv Securities 
H,mker's ;\ccl'�)tance 
( 'nmlll('IYial l\1pl'!' 
Nq�11ti,1hlc ( ·,,rti tic,1h's of I )ep<lsi t 
l,t'J-'ll rch,1st' 1\gr!'cnwnts 
l,1'\'t'rs,' Rq1urchasv Agn•,•nwnts 
!vied iurn ·1 L'rm Corporate Notes 
l\lulu<1I 1:u11ds 
Mon1'v !vlarkl'l IV!L1\u,1l Funds 
l\lortg,1gc l\1ss-Through Securities 
Cuu11ty l'll<lied l11\Tst111c11t Funds 
I (1c.1l 1\gcncv lnn'stnwnt Fund (LAIF) 
luint Powcr� 1\uth<1ritv Pools 

In (crest Ra tc Risk 

Maximum 
l{emaining 

r-..foturitv 
� vcars 
.5 ye,1rs 
5 ye<1rs 
5 years 
180 d.1ys 
270 days 
,r; ye<1rs 
I year 

92 days 
5 yeZJrs 

NIA 
NIA 

5 yet1rs 
Nii\ 

NIA 

NIA 

Maximum 
l'ercentage 
of l'ortfolio 

None 
None 
None 
None 
·lO'X,

10°(, 
None 

20'¼, of base 
10•:;, 
20•;<) 
20'X, 
20·:-;, 

None 
None 
None 

!Vla,imum 
Investment 

in One Issuer 
None 
None 
None 
None 
:10% 
10% 

None 
None 
None 
No1w 
1 O'\, 
lQ'-;,,;-) 

None 
None 
None 
None 

fntl'n'st r,1h' risk is tlw risk th,1t changes in market interest rntes will adversely ;iffect the fair value' of an investment. 
Cern'r,1llv, lhl' l<mgPr !ht> maluritv oi ,m investment, the greater the sensitivity ot its fair value to changes in market 
inl,'rt'sl ral<',,. Tlw District n1,m,1ges its exposure to interest rate risk bv investing in the Countv Treasury. The 
District 111c1int,1ins ,m investment with the Contra Costa County Investment Pool with a fair value of approximately 
'.� I 22,82'),:',S(, and ,m ,rn1ortizcd book value of $122,960,402. The \Vcighted average maturity for this pool as of June 
,o, 201 S w,1s I 67 d,iv s. hwestnwnts consist of ;1mnunts on deposit with tlw I .ocal Agency lnvPstnwnt Fund (l .A IF) 
with an amortized book v,1lt1l' of $20,240,233, and ,111 cquiv,1lcnt foir market vwlue. 

LI 

17 of 175 17 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 

WEST CONTRA COST A UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 

JUNE 30, 2018 

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS (continued) 

Credit Risk 

Creel it ri,,k is the risk th,1t an is�11cr of an investment will not fulfill its oblig,1tion to the holder of the investment. 
·1 his 1s nw,1s11rcd bv the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating organization. The 
C1111tr,.1 ( ·ust,1 County lm-,·stnwnt l'nol is rated AAAf/Sl by Standard and l'oor's, 

Concentration of Credit Risk 

1 lw inn•stnwnt pol in' nl the I )istrict contc1ins no limitations on the amount that can be invested in any otw issuer 
hl•vnml the .11npu11t •slipul.1ted by the Californi,1 Goverrnnent Code, District investments th,1t are greater than 5 
pl·r,·,·nl (lf tulc1I i11n•st111ents c1rl' in ,•itlwr dll cxlcmc1l investment pool or n1utu,1l funds and arc therefore cxcmpL 

I-.1irValue 

Ilic Di•,trkl l'cttcg;orizl's till' lair \',llue n1t•c1surL·mcnts ol its investments ba:,ed on the hierarchy established by 
generallv ,1eceplcd ,iccounting principles. The foir value hicr,1rchy is based on the valuation inputs used to 
rnc,isurc ,111 ,1ssd's f.1ir v,1luc, The following provides a summary of the hierarchy used to measure foir value: 

1.cvd (.)unlcd J'riccs (un,1djuslcd) in active m,nkcts for identical assets, 

I .eve! 2 - Ohspn•c1hlc inputs other than I ,evel I prices such as quoted prices for similar assl'ls in active markets, 
quoted prices for identic.il or c;imilar <1ssets in markets that ,ire nol active, or other inputs that ,ire observ,1ble, either 
dirvdlv ,,r indiredlv, 

Levd :l - Unob.c;ervahle in1,uts should be developed using the best information available under the circumstances, 
whid1 might include lhl' l)istrict's own dala, The District should adjust that data if reasonable available 
inlorm,1tion indic,1ks th,1t other m,irket p,1rtkipants would use different data or certain circumstances specific to 
tlw I )istril'f .in· nut ,ivailablc tu uthcr m,1rkL'l p,1rticipunls, 

LliK,1ll'gnrizl'd - lnn•slnwnts in the ( ·ontra Costa Counlv Treasury Investment Pool ,rnd I ,ocal Agency Investment 
Funds ,ire not nwasurL'd using the input levels above because the District's transactions are based on a stable net 
,1ss!'l \',t!Ul' per share, All contributions and redemptions an' lr,rnsacted at $LOO net asset value per share, 

Tlw l)istrict'� f.iir v,1hH' nw,1sun'mcnts ,it June 30, 2018 were ns follows: 

lnvcslrnent in county treasury 

I ,lKcll Agency Investment Fund (LAIF) 

Total fair market value of investments 

12 

Uncategorized 

$ 122,829,386 

20,240,233 

$ HJ,069,619 

18 of 175 18 of 175



2mo MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 
WEST CONTRA COST A UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, CONTINUED 
JUNE 30, 2018 

NOTE 3 - ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

;\ccrucd li,1bi Ii ta-·s ,it lrnw ,10, 20 I 8 consisted of the fol lowing: 

Measure D Measure E Total 
< '011slr11clio11 $ 2,647,7')(, $ 10,756,217 s I .1,40.1, 97,1 

Tol,11 s 2,647,756 $ I0,7S6,217 $ 13,403,973 

NOTE 4- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

As ut !um· ,m, 20 I 8, tlw District had commitml'nts with n·sped to unfinished capital projl•cts as follows: 

Measure D 
\IVibon Elementary School 
InfonT1<1tion Tcchm,logy 
N\'slrurn Elcmcntarv School 
K,,remabu Middle School 

Sublot,11 - M('asurl' D 
Measure E 

Pinole Valll'v High School 
Subt,>lal - i\k,1surl' E 

Total 

NOTE 5- RECONCILATION Of BUILDING FUND BALANCE 

Measure D & E 
Uescrip tion Bond Audit 

l\l'\'l'lllll'S $ J,011,139 $

l-:,1w11ditun·s 'i9,979,167 
( ltlwr 1:in,111cing Sourn•o; 12"i,()()[),(l(){) 
Net Ch,mgl' in Fund Bal.mce 66,052,172 
Begi1111i11g Fund Bal,111n· 6l/,4lll,86➔ 
F11cli11g l'nnd Bal,mlT $ 135,45,1,036 $

13 

$ 

Remaining 
Construction 

Commitments 

34,230,02() 
3,766,252 

339,265 
9,968 

38,345,505 

39,782,014 
39,782,014 
78,127,5]lJ 

Other Building 

funds 

57,041 
17,(,22,316 
I 6,88(,,04(, 

(679,229) 

3,161,614 
2,,182,385 

District Audit 
Building fund 

s l,()88,38() 

77,601,483 
l "11,886,046
65,372,9-13
72,56:\--178

s 137,936,421

19 of 175 19 of 175



SUPPLEMENT ARY INFORMATION 

SECTION 

20 of 175 20 of 175



2010 MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUN D 

WEST CONTRA COST A UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

RECONCILIATION OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL AND BUDGET REPORT WITH AUDITED 

FINANC[AL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

/here were 110 11dj11sl111C1rls 11eccss,iry lo rcco11cilc f1111d /1al1wccs for Measure D fr E of the ll111111al Fi11a11cial and 

H11dgl'I R.c11ort il'if/, tlw 111ulitctl ri11u11cia/ Statc111c11ls for tire ymr e1111l'd Ju11c 30, 2018. 

14 

21 of 175 21 of 175



OTHER INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' 

REPORT 

22 of 175 22 of 175



Christy White, CPA 

Michael D. Ash, CPA 

John Whitehouse, CPA 

Heather Daud Rubio 

.SAN DIEGO 

LOS ANGELES 

SAN FRANCISCO/BAY AREA 

Corporate Office: 
348 Olive Street 

San Diego, CA 92103 

toll-free: 877.220.7229 
tel: 619.270.8222 
fax: 619.260.9085 

www.christywhite.com 

l.icemed by tit,· California 

State Hoard of Acco1111tn11cy 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL 

REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN 
AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Governing Board Members of 

West Contra Costa Unified School District and the 

Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee 

Riclunond, California 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United Slates of America and the slandards applicable lo financial audits contained in 

Couemment Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the 

financial statements of the 2010 Measure D and 2012 Measure E Bond Building Fund, as of 

and for the year ended June 30, 20"18, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 

collectively comprise the 2010 Measure D and 2012 Measure E Bond Building Fund's basic 

financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated March 11, 2019. 

Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

Tn planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the 2010 
Measure D and 2012 Measure E Bond Building Fund's internal control over financial 

reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the 

circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but 

not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 2010 Measure D and 

20"12 Measure E Bond Building Fund's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the 2010 Measure D and 2012 Measure E Bond Building 

Fund's internal control. 

A deficiency i11 i11lcn111l co11/r(l/ exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 

management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 

prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A mnterinl weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a 

re.:isonable possibility that a material misslalement of the entity's financial statements will 

not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficieitcy is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a 

material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with 

governance. 

Our consideration of internal co1�trol was for the limited purpose described in the first 

paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control 
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during 

our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

15 

23 of 175 23 of 175



Compliance and Other Matters 

;\,-; f'clrl 111 (>htc1i11i11g n•,isunablc <1ssur<111cT <1bout whether 2010 .Measun· D and 2012 M.easurc E Bond Building
Fund':- tin,mcial slalcnwnts .in• frt>e trom material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance v,rith certain
pru\·isions nt l,1ws. regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct
,md 111,1tcriill d'fect on the ddermination of iinancial statement amounts. llrnvever, providing an opinion on
, PlllJ1li,11ice with 1.husc pruvisions \Vas not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such c1n
011i11ion. The n·sults of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or othtc'r matters that are re11uired to be
reported under c;,,,,,,,.11111rnl i\ 11difi11g Sta11dords.

Purpose of this Report 

Tlw purpo.•,t• llf t\fr; r!'pnrt is snlclv to descrilw the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the
r<'slllls ol that ll'sling, ,ind not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on
cPmpliann•. This rq1urt is ,m inll'gral p<1rl of an audit performed in accordance with Coucn1111c11/ lwdili11g S/1mdords
in cpnsitkring the entity's intt'rnal control .ind compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any
other p11rpos,'.

' /.' .- . ;/ . . lAll1---� 1 ·f 011Jf.�� 

S,111 I )i!'gn, C.1\ifomi,1
l\Lm·h I I. 20 I 'l

16 

24 of 175 24 of 175



AUDIT FINDINGS AND MANAGEMENT'S 

RESPONSE SECTION 

25 of 175 25 of 175



20HJ MEASURED AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 

WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

SCHEDULE OF AUDIT FINDINGS AND MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

Tlrere 71 1crc 111> fi11a11cial st11t1•111c11t fi11di11gs .fi.l l' the year ended f1111e JO, 2018. 

17 

26 of 175 26 of 175



2010 MEASURE D AND 2012 MEASURE E BOND BUILDING FUND 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

18 

 
 
There were no financial statement findings for the year ended June 30, 2017. 

27 of 175 27 of 175



DRAFT REPORT 

WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
PROPOSITION 39 BOND PERFORMANCE AUDIT REPORT FOR THE 

FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018 

March 21, 2019 

Moss Adams LLP 
101 Second Street, Suite 900 

San Francisco, CA 94105 
(415) 956-1500

28 of 175 28 of 175



March 21, 2019 

Board of Education 
Governing Board and Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee 
West Contra Costa Unified School District 
1400 Marina Way South 
Richmond, CA 94804 

Subject: Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 
2018 

Dear Board and Committee Members: 

This report presents the results of our performance audit of the West Contra Costa Unified 
School District’s (WCCUSD or the District) Measure D (2010) and Measure E (2012) 
Construction Bond Programs (Bond Program) as required by District objectives and California 
Proposition 39, the “Smaller Classes, Safer Schools and Financial Accountability Act” 
(Proposition 39), California Constitution (State Constitution) Article XIII A, and California 
Education Code (Education Code) Section 15272. These California State (State) requirements 
specify that the proceeds from the sale of school facilities bonds be expended only on the 
specific projects listed in the proposition authorizing the sale of bonds (Listed Projects).  

Both the State Constitution and Education Code require an annual independent performance 
audit to verify that Bond proceeds are used on Listed Projects. Finally, Senate Bill 1473, 
“School facilities bond proceeds: performance audits” (SB 1473), approved by the Governor 
on September 23, 2010, amended the Education Code to add Section 15286, which requires 
that the annual performance audit be conducted in accordance with the Generally Accepted 
Government Auditing Standards (GAGAS) issued by the Comptroller General of the United 
States. 

We conducted this Bond Program performance audit in accordance with GAGAS. These 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain sufficient, appropriate evidence 
to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based on our audit objectives. 
We believe the evidence obtained provides a reasonable basis for our findings and 
conclusions based on our audit objectives. The performance audit objectives, scope, 

29 of 175 29 of 175



methodology, conclusions, and a summary of the views of responsible District Officials are 
included in the report body. 

Based on the performance audit procedures performed and the results obtained, we have met 
our audit objective. We conclude that bond proceeds were only expended on the Listed 
Projects under Measure D (2010) and Measure E (2012) Bond language for the fiscal year 
(FY) ended June 30, 2018. For District labor charges to the Bond Program, we noted that the 
District was unable to demonstrate that these charges were accurately and completely 
identified as Bond Program costs with timekeeping records. Additionally, we noted 
improvement recommendations as reported below regarding the District and Professional 
Staffing Plan, Design and Construction Budget Management, Bidding and Procurement 
Procedures, Procurement Fraud Prevention and Detection Controls, Bond Program Master 
Planning and Reporting, Claim Avoidance and Control Procedures, Materials Specifications, 
Cost Benefit and Value Engineering Analyses, Maintenance of District Assets Funded by 
Local Bond and Warranty Conditions Compliance, Change Order Management and Controls 
Application, Contractor Billing Compliance, Project Close-out Controls, Post Financing 
Review, Timeliness of Payments, Local Participation Requirements,  and Transparency of 
Bond Program.   

Based on our assessment, we identified a number of good management practices as 
described below: 

• Though not formally adopted, a Bond Program policies and procedures manual is being
drafted, including a comprehensive scope of processes related to the bond program
including bidding and procurement, payment processing, project close-out, value
engineering, etc. The procedure drafts are being organized into an organized table of
contents and will be referenced to address recommendations received from prior program
reviews.

• The District maintained and updated a prequalification list for architectural firms during
Fiscal Year 2018 by issuing an RFQ for Architect of Record Services.

• A formal update to the Bond Program master plan was presented to the Board on May 30,
2018, including updates to key projects, cash flow expectations, and more.

• The District maintains Board-approved design standards, including educational
specifications, technology infrastructure standards, and material and product standards, to
be utilized District-wide.

• The Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee (CBOC) meets monthly, with minutes uploaded
to the District’s website, and stresses the importance of Brown Act compliance with
regards to regular CBOC and Audit Subcommittee meetings.

30 of 175 30 of 175



Additionally, we evaluated the effectiveness and efficiency of internal controls to provide an 
analysis of the School Construction Program so that those charged with District governance 
and oversight can use the information to improve Bond Program performance and operations. 
Through inquiry and review of documents, we confirmed 18 out of 21 of the prior year’s 
recommendations were not fully addressed in a documented action plan. Additionally, based 
on the FY 2017-18 audit, seven additional improvement opportunities were identified. 
Management responses from the District Facility Staff are reported in Reporting Views of 
Responsible Officials for each recommendation. The majority of the opportunities for 
improvement related to the District not having formalized and Board-approved policies and 
procedures. Based on inquiry with the District, policy and procedure development will be a 
major focus area in FY 2019-2020.  We identified the following internal control improvement 
opportunities related to compliance with Bond Program requirements, effectiveness, and 
efficiency of operations: 

• The District needs to provide adequate documentation to support staff charge allocation to
the Bond Program (see Conduct a Performance Audit).

• The District should have defined approval authority for vendor payment processing within
the Bond Program policy and procedure manual to ensure appropriate review and controls
(see Observation No. 14 in the report body).

• There were seven instances where payment processing took longer than 30 days and was
not supported by a payment application/invoice rejection letter justifying the delay (see
Observation No. 19 in the report body).

• WCCUSD should have well-defined reporting and procedures for in-house or consultant
staff for the Bond Program (see Observation No. 1 in the report body).

• Bidding and Procurement:
○ The District should have formal bid and procurement policies and procedures defining

roles and responsibilities (see Observation No. 4a in the report body).
○ The District needs to provide evidence of a fair, competitive solicitation process for

architectural and professional construction services for four vendors (see Observation
No. 4b in the report body).

31 of 175 31 of 175



○ The District needs to provide evidence of a competitive solicitation process for
construction services for two vendors requiring such per the District’s procedural
documents (see Observation No. 4c in the report body).

○ The District needs to evidence adequate Board approval for two vendor
contracts/purchase orders (see Observation No. 4d in the report body).

• Formal policies and procedures and monitoring controls to prevent and detect
procurement fraud should be available (see Observation No. 5 in the report body)

• WCCUSD policies and procedures should define master planning processes and
procedures (see Observation No. 6a in the report body).

• Program reporting should include adequate details to allow key stakeholders to analyze
the project forecast at the program and project level to actual committed contract values
and the associated timing of revenues, expenditures, cash flow, and fund balances as
recommended by the GFOA and the SDCTA (see Observation No. 6b in the report body).

• District policies and procedures should identify roles and responsibilities to be taken to
prevent or limit claim exposures (see Observation No. 8 in the report body).

• WCCUSD should have formal policies and procedures surrounding how to make updates
to the Material Specifications log (see Observation No. 9 in the report body).

• The District should have approved policies and procedures for conducting cost benefit
analyses and value engineering studies in FY 2017-18 (see Observation No. 10 in the
report body).

• The District needs to provide documentation to evidence assets funded by the Bond
Program were compliant with warranty condition requirements (see Observation No. 11 in
the report body).

• WCCUSD policy and procedures surrounding project close-out controls should be
formalized and Board approved (see Observation No. 15 in the report body).

• WCCUSD policies and procedures could be improved upon to include pricing goals and
requirements for future bond issuances (see Observation No. 16 in the report body).

• The District no longer tracks local participation and instead relies on construction firms to
comply with these requirements (see Observation No. 20 in the report body).

• Bond Program policies and procedures should be formalized and approved by the Board
and the transparency of the Bond Program can be improved (see Observation No. 22).

32 of 175 32 of 175



 

• The District should have established policies and procedures for design and construction 
budget establishment and management for the Bond Program (see Observation No. 3 in 
the report body). 

• WCCUSD should have formal change order policies and procedures (see Observation No. 
13A in the report body). 

• Adequate change order reporting to ensure end users understand change order impact 
and assigned responsibility should be available (see Observation No. 13b in the report 
body). 

• We observed several contracts that had significant change order values compared to the 
original contract amounts, which presents a good opportunity to improve change order 
management and controls (see Observation No. 13c in the report body). 

Management remains responsible for the proper implementation and operation of an 
adequate internal control system. Due to the inherent limitations of any internal control 
structure, errors or irregularities may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal control structure to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
internal control structure may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or the 
degree of compliance with the procedures may deteriorate.  

.  

We would like to express our appreciation to you and all members of your staff for your 
cooperation throughout this performance audit.  

Sincerely, 

 

Moss Adams LLP 
San Francisco, CA 

 
 

33 of 175 33 of 175



Construction Bond Performance Audit Report – Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 

WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

Table of Contents 

Background Information 1 

West Contra Costa Unified School District-Approved Bond Funds 1 

California State Requirements 1 

Objective, Scope, and Methodology 3 

Audit Results 10 

Conduct a Performance Audit (CAPA) 10 

Objective No. 1 – District and Professional Services Staffing Plan for 
the Bond Program 10 

Objective No. 2 – Design and Construction Schedules Cash Flow 
Analysis (No Exception) 11 

Objective No. 3 – Design and Construction Budget Management 12 

Objective No. 4 – Bidding and Procurement Procedures 13 

Objective No. 5 – Procurement Fraud Prevention and Detection 
Controls 15 

Objective No. 6 – Bond Program Master Planning and Reporting 16 

Objective No. 7 – Cost, Schedule, Budgetary Management, and 
Reporting Controls Implementation 19 

Objective No. 8 – Claim Avoidance and Control Procedures 19 

Objective No. 9 – Materials Specifications 20 

Objective No. 10 – Cost Benefit and Value Engineering Analyses 21 

Objective No. 11 – Maintenance of District Assets Funded by Local 
Bond and Warranty Conditions Compliance 22 

Objective No. 12 – Implementation of Schedule Quality, Scope, and 
Performance Management Controls 23 

Objective No. 13 – Change Order Management and Controls 
Application 23 

Objective No. 14 – Contractor Billing Compliance Controls 25 

34 of 175 34 of 175



Table of Contents – Continued 

Construction Bond Performance Audit Report – Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2017 

WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 

Objective No. 15 – Project Close-Out Controls 26 

Objective No. 16 – Post Financing Review 27 

Objective No. 17 – Refunding of Outstanding Bonds (No Exception) 27 

Objective No. 18 – Arbitrage and Investments (No Exception) 27 

Objective No. 19 – Timeliness of Payment 28 

Objective No. 20 – Local Participation Requirements 29 

Objective No. 21 – CBOC Compliance (No Exception) 29 

Objective No 22. – Transparency of Bond Program 30 

 Reporting Views of Responsible Officials 32 

Appendix A: List of Interviewees 42 

Appendix B: Cost Benefit and Value Engineering Analyses 43 

VE Scoping 43 

VE Study Performance 43 

Appendix C: San Diego Taxpayers Educational Foundation 
Criteria for School Bond Transparency 45 

35 of 175 35 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 1 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

 BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

The District has a goal of completing an approximately $1.63 billion facility improvement 
program, which includes Measure D (2010) and Measure E (2012) Bond Program funds that 
were audited for FY 2018. In 2010, the District received approval of the Measure D $380 
million authorization to fund the acquisition, construction, reconstruction, and modernization 
of school facilities. Subsequently, in 2012, $360 million was authorized for Measure E 
projects to fulfill the same purpose. The overall District Bond Program is in its 19th year, 
dating back to November 2000. 

Bond Program accounting records for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018, showed 
$77,601,483 in Proposition 39 Bond Program expenditures in FY 2018. 

A Construction Bond Program performance audit is required for WCCUSD Measure D 
(2010) and Measure E (2012) Construction Bonds by Proposition 39, State Constitution 
Article XIII A, and Education Code Section 15272. These State requirements specify that the 
proceeds from the sale of school facilities bonds are expended only on Listed Projects. Both 
the State Constitution and Education Code require an annual independent performance 
audit to verify Bond proceeds are used on Listed Projects. Finally, SB 1473, approved by 
the Governor on September 23, 2010, amended the California Education Code to add 
Section 15286, which requires that an annual performance audit is conducted in accordance 
with the GAGAS issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. 

Proposition 39, the “Smaller Classes, Safer Schools and Financial Accountability Act,” was 
passed by California voters on November 7, 2000. Proposition 39 amended provisions to 
the California Constitution and to the California Education Code. The purpose and intent of 
the initiative was “to implement class size reduction, to ensure that our children learn in a 
secure and safe environment, and to ensure that school districts are accountable for prudent 
and responsible spending for school facilities.” It provided for the following amendments to 
the California Constitution and California Education Code: 

1. “To provide an exception to the limitation on ad valorem property taxes and the two-third 
vote requirements to allow school districts, community college districts, and county 
offices of education to equip our schools for the 21st Century, to provide our children 
with smaller classes, and to ensure our children’s safety by repairing, building, furnishing 
and equipping school facilities; 

36 of 175 36 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 2 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

2. To require school district boards, community college boards, and county offices of
education to evaluate safety, class size reduction, and information technology needs in
developing a list of specific projects to present to the voters;

3. To ensure that before they vote, voters will be given a list of specific projects their bond
money will be used for;

4. To require an annual, independent financial audit of the proceeds from the sale of the
school facilities bonds until all of the proceeds have been expended for the specified
school facilities projects; and

5. To ensure that the proceeds from the sale of school facilities bonds are used for
specified school facilities projects only, and not for teacher and administrator salaries
and other school operating expenses, by requiring an annual independent performance
audit to ensure that the funds have been expended on specific projects only.”

37 of 175 37 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 3 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

OBJECTIVE, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY 
The objectives of the performance audit included verification of WCCUSD compliance with 
Proposition 39, which required that Bond proceeds only be used for school facilities projects 
that were listed with the Bond. The District created the Measure D (2010) and Measure E 
(2012) funds under Proposition 39 and, as such, has been required to expend these fund 
proceeds only on Listed Projects, and not for school operating expenses, for the District FY 
ending June 30, 2018. The Bond Program expended $77,601,483 in FY 2018.  

We conducted this Construction Bond Program performance audit in accordance with 
GAGAS. As required by GAGAS, we planned and performed the audit to obtain sufficient, 
appropriate evidence to provide a reasonable basis for our findings and conclusions based 
on our audit objectives. The evidence obtained provided a reasonable basis for our findings 
and conclusions based on our audit objectives. Because GAGAS performance audit 
procedures require reasonable assurance, and these audit procedures did not require 
detailed examination of all transactions and activities, there is a risk that compliance errors, 
fraud, or illegal acts may exist that were not detected by us. Based on the performance audit 
procedures performed and the results obtained, we have met our audit objective. 

Management remains responsible for the proper implementation and operation of an 
adequate internal control system. Due to the inherent limitations of any internal control 
structure, errors or irregularities may occur and not be detected. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of the internal control structure to future periods are subject to the risk that the 
internal control structure may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the procedures may deteriorate.  

This performance audit did not constitute an audit of financial statements in accordance with 
“Government Auditing Standards.” Moss Adams was not engaged to, and did not render an 
opinion on the District’s internal controls.  

The performance audit methodology applied included the following: 

Conduct a Performance Audit: We conducted the audit in accordance with GAGAS for 
Performance Audits as codified by the Government Auditing Standards, December 2011 
Revision, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. We reviewed the Bond 
Program’s financial records and expenditures to verify that funds were used for approved 
Bond Program purposes as set forth in the ballot language, Bond documents, Board-
approved Listed Projects, and Proposition 39 requirements. We reviewed the Bond 
Program’s financial records and expenditures by obtaining the Comprehensive Annual 
Financial Report and comparing the balances to the District’s detailed accounting records. 
We analyzed control processes, tested the Bond Program expenditure cycle, and sampled 
supporting documentation to validate internal controls. Testing procedures included the use 
of Audit Command Language (ACL) to select a statistical, monetary unit sample to provide a 
90 percent level of confidence that expenditure transactions from the Bond Program were 

38 of 175 38 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 4 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

compliant with Bond Program and legal requirements. We tested 69 expenditures totaling 
$42,691,157. These transactions included payments to contractors and vendors, and journal 
entries of inter-fund transfers. Our testing procedures were performed to verify: 

• Expenditures were for Listed Projects.
• Approval of payment applications and invoices was obtained.
• Expenditures complied with the approved contract, purchase order, or other

procurement documentation.
• Expenditures were recorded in the proper period, accurately, and in a complete manner

in the District’s books and records.
• Expenditures met allocability and allowability requirements for allowance and

contingency usage per sampled job contract language.

The methodology for each of the performance audit objectives (as specified by the District 
and agreed upon for this performance audit) was as follows: 

1. District and Professional Services Staffing Plan for the Bond Program: We
reviewed the District’s policies and approach to in-house and consultant staffing for
managing the measures and the effectiveness of the staffing related to the number of
Bond Program projects. We analyzed the organizational structure alignment between the
program management team and the contracts, and validated and evaluated processes
for project reporting, communication, problem resolution, decision support, change order
authorizations, scope of control, and segregation of duties. As part of this analysis, we
leveraged our experience with other school construction programs to compare District
staffing levels to workload requirements.

2. Design and Construction Schedules Cash Flow Analysis: We reviewed the methods
utilized by the District and their consultants to track the schedule of available revenue
and expenditures for all projects and to plan each building project in accordance with the
availability of funds. To accomplish this, we conducted walkthroughs of existing tracking
methods as well as Bond fund expenditure schedules, reviewed available reports, and
sampled supporting documentation for expenditures and cost control performance.

3. Design and Construction Budget Management: We reviewed the established District
processes for the development and adherence to design and construction budgets on
Bond-funded projects in the facilities construction program to gather and test data in
order to determine compliance and measure the effectiveness of controls. Selected
contracts were reviewed to gain an understanding of payment processes, cycle time,
allowable charges, and reimbursable costs. Processes to review and approve contractor
charges were analyzed to determine preventative controls for excessive charges and
overpayments, and payment applications were reviewed to assess the adequacy of
supporting documentation. We also reviewed the field methods used to validate
progress and percent complete. Selected cost contracts were sampled and tested for
contract billing compliance with contract terms.

We also reviewed the reconciliation of actual projects for which Bond funds were
expended to projects approved by the Board of Trustees, analyzed the reconciliation of
projects approved by the Board of Trustees to projects on the approved facilities master

39 of 175 39 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 5 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

plan, reviewed the reconciliation of the facilities master plan on the approved project lists 
for Proposition 39, followed up on any unreconciled items, and reported on any 
expenditures or items in the facilities master plan that did not reconcile to approved 
Listed Projects. 

4. Bidding and Procurement Procedures: Bidding and procurement controls and
procedures were evaluated for application of competitive and fair general contracting
and subcontracting practices that prevent excessive expenditures. We reviewed
contractual pricing and change orders for increases to competitively bid projects. We
conducted interviews and reviewed relevant policies, examined bid and contractor
selection files, and evaluated procurement controls.

We verified that District bidding and award of Bond-funded construction projects
complied with selected requirements of the California school construction state
requirements, the Public Contracting Code, and state and other relevant laws and
regulations. Change order documentation was reviewed for compliance with selected
Public Contracting Code, California school construction State requirements, and other
regulations. Controls and activities to manage change orders were evaluated. Contracts
were reviewed to gain an understanding of allowable charges and reimbursable costs
related to change orders. Policies and procedures covering the review and approval of
contractor change orders were analyzed to identify potential exposures. Specific
consideration will be given to change order cause, responsibility, and pricing. We
reviewed policies and procedures to verify whether documentation exists prior to
approval of change orders and that required approvals were applied. Selected change
orders were tested for duplicated work scope and compliance with Proposition 39
requirements.

5. Procurement Fraud Prevention and Detection Controls: We validated District
controls in place to prevent and detect procurement fraud. The following procedures
were performed:
○ Assessed the implementation of ethics policy, reporting protocols, staff screening

requirements, consequences, training, and escalation procedures to prevent and
detect fraud.

○ Assessed segregation of duties controls designed and implemented to prevent
unauthorized obligations and payments.

○ Reviewed the completeness of monitoring controls implemented to identify, report,
and address significant procurement anomalies.

○ Verified that methods applied to verify key reports used for key construction program
management decisions are current, accurate, and complete.

6. Bond Program Master Planning and Reporting:
○ Master Planning – We assessed the design and performance effectiveness of

program management processes and controls covering planning, design, and
construction projects. Specific emphasis was placed on the implementation of
policies, procedures, and practices needed to ensure key deliverables and approvals
occur as projects progress.

40 of 175 40 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 6 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

○ Bond Program Reporting – We performed an evaluation of the current Bond Program 
reporting and plan design as well as control processes for specific projects from the 
start of the design phase to project closeout. This included an assessment of the 
current facilities master plan, organizational structure, and controls to ensure that 
there is an integrated plan among stakeholders including but not limited to District 
Management, the CBOC, and the Board of Trustees. 

7. Cost, Schedule, Budgetary Management, and Reporting Controls Implementation: 
We analyzed management of cost, schedule, and budgetary reporting. This included a 
review of the following processes and control activities: 
○ Budget variance analysis/cost reporting by cost code detail and summary, including 

analysis of budget, changes, spending, commitments, forecast, and variance to 
budget. 

○ Cumulative earned value and funding reconciliation to timing of goods and service 
delivery. 

○ Project schedule with well-defined milestones that match project requirements. 
○ Compliance with project funding legal requirements. 
○ Comparison of project and District accounting records. 
○ Approved project scope document that matches design requirements. 
○ Change control guidelines and senior management approval for initial authorization 

and scope changes. 
○ Cost and schedule, budget, and actual analysis. 
○ Documentation of test results and quality inspections. 
○ Earned hours/earned units’ budget and actual analysis. 
○ Billing review and spending variance approvals. 
○ Spending review and approval for proper coding. 

8. Claim Avoidance and Control Procedures: We evaluated and reviewed the 
procedures used to limit the number of claims filed against the District related to 
construction projects for the period. Specific consideration was given to contractor 
inquiries and capture of documentation surrounding scope change causes, schedule 
changes, and cost impact analysis. Steps taken to effectively communicate potential 
claims and mitigate claims risk were also given specific consideration. 

9. Material Specifications: We evaluated whether the District has and uses a 
standardized items list and educational specifications for Bond Program materials 
procurement to identify facilities material requirements. We assessed whether the 
District’s materials requirements were available to project architects and designers and 
verified whether materials specifications were used in procurements and provided to all 
bidders during the procurement process.  

10. Cost Benefit and Value Engineering Analyses: We reviewed the cost benefit and 
value engineering analysis procedures and documentation of practices applied. We 
verified whether the analyses were conducted to determine if the requirements of the 
project or equipment could be obtained at a lower price or for a better value, specifically 
when weighing cost, time, and function. We assessed whether value was determined by 

41 of 175 41 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 7 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

objective criteria that may include price, features, functions, lifecycle costs, and other 
criteria deemed appropriate by the District. We compared the District’s practices to 
guidelines recommended by SAVE International®. We also assessed whether the District 
determined a cost threshold for the application of value engineering in a practical matter. 

11. Maintenance of District Assets Funded by the Local Bond and Warranty
Conditions Compliance: We reviewed the District’s practices for maintaining a list for
all assets incorporated into school site construction and complete and accurate
information regarding warrantied items. We verified the District’s implementation of
controls surrounding the required maintenance of its assets in accordance with warranty
items, application of a formal system of logging this information for inventory purposes,
and use of warranties where possible.

12. Implementation of Schedule Quality, Scope, and Performance Management
Controls: We reviewed Bond Program goals and objectives and assessed how well the
goals and objectives were communicated, implemented, and applied by District and
contractor personnel. Our analysis verified whether appropriate approvals were required
prior to the performance of Bond Program activities and expenditures. We also reviewed
the tools and support processes for the design, construction, and close-out project
phases and compared them to other efficient projects as well as good practices applied
by similar organizations.

13. Change Order Management and Controls Application: Change order documentation
was reviewed for compliance with the Public Contracting Code, school construction state
requirements, and other regulations. Controls and activities to manage change orders
were evaluated. Contracts were reviewed to gain an understanding of allowable charges
and reimbursable costs related to change orders. Policies and procedures covering the
review and approval of contractor change orders were analyzed to identify potential
exposures. Specific consideration was given to change order cause, responsibility, and
pricing. We reviewed policies and procedures to verify whether documentation existed
prior to approval of change orders and to verify that required approvals were applied.
Selected change orders were tested for duplicated work scope and compliance with
Proposition 39 requirements.

14. Contractor Billing Compliance Controls: We analyzed processes to review and
approve contractor charges to prevent excessive charges or overpayments. Interviews
were conducted to ensure accurate understanding of events, circumstances surrounding
construction, and professional service contract compliance. We covered transaction flow
and cost control processes during these interviews. We evaluated whether charges
matched with actual performance and work completion, contracted services were
delivered, payments were in accordance with compensation terms, billing reconciled to
contract terms, and required lien releases were obtained timely and with each billing.

15. Project Close-Out Controls: We evaluated the District’s policies, procedures, and
practices to close out projects in accordance with contract requirements. This review
included analysis of checklists, procedures, retention policies, and contract terms and
conditions. We analyzed procedures implemented to identify the parameters for
contractor performance and compare the District’s close-out procedures to good
practices applied by similar organizations. This included review of criteria for all relevant
parties to determine whether the project was complete. These procedures also included

42 of 175 42 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 8 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

processes to verify there were controls to obtain unconditional contractor lien release 
and ensure unresolved claims are not pending prior to final payment. 

16. Post-Financing Review: We compared and summarized bond pricing to policies and 
procedures and goals established prior to sale.  

17. Refunding of Outstanding Bonds: We analyzed the current bond structure, bond 
funding requirements, refunding costs, compliance with refunding requirements, and 
other key factors that impact potential refunding of Bond funds. District funding plans 
and analysis were summarized and compared to good practices applied by other similar 
organizations. Consideration was given to current market conditions and public bond 
refunding requirements applicable to public entities. 

18. Arbitrage and Investments: We worked to determine if the District has complied with 
Internal Revenue Service arbitrage requirements for bond sales and if the investment of 
cash from Bond sales met all legal requirements. 

19. Timeliness of Payments: We verified that the District pays vendors within 30 days. We 
also verified whether general contractors are withholding payments to subcontractors, 
materials suppliers, and other vendors. During our review we assessed whether all 
contracts include specific language on payment terms and comply with California’s 
prompt payment laws. 

20. Local Participation Requirements: We determined compliance with specific Board 
Policies such as local business or Minority/Women Owned Business participation. 
Reported results will be validated for inclusion of current, accurate, and complete 
information. 

21. CBOC Compliance: We assessed the overall compliance of the CBOC with law, the 
District’s Board Policies, and the Committee’s bylaws. Specific focus and attention was 
given to Committee performance, compliance with their Charter, and overall 
effectiveness of their activities. Evidence of CBOC compliance with its Proposition 39 
requirements was assessed. Procedures to ensure the independence of Committee 
Members were given specific consideration. 

22. Transparency of Bond Program: We assessed the effectiveness of the Public 
Outreach and Communication Plan that addresses external and internal 
communications. We reviewed the District’s activities and methods of communication 
related to the identification of stakeholders as well as their concerns, influence on the 
project, and information expectations. Use of District means to reach Bond Program 
stakeholders were compared to good practices at other school districts. We evaluated 
the overall transparency of the Bond Program, including but not limited to, the evaluation 
of the Bond website information and Bond Program progress reports, and the availability 
and access to information regarding Program status and expenditures. The San Diego 
Taxpayers Educational Foundation criteria for measuring School Bond Transparency 
was utilized as a benchmark for the District’s Bond website. Current, accurate, and 
complete Bond Program reporting was assessed. Project progress, impact to Bond 
Program stakeholders, and delivery in accordance with Bond Program requirements 
were given specific consideration. 

We interviewed key personnel responsible for administering the Bond Program, including 
senior management and staff from the District and Bond Program Management Team 

43 of 175 43 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 9 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

responsible for overseeing the work associated with the Bond Program. We also conducted 
discussions with members of the CBOC. The individuals interviewed are listed in Appendix 
A of this report. 

44 of 175 44 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 10 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

AUDIT RESULTS 

In accordance with GAGAS, we reviewed expenditures for compliance with the Bond’s 
requirements for listed projects to ensure that unallowable costs were not allocated to the 
Bond Program, in accordance with GAGAS, for performance audits. Our testing resulted in 
the following potential exceptions: 

Observation CAPA: The District needs to provide adequate documentation to support staff charge 
allocation to the Bond Program. 

C
A

PA
 

The District has not taken steps to address the Conduct a Performance Audit 
recommendation regarding timekeeping controls provided in the prior year’s report (Moss 
Adams 2017 Report Objective CAPA). Based on sampled documentation, no timecards or 
other time certification support validating the percentage of time allocation and cost was 
provided. Based on the 2017-2018 Fund 21 Labor Allocation report provided by the District, 
the total charges for allocated personnel (i.e., not 100% dedicated to the Bond Program) 
accounted for 92.5% of the total staffing charges ($1,896,792 allocated staff 
charges/$2,049,990 total staff charges). Staff names, titles, allocation percentage, and 
assigned duties relating to the Bond Program were provided. However, no time studies or 
staff allocation support was available in Fiscal Year 2018. While it is understood that labor 
costs to the Bond Program are necessary, they should be properly supported going forward 
to ensure appropriateness and compliance with Bond language. Further, Opinion No. 04-110 
from the State of California’s Office of the Attorney General states that “a school district may 
use Proposition 39 school bond proceeds to pay the salaries of district employees to the 
extent they perform administrative oversight work on construction projects authorized by a 
voter approved bond measure.”  

Recommendation: The District should implement the processes and controls needed to 
provide supporting documentation that validates the applicability and accuracy of labor 
charged to the Bond Program consistent with Opinion 04-110. Specifically, a timekeeping 
system, or equivalent tracking system, should be implemented so that all labor costs incurred 
are identifiable, compliant, and have a beneficial relationship to the Bond Program. 

Observation No. 1: WCCUSD should have well-defined reporting and procedures for in-house or 
consultant staffing for the Bond Program. 

1 

The District has taken steps to address the Professional Service Staffing Plan (Staffing Plan) 
for the Bond Program recommendation provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 
Report Objective No. 2); however, key metrics and staffing requirements were not available. 
The Staffing Plan was analyzed for its comparison of the number and magnitude of Bond 
Program projects to staff to determine in-house and consultant staffing for Bond Program 
projects. This year, the District provided their Bond Program Staffing Summary for FY 2017-
18, which identified personnel who charge time to the Bond Program based on their 

45 of 175 45 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 11 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Observation No. 1: WCCUSD should have well-defined reporting and procedures for in-house or 
consultant staffing for the Bond Program. 

allocation percentage and the estimated associated cost. The District also provided a 
schedule of active projects for FY 2017-18, including estimated project status timing, broken 
down in three stages: Procurement, Active Construction, and Closeout. However, the 
spreadsheet did not base staffing requirements on Bond Program needs and excluded key 
metrics such as the number of personnel, type of projects, and dollar value of planned 
projects, which should be analyzed to help determine if the Bond Program’s organizational 
structure is aligned with Bond Program needs. It is important that the District clearly define 
staffing needs to ensure effective and efficient utilization of internal resources and 
consultants.  

Recommendation: As a best practice, appropriate WCCUSD management should approve 
an annual staffing plan, including key metrics such as positions staffed, number of personnel, 
number of planned projects, and dollar values of planned projects to help determine 
organizational structure alignment with the Bond Program needs. 

2 

The District has addressed the Design and Construction Schedules Cash Flow Analysis 
recommendation provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 
3). We reviewed methods utilized by the District to track the schedule of available revenues 
and expenditures for all projects to plan each building project in accordance with the 
availability of funds. Based on the District’s Project Multiyear Budget, Bond Program Budget 
Status Report through June 30, 2018, the District had the following key information: 

● Project Title
● Board Approved Amount
● Expenditures to date
● Commitments by Fiscal Year
● Cash Flow Positive Variance

The report had expenditures by timeframe based on project budget amounts (see 
Observation 6b for further information). The report indicated a $4 million favorable variance 
between BOE-approved budgets and projected project budget amounts. 

No exception taken. 

46 of 175 46 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 12 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Observation No. 3: The District should have established policies and procedures for design and 
construction budget establishment and management for the Bond Program. 

3 

The District has not taken steps to address the Design and Construction Budget 
Management recommendation provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report 
Objective No. 4). We reviewed the established District processes for the development and 
adherence to design and construction budgets on Bond-funded projects in the facilities 
construction program to gather and test data in order to determine compliance and measure 
the effectiveness of controls. No draft procedural documentation was available during review. 

Based on our inquiry, budgets are approved by the Board; however, the following roles and 
responsibilities surrounding design and construction budget management were not well 
defined: Who prepares detailed budgets, when and how (i.e., what level of detail) budgets 
are developed and reported, who has the authority to approve budgets and budget transfers, 
and who is responsible for recording budget information in Munis and Primavera.  

Munis includes only approved change orders, whereas Primavera includes and tracks 
proposed change orders. Based on our experiences, construction forecasts can significantly 
differ from Board approved budgets and regular reconciliation efforts are needed to ensure 
sufficient funding to achieve Program objectives and goals. construction managers, project 
managers, contractors, and architects utilize Primavera for construction document 
management. The District utilizes Primavera as the construction management software 
system. Lack of established and written policies and procedures for both Munis and 
Primavera could lead to inconsistent practices by District staff, resulting in potential 
inaccurate reporting to the Bond Program stakeholders. 

Recommendation: The District should develop and implement policies and procedures for 
budget establishment and management activities for the Bond Program (see 
Recommendation No. 22 for more detail). Defined roles and responsibilities information will 
help provide transparency surrounding how budgets are established and managed. 
Furthermore, as a best practice, project reporting with key project information, including 
forecast amounts, should be consistently reported to WCCUSD management and key 
stakeholders. Any forecasted overruns should be addressed with detailed plans to secure 
additional sources of funding and identify alternative options that reduce projected costs 
while still meeting the District’s objectives and needs. Muni and Primavera project amounts 
should be reconciled, reviewed, and approved by key departmental personnel (e.g., 
WCCUSD project management, WCCUSD accounting, and Construction Manager) to ensure 
completeness and accuracy. 

47 of 175 47 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 13 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

                                                      
 
 
1 The District was able to document an RFP process for the procurement of the Critical Needs Architectural Services for 
Fairmont Elementary School. The District also documented the recommended procurement for these services within the Friday 
Memo dated February 2, 2018. However, the scope of proposals received did not appear to align (i.e., the difference in 
proposed amounts was $24,725 versus $345,500). See Observation No. 13c for more information. 

Observation No 4: The District should have Board-approved written policies and procedures 
regarding bidding and procurement, but generated a list of its practices, applicable regulations, 
and procurement template checklists upon request.  

4 

The District has taken steps to address Bidding and Procurement recommendations provided 
in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 4); however, we identified 
several inconsistencies with draft procedural documents and opportunities for improvement. 
We evaluated bid and procurement practices, procedures, and controls for the application of 
competitive and fair general contracting and subcontracting practices that prevent excessive 
Bond Program expenditures. We reviewed relevant District policies and requirements as 
required per Public Contract Code (PCC), California Uniform Public Construction Cost 
Accounting Act (CUPCCAA), and other relevant state laws and regulations. During the 
current fiscal year, the District prepared draft bid and procurement procedural documents.  

The following bid and procurement items were potential exceptions to policies and 
procedures and best practices: 

● Observation No. 4a: The District should have formal bid and procurement policies and 
procedures defining roles & responsibilities.   

● Observation No. 4b: The District needs to provide evidence of a fair, competitive 
solicitation process for architectural and professional construction services for the 
following four vendors: 

Project Site Scope Architect 
Selected 

Contract 
Executed 

Date 

Original 
Contract 

Value 

Korematsu 
Middle School 

Professional Services 
including Bidding and 
Construction Admin 
Services 

Hibser 
Yamauchi 
Architects, Inc. 

6/26/2017 $105,568  

Richmond 
High School Master Planning Services Baker Vilar 

Architects 2/16/2011 $64,500  

Valley View 
Elementary 
School 

Master Planning Services 
Deems Lewis 
McKinley, 
Architects 

1/4/2011 $187,500  

Fairmont 
Elementary 
School 

Architectural Services for 
Critical Needs 

Hibser 
Yamauchi 
Architects, Inc. 

4/5/2018 $24,7251  

California Government Code Section 4529.12 requires that “all architectural and 
engineering services shall be procured pursuant to a fair, competitive selection process.” 
However, the District was unable to provide proof of this competitive procurement 

48 of 175 48 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 14 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

                                                      
 
 
2 The District noted this amount was under procurement thresholds requiring Board approval or 
ratification; however, procurement policy and expenditure approval was not available (see 
Recommendation No. 22). 

process. The District utilizes a list of prequalified architects that was last updated 2017. 
The District could not provide evidence of proposals provided for the project scope or 
confirm that the prequalified architects list was utilized to obtain proposals from multiple 
architects to ensure fair and competitive selection. 

● Observation No. 4c: The District needs to provide complete competitive solicitation 
documentation for the following two construction vendors: 

Project Site Scope Vendor 
Selected 

Contract 
Executed 

Date 

Original 
Contract 

Value 

Nystrom Elementary 
School 

Temporary Campus 
Demobilization 

McKim and 
Company 9/21/2017 $44,890  

Wilson Temporary 
Campus 

Install New Power 
Poles Power Plus! 4/20/2018 $21,250  

Per CUPCCAA and District policy for Fiscal Year 2018, construction service procurement 
under $45,000 does not require formal or informal advertisement for competitive 
solicitation of services. However, per District Policy, for construction service procurement 
under $45,000 “the District has established internal procedures that require Project 
Managers/Departments to solicit informal quotes (at least three) for all projects.” After 
several requests, the District could not provide solicitation and proposals for 3 informal 
quotes for the projects listed above, as required by District policy and procedures. 

● Observation No. 4d: The District needs to evidence adequate Board approval for the 
following two vendor contracts/purchase orders: 

Project Site Scope Architect 
Selected 

Contract 
Executed 

Date 

Original 
Contract 

Value 

PVHS 
Installation 
Services 
Che 

New Utility Installation 
East Bay 
Municipal Utility 
District 

7/18/2017 $785,579  

N/A Construction Management 
Software Technical Support 

ORACLE 
AMERICA INC 5/25/2017 $12,0692 

 

Policies and procedures did not exclude certain vendors or types of charges from Board 
approvals (e.g., utilities). Absent Board Approval dates, we were unable to confirm vendor 
contract procurement and payment were in accordance with District policies for the 
projects listed above. 

49 of 175 49 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 15 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Observation No. 5: Formal policies and procedures and monitoring controls to prevent and detect 
procurement fraud should be available. 

5 

The District has not taken steps to address Procurement Fraud Prevention and Detection 
Control recommendations provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report 
Objective No. 5). We validated the controls in place to prevent and detect procurement fraud. 
The following information was included within our assessment: 

● Reporting protocols, training, and escalation procedures, specifically for preventing and
detecting fraud, were not available within policies and procedures. WCCUSD was able to
provide documentation surrounding employee ethics policies, consequences, reporting
protocols, and staff screening requirements. However, a hotline does not appear to be in
place for procurement related issues relating to the Bond Program.

● Monitoring controls and reporting to identify and address significant procurement
anomalies were not available. The WCCUSD was unable to provide evidence of
complete, accurate, and regular reporting of bid and procurement activity that would allow
WCCUSD management to identify, prevent, and/or detect fraud. Based on inquiry, bid
and procurement documentation appeared readily available upon request; however, a
consolidated summary procurement report was not available.

The Government Finance Officers Association’s (GFOA) article Encouraging and Facilitating 
the Reporting of Fraud and Questionable Accounting and Auditing Practices states, as a best 
practice, that every government establish policies and procedures to encourage and facilitate 
the reporting of fraud or abuse and questionable accounting practices. Absent formalized 
procurement fraud policies and procedures including the reporting protocols, training, 
escalation procedures, and monitoring controls, it is unclear whether the WCCUSD had 
adequate controls in place to identify, prevent, and detect procurement fraud. 

Recommendation: Consistent with the GFOA, WCCUSD should implement policies and 
procedures regarding procurement fraud to assist in identifying, preventing, and detecting 
procurement fraud (see Recommendation No. 22 for more detail). The policies should 
include reporting protocols, training requirements, and escalation procedures specific to 
procurement fraud. This resulting documentation can also serve as a useful training tool for 

Recommendation: Formal written policies and procedures including defined approval 
authority for bid and procurement should be created and added to a comprehensive Bond 
Program manual to ensure appropriate review and approval controls are in place for 
procurement procedures (see Recommendation No. 22 for more detail). The District should 
ensure amounts presented to the Board are aligned with proposed contract values.  If certain 
vendor or charges do not require Board approval, policies and procedures should be updated 
accordingly to ensure consistent processes (e.g., utilities).  Additionally, the District should 
ensure that adequate documentation as evidence of a competitive solicitation and 
procurement process is maintained to comply with District policies and procedures and/or 
PCC, CUPCCAA, as well as other laws and regulations. Detailed processes and procedures 
for procurement should be added to the comprehensive Bond Program policies and 
procedures manual for transparency and accountability and approved by the Board (see 
Recommendation No. 22 for more detail).  

50 of 175 50 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 16 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

staff. As a best practice, the WCCUSD should maintain a consolidated bid and procurement 
activity report that will help WCCUSD senior management identify, prevent, or detect fraud 
and noncompliance with WCCUSD policies and procedures, state laws, and regulations. 
Supporting documentation for this consolidated report should be readily available in a central 
location, either physically or electronically. Additionally, per the GFOA, potential instances of 
fraud or abuse and questionable accounting practices come to the attention of responsible 
parties due to employees or citizens who become aware of such practices. The GFOA 
provides the following recommendations: 

● Formally approve, widely distribute, and publicize an ethics policy that can serve as a
practical basis for identifying potential instances of fraud or abuse and questionable
accounting practices.

● Establish practical mechanisms (e.g., a hotline) to permit the anonymous reporting of
concerns about fraud or abuse and questionable accounting practices to the appropriate
responsible parties.

● Make internal auditors (or their equivalent) responsible for the mechanisms used to report
instances of potential fraud or abuse and questionable accounting practices. Emphasize
that they should take whatever steps are necessary to satisfy themselves that a given
complaint is without merit before disposing of it. Further, they also should document the
disposition of each complaint received so it can be reviewed by the audit committee.

Have the appropriate party, as part of its evaluation of the government’s internal control 
framework, examine the documentation of how complaints were handled to satisfy itself that 
the mechanisms for reporting instances of potential fraud or abuse, and questionable 
accounting or auditing practices are in place and working satisfactorily.  

The District has taken steps to address the Bond Program Master Planning and Reporting 
recommendation provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 
6); however, policies and procedure surrounding Master Planning and was not available and 
program reporting had select areas for improvement. Bond Program master plan and project 
reporting was assessed to determine the level of integration amongst stakeholders. 

Observation No 6a: WCCUSD policies and procedures should define master planning processes and 
procedures. 

6a 

Darden Architects and Integrated Educational Planning and Programming created a 
comprehensive Long Range Facilities Master Plan (Master Plan) that was Board-approved 
on June 15, 2016. The Master Plan was a highly integrated process that included several 
community meetings, focus groups, surveys, and school site and steering committee 
meetings, which included a prioritization committee. Facilities needs assessments were 
conducted to understand the age and condition of each school site and criteria was 
established including: facility safety and structural integrity, age of school/number of years 
since last improvement, capacity/utilization, completion of master plan or drawings, 
Americans with Disabilities Act compliance, technological needs, functionality, eligibility for 
State funding, and economically disadvantaged area/low income needs. The criteria were 

51 of 175 51 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 17 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

ranked in a reasonable manner, assigned a weight, and systematically applied to the priority 
school sites identified. 

The prioritization of projects is clearly defined and an integral part of the master plan. Rough 
order of magnitude estimates based on a per square foot analysis (excluding cost escalation 
or cost for temporary housing) were developed. Additionally, the District presented a formal 
update to the Master Plan and Facility Operations to the Board on May, 30 2018. The update 
included information on the current construction costs climate, an implementation plan and 
budget update, critical needs updates and considerations, timeline and schedule updates, 
cash flow projections and scenarios, additional funding updates, and recent success stories. 
Presented cash flow projections through 2023 for total Master Plan projects were presented 
under two scenarios, with and without pending additional state funding. In both scenarios, a 
negative cash flow period was identified.  

Recommendation: As a best practice, WCCUSD should take action to ensure defined and 
documented processes are in place for master planning efforts, including when to utilize 
these procedures (e.g., thresholds), who is responsible for each activity, and procedures for 
final approval (see Recommendation No. 22 for more detail). Documentation requirements 
for any master plan changes from original approved documents should include, but not be 
limited to, information surrounding the proposed design change, basis for design change, 
estimated design change revenue and cost impact, estimated schedule impact, and design 
change initiator and approver. Master plan reporting should include a summary level Project 
Stages Report with dates of key milestones achieved, estimated dates of key milestones to 
be achieved, and appropriate and relevant narrative should be maintained and reported to 
key stakeholders on a regular basis. Deviations should be discussed with WCCUSD 
management and documented accordingly within monthly reporting. Responsibilities should 
be assigned and appropriateness of the policies and procedures should be evaluated on an 
ongoing basis. 

Observation 6b: Program reporting should include adequate details to allow key stakeholders to 
analyze the project forecast at the program and project level to actual committed contract values 
and the associated timing of revenues, expenditures, cash flow, and fund balances as 
recommended by the GFOA and the SDCTA. 

6b 

The District has taken steps to address the Bond Program Reporting recommendation 
provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 6b). Program 
reporting practices were compared to GFOA and SDCTA best practices to measure the 
effectiveness of controls surrounding bond-funded projects. The District presented a Citizens’ 
Bond Oversight Committee Meeting Packet for June 20, 2018. This report included the 
following information: 

● Project Narratives for active projects
● Schedule Summary
● Construction Budget information including Board Approved Amount and Billed Amount.
● Construction Spending by School Site through April 30, 2018 with Original Budget,

Current Budget, Actuals, Commitments, and Balance amounts.
● Cash Projections with Budget amounts (see Observation No. 2 for further information)

Per the San Diego County Taxpayers Association’s Oversight Committee Best Practices, at 
minimum, the following should be reported to the COC:  

● List of projects accompanied by measurements of their status in terms of budgets and
timelines

52 of 175 52 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 18 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

● Any alterations to project budgets or timelines with adequate explanations for these
changes

● Comparison of current status of projects in terms of budgets and timelines to the original
budget and timeline estimates of the project

Current budgets and commitments were reported; however, reporting lacked adequate 
change order, schedule, and budget to forecast alternation information for all projects (see 
Observation No. 2 and Observation No. 3 for further information). Per inquiry with District 
Management, project forecasting is based on Facilities Master Plan board-approved budgets. 
However, project forecasts can differ from budget amounts and differences, specifically 
forecast overruns, should be reflected and reported accordingly. Change order reporting 
should include change responsibilities such as owner-initiated, scope changes, design 
errors, contract errors, and unforeseen conditions (see Observation No. 13 for further 
information). Without this level of information, responsibility for change orders and associated 
cost will not be evident to key decision makers. Absent further information, project reporting 
is not in line with best practices and lacks information to adequately report to key 
stakeholders. 

Recommendation: Both the SDCTA and GFOA recommends that budget-to-actual 
comparisons of revenues, expenditures, cash flow, and fund balances be periodically 
reported. BOE-approved master plan budgets and current forecasts at the program and 
project level should be available with consideration of the amounts available. Change order 
reporting should include information such as itemized change amount, percentages, 
descriptions, change responsibility, date of approval, subtotals, and totals for easy end-user 
reference (see Recommendation No. 13b for further information). Detailed budget-level 
information for current bond issuances allows the District to monitor budgetary performance 
against committed contract values and can serve as an early warning indicator for potential 
problems. This information provides decision makers time to consider actions that may be 
needed if major deviations in budget-to-actual results become evident. Both the SDCTA and 
GFOA comments that this information is essential input for demonstrating accountability and 
transparency. Additionally, cash flow reporting should include revenues, cash, and 
expenditures by timeframe to document that sufficient funding is available to meet financial 
requirements for Measure D and E and figures should be consistently reported amongst 
Bond program reports. This documentation will also serve as a useful tool for District 
management and stakeholders to understand the timing of project schedules. 

53 of 175 53 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 19 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Observation No. 7: See the following specific areas of review for control-related improvement 
opportunities for this objective: 

7 

● Conduct a Performance Audit
● Objective No. 3 – Design and Construction Budget Management
● Objective No. 6 – Bond Program Master Planning and Reporting
● Objective No. 10 – Cost Benefit and Value Engineering Analysis.

Recommendation: See individual recommendations for each objective identified. 

Observation No. 8: District policies and procedures should identify roles and responsibilities to be 
taken to prevent or limit claim exposures. 

8 

The District has taken steps to address the Claims Avoidance and Control Procedures 
recommendation provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 
8); however, formal proactive claims avoidance policies and procedures were not available. 
We evaluated and reviewed the procedures used to limit the number of claims filed against 
the District related to construction projects for the period. The District does maintain a 
potential change order list (items requested by the Contractor such as potential claims or 
disputes) within Primavera; however, it is unclear who this is reported to and what the 
process is for resolution. The District had detailed flowcharts for the dispute resolution 
process and claims resolution process. These processes, in conjunction with contractual 
language, define the steps for the contractor, architect, and District to address disputes and 
claims in a methodical and systematic way. Additionally, draft policies and procedures were 
provided and consistent with contractual language. However, the District’s current processes 
are reactive, as opposed to proactive, in avoiding claims. The current processes do not 
identify action to be taken to prevent or limit claim exposures. Construction-related claims 
have many causes and often arise as a result of unresolved change orders, differing site 
conditions, or disruptions, delays, acceleration, and other time-related issues that require 
timely monitoring, planning, and effective actions in place to avoid claims.  

Recommendation: As a best practice, formal written policies and procedures for proactive 
claims avoidance practices should be created and added to a comprehensive Bond Program 
policy and procedure manual (see Recommendation No. 22 for more detail).  

54 of 175 54 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 20 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Observation No. 9: WCCUSD should have formal policies and procedures surrounding how to make 
updates to the Material Specifications log. 

9 

We reviewed the District’s design standards for standardized items and educational 
specifications to meet District needs and provide uniformity amongst facilities and school 
sites. In 2017, the District had the following six items for design standards documentation: 

● Material and Product Standards – Detailed allowable materials and products that the 
District has deemed adequate to meet educational specifications according to the 
Construction Specifications Institute codes to provide equitable learning environments. 

● Material and Product Standards Sole Source Resolution – Specified which materials and 
products included within the established standards were not subject to substitution for 
similar or like products. 

● Technology Infrastructure Standards – Detailed which infrastructure standards and 
requirements ensured information technology specifications were met and that 
technological advances could be incorporated into new and existing facilities throughout 
the District. 

● Elementary School Educational Specifications – Provided a general framework of 
requirements that could be applied to meet teaching and learning needs throughout 
District elementary schools. Specific areas of focus for these specifications included 
school environment, safety, and general requirements for educational spaces within 
elementary schools (i.e., classrooms, flexible learning suite, etc.). 

● Middle School Educational Specifications – Provided a general framework of 
requirements that could be applied to meet teaching and learning needs throughout 
District middle schools. Specific areas of focus included school environment, safety, and 
general requirements for educational spaces (i.e., classrooms, arts, physical education 
and athletics, etc.). 

● High School Educational Specifications – Provided a general framework of requirements 
that could be applied to meet teaching and learning needs throughout District high 
schools. Specific areas of focus included school environment, safety, and general 
requirements for educational spaces (i.e., classrooms, arts, physical education and 
athletics, etc.). 

The items listed above clearly identify critical products and systems, allowable alternative 
items, needs for each type of school (elementary, middle, and high school), and processes 
for material and product substitutions. The design standards are to be provided to architects 
and consultants during the bid or RFP process to ensure compliance. Additionally, the 
District presented a formal update to the Master Plan and Facility Operations to the Board on 
May, 30 2018. The update included an overview on material and product standards and sole 
source procedures, including links to detail documentation and Board approvals and dates, 
for communication and transparency surrounding District material specifications.  

 

Recommendation: As a best practice, WCCUSD should define how to make updates to the 
Standards Specifications document and update Bond Program policies and procedures 
accordingly (see Recommendation No. 22 for more detail). This policy should ensure that 
documentation exists, including: the requestor and date of request, description of change, 
cost-benefit relationship for the change (see Recommendation No. 10 for further 
information), approver and date of approval, and a time-stamped updated specifications 
document. The cost-benefit analysis for significant specification changes should be approved 

55 of 175 55 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 21 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

by appropriate WCCUSD management. The Standard Specifications document should avoid 
including narrow scope requirements to prevent excessive pricing to WCCUSD. 

Observation No. 10: The District should have approved policies and procedures for conducting cost 
benefit analysis and value engineering studies in FY 2017-18. 

10 

The District has taken steps to address the Cost Benefit and Value Engineering Analyses 
recommendation (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 10); however, formalized policies 
and procedures were not available. We reviewed policies and procedures and 
documentation for cost benefit and value engineering analyses to determine if the District’s 
specified requirements for projects, products, materials, and systems could be obtained at a 
lower price or for a better value, specifically when weighing cost, time, and function.  

Cost Benefit Analysis 

Per the May 4, 2017 version of the Material and Product Standards, items that are not 
agreed to via the Board-approved sole source material and product standards resolution 
(Resolution No. 69-1617) are subject to substitution, provided that the architect or consultant 
provides proof that the alternative item(s) is approved by the District in advance of being 
incorporated into the design. As part of this process, the architect or consultant must include 
a cost benefit analysis. However, no guidelines for the cost benefit analysis were outlined by 
the District’s policies and procedures.  

Value Engineering 

Draft policies and procedures were provided for value engineering, including criteria for when 
formal value engineering analysis will be required; however, neither roles and responsibilities 
surrounding management and implementation of potential recommendations from reviews 
nor required documentation were outlined within draft policies. 

As a good practice, the Design-Build agreement for the Wilson Elementary construction, 
executed January 29, 2018, included contract terms regarding value engineering analysis. 
The contract outlines the expectations of the design-build contractor in regard to 
documentation availability to the District. Additionally, a Basis of Design report was provided 
as an example to the value engineering steps completed by the design-builder contractor 
and presented to the District. However, reporting/approval requirements were not present in 
the contract and formal policies and procedures were not available to define District 
personnel roles and responsibilities surrounding management and implementation of 
recommendations from the reviews. 

Recommendation: As a best practice, the District should ensure formal, defined, and 
documented policies and procedures as well as roles and responsibilities are in place for 
cost benefit analysis and value engineering for its projects, including when to utilize these 
tools, who is responsible for each activity, and procedures for final approval (see 
Recommendation No. 22 for more detail). The District’s current methodology of when to 
utilize these tools on projects is unclear; however, value engineering and cost benefit 
analyses can be utilized as a tool on any project. Establishing set criteria for when cost 
benefit analysis and value engineering studies will be applied, what documentation is 
required, and the required approval authority limitations will provide a more structured 

56 of 175 56 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 22 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

environment to apply these cost saving measures to align cost, useful life, and function with 
project and District needs. 

SAVE International specifies that the following six phases be conducted to analyze cost and 
value: 

 Information Phase: Review and define the current conditions of the project and identify 
the goal of the value engineering study and cost benefit analysis. 

 Function Analysis Phase: Review and analyze the project to determine what needs 
improvement, elimination, or creation to meet the project’s goals. 

 Creative Phase: Generate ideas on all the possible ways to accomplish the 
requirements, with an emphasis on cost and functional needs. 

 Evaluation Phase: Develop and execute an evaluation to select those ideas that offer the 
potential for value improvement while delivering the project’s function(s) and considering 
performance requirements and resource limits. 

 Development Phase: Develop the selected ideas into alternatives with sufficient 
documentation to allow decision makers to determine if the alternative should be 
implemented. 

 Presentation Phase: Prepare a presentation and/or report to key stakeholders that 
convey the adequacy of the alternative(s) and the associated value improvement.  

Specific areas of focus and attention that should be considered when conducting these types 
of analyses have been incorporated in Appendix B of this report. 

Observation No. 11: The District needs to provide documentation to evidence assets funded by the 
Bond Program were compliant with warranty condition requirements. 

11 

The District has not taken steps to address the Maintenance of District Assets Funded by 
Local Bond and Warranty Conditions Compliance recommendation provided in the prior 
year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 11). We assessed the District’s 
practices for maintenance of assets incorporated into school site construction and reviewed 
the accuracy and completion of maintenance schedules to warrantied assets.  

The District utilized SchoolDude, a maintenance and work order management system, as a 
scheduling and reporting tool for facilities throughout the District. Based on inquiry, there was 
limited, if any, interaction between maintenance records contained within SchoolDude and 
the warranty conditions  

Additionally, the District specified, as construction projects are completed, training is 
conducted by contractors with the District’s maintenance team on the products, systems, and 
equipment of each facility, and the contractor provides all warranties and operation and 
maintenance manuals to the District so that sufficient preventative maintenance can be 
performed by the District. The maintenance performed at the District is scheduled in 
SchoolDude and conducted accordingly. No documentation surrounding warranty conditions 
compliance was provided for our audit period. However, a maintenance log was provided 
documenting annual review of various district safety equipment and assets, performed 
between July 1, 2018 and January 31, 2019. The log did not have warranty condition 

57 of 175 57 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 23 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

compliance requirement considerations and it is unclear whether the log was complete and 
accurate. It is also unclear whether or not the District has sufficient documentation showing 
compliance with the warranty in case a product or system that under warranty should fail  

Recommendation: As a best practice, the District should ensure compliance with all 
warranty conditions to sustain a level of protection against breach of warranty and proper 
maintenance of District facilities in accordance with warranty conditions. A consolidated 
summary project close-out report with warranty and preventive maintenance log details, 
including major assets, applicable items under warranty, dates of installation, required 
periodic maintenance, and actual maintenance conducted, should be kept for all school sites 
and reported to stakeholders on a regular basis. Warranty information is required as part of 
the construction close-out process; therefore, it is recommended that an owner warranty log 
be created by the Facility Planning and Construction Department and provided to the 
maintenance team for proper follow-up. 

Observation No. 12: See the specific areas of review for improvement opportunities for this 
objective. 

12 

We reviewed Bond Program goals and objectives to assess how well they were 
communicated, are being implemented and applied by District and contractor personnel. 
Overall, the District’s recently approved Master Plan has provided an excellent resource to 
facilitate the Bond Program. It provides clear goals and objectives and was communicated 
with a wide audience to educate stakeholders. However, prior to 2016 there was no 
established master plan for Bond funds spent. See the following specific areas of review for 
control-related issues for this objective:  

● Objective No. 2 – District and Professional Services Staffing Plan for the Bond Program
● Objective No. 6 – Bond Program Master Planning and Reporting
● Objective No. 10 – Cost Benefit and Value Engineering Analysis
● Objective No. 15 – Project Close-Out Controls
● Objective No. 22 – Transparency of Bond Program

Recommendation: See individual recommendations for each objective identified. 

Observation No. 13: The District did not have formalized change order policy and 
procedures and change order management controls can be improved upon. Change order 
documentation was reviewed for compliance with PCC, school construction State 
requirements, and other relevant regulations. Controls and activities to manage change 
orders and approval were evaluated. Change order documentation was reviewed to 
understand the allowability of sampled change orders, specifically assessing change order 

58 of 175 58 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 24 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

cause, responsible party, pricing, and compliance with Bond Program projects. We noted 
that formal policies and procedures was an area in need of improvement. 

Observation No. 13a: WCCUSD should have formal change order policies and procedures. 

13a 

Recommendation: Formal written policies and procedures, including defined approval 
authority for change orders, should be created and added to a comprehensive Bond 
Program policy and procedure manual to ensure appropriate review and approval controls 
are in place before vendor payment release (see Recommendation No. 22 for more detail). 

Observation No. 13b: Adequate change order reporting to ensure end users understand change 
order impact and assigned responsibility should be available. 

13b 

The District’s provided Change Order and Amendment Log lacked informative detail, such 
as itemized change amount, percentages, descriptions, change responsibility, date of 
approval, subtotals, and totals for easy end-user reference. Additionally, in comparison with 
sampled change order documentation, reported change order and amendment amounts 
were inconsistent and appeared inaccurate. Upon request, the District was able to provide 
specific examples of board-approved change order amounts; however, comprehensive 
summary and detail reporting for change orders was not available. Accurate change order 
reporting should be available at the project and program level with both detailed and 
summary level information available. Absent further information, change order reporting is 
not in line with best practices and lacks information to adequately report to key stakeholders 
(see Observation 6b for more detail). 

Recommendation: As best practice, District change order reporting should include 
accurate information, such as itemized change amount, percentages, descriptions, change 
responsibility, date of approval, subtotals, and totals for easy end-user reference. Summary 
and detailed change reporting is necessary to understand change order cause, 
responsibility, pricing, and compliance as well as to identify potential duplicated work 
scopes and/or redundancies caused by unclear scope objectives and/or expectations within 
the Master Plan.  

Observation No. 13c: We observed several contracts that had significant change order values 
compared to the original contract amounts, which presents a good opportunity to improve change 
order management and controls. 

13c 

The District has not taken steps to address the Project Close-Out Controls recommendation 
(Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 5). The District amended the following four 
professional service agreements by amounts in excess of original contract value:  

Project 
Site Scope Vendor 

Contract 
Executed 

Date 

Original 
Contract 

Value 

Total 
Amends 
Through 

FY18 

Amended 
Contract 

Value 

Richmond 
High 
School 

Master 
Planning 
Services 

Baker 
Vilar 
Architects 

2/16/11 $64,500 $1,923,256 $1,987,756 

59 of 175 59 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 25 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Valley View 
Elementary 
School 

Master 
Planning 
Services 

Deems 
Lewis 
McKinley, 
Architects 

1/4/11 $187,500 $2,456,428 $2,643,928 

Fairmont 
Elementary 
School 

Architectural 
Services for 
Critical Needs 

Hibser 
Yamauchi 
Architects 

4/5/18 $24,725 $365,700 $390,425 

Pinole 
Valley High 
School 

Modernization 
Reconstruction 

WLC 
Architects 2/18/11 $8,451,539 $7,738,172 $16,189,711 

Although this practice appears compliant with PCC, processes and procedures can be 
improved upon to evidence of a fair, competitive selection process and pricing. 

Recommendation: As a best practice, competitive bidding and procurement practices 
should include a full evaluation of bidders and the total scope of work on a comparative 
basis to ensure competitive pricing for Bond program objectives. Additionally, while changes 
are not uncommon for publicly funded capital projects and the change order work appeared 
compliant with District policies and state regulations, Management’s rationale for significant 
sole source change order adjustments instead of a new contract should be well 
documented. Absent this information and documentation, the District may pay excessive 
cost for change order work. 

Observation No. 14: The District should have defined approval authority for vendor payment 
processing within the Bond Program policy and procedure manual to ensure appropriate review and 
controls. 

14 

We analyzed processes to review and approve contract charges to prevent overcharges 
and to understand the work flow and cost control processes implemented by the District. We 
reviewed invoices to determine allowability of charges according to Bond requirements, 
work performed, and adequacy of cost support provided, including lien releases. The 
invoice and payment application process provided by the District included step-by-step 
tasks to be performed by the District to verify invoice compliance and readiness for 
processing and payment. However, authority limits, defined roles and responsibilities and 
formal policies and procedures were not available to define appropriate procedures. 

For example, payment approval forms were available for all samples, although approval on 
behalf of the Bonds and Finance department was provided by the Principal Accountant or 
the Fiscal Coordinator for 18 samples. Electronic approval documentation was available to 
evidence approvals by either the Director of Bond Finance and/or Associate Superintendent 
of Operations. Absent defined approval authority, it is unclear whether the vendor payment 
approval process is appropriate and consistent with District expectations.  

Recommendation: Formal written policies and procedures including defined approval 
authority for vendor payment processing should be created and added to a comprehensive 

60 of 175 60 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 26 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Bond Program policy and procedure manual to ensure appropriate review and approval 
controls are in place before vendor payment release (see Recommendation No. 22 for more 
detail). 

Observation No. 15: WCCUSD policy and procedures surrounding project close-out controls should 
be formalized and Board approved. 

15 

The District has not taken steps to address the Project Close-Out Controls recommendation 
(Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 15). We evaluated the District’s policies, 
procedures, and practices to close out projects in accordance with contract requirements. 
This evaluation included review of contract terms, draft policy and procedure, as well as 
supplemental documentation (i.e., close-out checklists, retention policies, etc.) produced by 
the District to standardize and streamline close-out activities.  

Closeout management documentation maintained by project managers was provided, 
including overview of As-Builts, O&M manuals, DSA certification checklists with construction 
manager signatures, and more. However, no example of completed close-out management 
documentation and approval was made available for review. The District also provided 
documentation of Open Submittal Logs maintained within Primavera software to document 
outstanding warranty and M&O submittals for construction projects. Additionally, the District 
provided Draft Bond Program Close Out Procedures, which included sections such as Punch 
Lists, Project Completion Conference, Notice of Completion, Final Application and Certificate 
for Payment, Final Payment for the Architect, and Final Payment for the Construction 
Manager. Draft policy was consistent with Contract language. 

However, through June 30, 2018, no documentation evidencing a consolidated close-out log 
for all projects in the close-out phase had been maintained, completed, approved, or 
included in draft policy and procedures was made available. Specific project close-out 
documentation was available for specific projects upon request; however, a consolidated 
summary report and central file location for projects in the close-out phase, evidencing 
completeness and accuracy, was not available. Further, draft policy and procedures did not 
mention or reference any maintenance or approval of provided close-out management 
documentation. Conversely, the draft policy and procedures appeared to be contract 
language, intended to set required obligations of the District and contractors, as opposed to 
management of internal close out controls and procedures. 

 Recommendation: The District should compile a consolidated project-close out checklist to 
ensure and report on turnover of documentation by contractors and completion of all critical 
tasks prior to release of final payment. Bond Program policy and procedure should update 
associated policies and procedures to reflect current procedures to ensure appropriateness 
(see Recommendation No. 22 for more detail). 

61 of 175 61 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 27 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Observation No. 16: WCCUSD policies and procedures could be improved upon to include pricing 
goals and requirements for future bond issuances. 

16 

The District has taken steps to address Post-Financing Review recommendation (Moss 
Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 16); however formal policies and procedures were not 
available. We evaluated Post-Financing reviews completed by the District and compared to 
established policy and procedures. On June 13, 2018, the District’s financial advisor, KNN 
Public Finance, presented a Summary of 2018 General Obligation Bonds. Material covered 
included transaction overview, pricing highlights, pricing comparison and interest rate 
benchmarking, bond ratings, etc. However, the District did not update policy and procedures 
to include Bond pricing goals or requirements. 

Recommendation: As a best practice, the District should have established pricing goals and 
requirements included within their policies and procedures (see Recommendation No. 22 for 
more detail).  

17 

The District’s current bond structure, bond funding requirements, refunding costs, and 
compliance with refunding requirements per Board policy and regulation were assessed. 
During Fiscal Year 2018, the District issued refunding bonds in the amount of $59,480,000 
on September 6, 2017; approved by the Board on August 9, 2017. The District has Board 
Policy (B.P.) 7214.3, adopted on April 24, 2013, which clearly identifies the purpose of 
refunding/restructuring and the objectives of providing net present value debt service 
savings, providing assistance with tax rate management, and/or adjusting the debt service 
structure. The District consulted with its municipal advisor (KNN Public Finance), Bond 
counsel (Nixon Peabody LLP), and underwriters (J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Piper 
Jaffray & Co.) to determine the most beneficial options for taxpayers and ways to achieve the 
refunding objectives while complying with Board policy guidelines and legal requirements. 

No exception taken. 

18 

Official Bond language and legal limitations regarding the issuance of the Bond were 
analyzed including the terms of voter approved measures regarding investments and 
arbitrage regulations. Funds were invested within the Contra Costa County Investment Pool 
at the discretion of the Contra Costa County Treasurer-Tax Collector Investment Officers, 
and the District is not part of that decision making process. Per Education Code Section 
41001, the District is required to deposit all receipts and collections of monies (including 
Bond proceeds) with the County Treasurer. The Contra Costa County’s Quarterly Investment 
Report through June 30, 2018, provided a report detailing the investment allocations. The 
investment categories include the following: US Treasuries (2.87%), US Agencies (home 
loan banks, credit banks, mortgage corporations, municipal bonds) (21.18%), Supranationals 

62 of 175 62 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 28 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

(10.02%), Money Market Instruments (46.34%), Asset/Mortgage Backed Securities (0%), 
Corporate Notes (5%), Local Agency Investment Fund (11.10%), Cash (3.44%), and other 
(0.05%).  

 No exception taken. 

Observation No 19: There were seven instances where payment processing took longer than 30 
days and was not supported by a payment application/invoice rejection letter justifying the delay. 

19 

The District has not taken steps to address the Timeliness of Payments recommendation 
provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 19). We reviewed 
sampled invoices and payment applications for compliance with the District’s 30-day 
payment process. We also reviewed lien releases and other cost support to ensure timely 
payments to contractors and subcontractors in compliance with contract terms. The District 
has a step-by-step payment process, included within the unofficial policies and procedures, 
which aims at providing payment to contractors who have been compliant with billing 
requirements within 30 days of the District’s receipt of invoices and payment applications. 
These seven instances of non-compliance are broken down into two areas: 

 The following two invoices were stamped as received by Facility Planning and 
Construction and the warrant (payment) date was greater than 30 days from the date the 
invoice was stamped as received: 

Vendor 
No. Vendor Name Invoice 

Number 
Invoice 

Date Amount Check 
Date Days 

26772 
Mobile Modular 
Management 
Corp 

1362093 7/2/2017 245,477.04  8/29/2017 58 

44360 DDLN.INC   6/15/2018 28,050.00  8/7/2018 53 

 

 The following five invoices were not stamped as received by the Facility Planning and 
Construction Department as required per their process. The invoice date was utilized to 
compare against the warrant date, which exceeded the 30-day allotment. A total of 11 of 
the 61 expenditures sampled were not stamped as received by Facility Planning and 
Construction; however, only the following five invoices were not paid within 30 days: 

Vendor 
No. Vendor Name Invoice 

Number 
Invoice 

Date Amount Check 
Date Days 

47954 Hibser Yamauchi 
Architects Inc 

3199_5.6.
7._07 1/15/2018  9,001.19  3/6/2018 50 

48746 
Roebbelen 
Construction 
Management S 14 8/10/2017  83,990.00  9/26/2017 47 

63 of 175 63 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 29 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

17999 A and E Emaar 
10000021

87-1 8/30/2017  96,200.00  10/3/2017 34 

49120 Angotti & Reilly 
Inc 

10000024
49-03 12/15/2017  143,006.33  1/17/2018 33 

48755 Cve Contracting 
Group Inc. 

10000024
50-1 11/3/2017  263,768.00  12/5/2017 32 

 

 

Recommendation: The District’s Facility Planning and Construction Department should 
ensure that each invoice, whether obtained in hard or electronic copy, is signed/stamped as 
received to indicate the initialization of the payment process. For any instances where 
payment has been delayed due to contractor inaccuracies within invoices/payment 
applications, disagreements between work billed and performed, or other discrepancies, the 
District should provide rejection letters to contractors detailing why payment is being delayed. 
This document should be maintained within files or attached to the invoice/payment 
application. 

Observation No. 20: The District no longer tracks local participation and instead relies on 
construction firms to comply with these requirements. 

20 

The District has not taken steps to address the Timeliness of Payments recommendation 
provided in the prior year’s report (Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 20). We reviewed 
District and Board policies to determine any local or socioeconomic participation goals or 
requirements for Bond Program projects. The District had previously contracted Davillier-
Sloan, Inc. to provide monitoring and reporting services for local participation based on the 
information gathered from the contractor’s certified payroll reports. Based on inquiry, the 
District has elected to defer management and measurement of local participation goals to the 
construction firms responsible for the collection and production of all certified payroll reports. 
However, no documentation regarding compliance of good faith efforts to achieve local 
participation goals were available.  

 Recommendation: The District should define its position and role in achieving local 
participation goals and Board Policy should be updated accordingly (see Recommendation 
No. 22 for more detail). 

21 

We assessed the CBOC’s compliance with Board Policy 7214.2, CBOC bylaws, and related 
Education Code sections. We evaluated the effectiveness of the CBOC’s activities and 
reviewed the committee composition for potential independence violations. The CBOC is 
currently composed of 17 member positions, as established by Board Policy. Vacancies 
during Fiscal Year 2018 were identified and posted to the CBOC website. The CBOC 
includes at least five active subcommittees providing specialized focus in the following areas: 
audit, site visit, annual report, website, and bylaws. The members of the Committee have 
proven to be very committed to the established objectives per Board Policy 7214.2, CBOC 

64 of 175 64 of 175



 

Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 30 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

bylaws, and the Education Code. The CBOC meets monthly to discuss Bond Program 
expenditures and reporting though legally required to be done on an annual basis, at a 
minimum. Meeting minutes are uploaded via the District’s website and stress the importance 
of Brown Act compliance with regards to regular CBOC and CBOC Audit Subcommittee 
meetings. 

 No exception taken. 

Observation No. 22: Bond Program policies and procedures should be formalized and approved by 
the Board and the transparency of the Bond Program can be improved.  

22 

The District has taken steps to address Transparency of Bond Program recommendation 
(Moss Adams 2017 Report Objective No. 22); however, formal policies and procedures were 
not available and the CBOC website lacked benchmark information. We reviewed the 
District’s means to reach Bond Program stakeholders with useful and meaningful 
communications. We also assessed the communication channels made available to 
stakeholders to voice concerns, influence projects, etc., to the District. We evaluated the 
overall transparency of the Bond Program including the CBOC’s website, Bond Program 
progress reports, and the availability and access to information regarding Bond expenditures 
against benchmark criteria to be included on Independent Citizens Oversight Committee 
(ICOC) websites, established by the San Diego Taxpayers Educational Foundation (SDTEF) 
for School Bond Transparency. 

The CBOC website included information such as meeting minutes, member vacancies, and 
various Bond Program reports. However, the following benchmark items were not identified 
on the CBOC website: 

● Committee Bylaws – The CBOC bylaws were not available or easily identified on the 
CBOC website. 

● Project Lists – A list of all projects currently being funded by bond amounts was not 
available or easily identified on the CBOC website through June 30, 2018. 

● Project Descriptions – A brief written description of currently funded projects was not 
available or easily identified on the CBOC website through June 30, 2018. 

● Project Progress – The current status and plan of action for each currently funded project 
was not available or easily identified on the CBOC website through June 30, 2018. 

● Number of Vacancies – SDTEF recommends having no vacancies when possible.  

See Appendix C for a comprehensive list of SDTEF benchmark website criteria for School 
Bond Transparency. Transparency by the District is of the utmost importance as there has 
been a shift in resources and responsibilities. One of the main ways other school districts 
improve their transparency is by creating a comprehensive Bond Program policies and 
procedures manual. Policies and procedures for District Bond Program activities were 
requested as part of the performance audit; however, the District did not have a formal 
procedures manual and compiled the practices implemented for invoice review and 
processing, change order review and processing, and bidding and procurement requirements 
upon request. However, the District was able to show progress on a draft program 
management manual, including draft table of contents and outlines, and drafted procedural 
documents for particular processes. 

65 of 175 65 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 31 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

Recommendation: As a best practice, the District should consolidate all policies, 
procedures, and resolutions into one document to ensure effective controls and 
communication of the policies and procedures. The GFOA recommends, within their article 
“Documenting Accounting Policies and Procedures,” that the documentation of accounting 
policies and procedures should be evaluated annually and updated periodically, no less than 
once every three years. Any changes in policies and procedures should be updated in the 
documentation promptly as they occur and a specific employee should be assigned the duty 
of overseeing this process. The resulting documentation can also serve as a useful training 
tool for staff.  

Additionally, per the SDTEF School Bond Transparency Summary Report, continuing 
improvement recommendations for ICOC websites are as follows: 

● Update all information on the ICOC’s website on a regular basis, including posting up-to-
date agendas, minutes, financial and performance audits, and annual reports. Access to
up-to-date information is vital to transparency. Districts should frequently update all
website materials to reflect the most accurate information. Audits and financial reports
should be available in a timelier fashion, as they should take no longer than a few months
to prepare. Similarly, project status updates should be regularly provided— not just as
budget updates, but construction progress with expected timelines for completion as well.

● Adjust ICOC website organization to make it easy to navigate and find specific
information. Simply including all of the recommended information such as financial audits
and meeting minutes does not guarantee transparency. Instead, an ideal ICOC website
would organize these files by type and date in separate links, so that any interested party
could easily find the information available. All files are important, but they are often not
easy to differentiate between, especially when uploaded with a nondescript file name.
Grossmont-Cuyamaca Community College District, Cajon Valley Union School District,
and San Diego Community College District work as good models for how to organize the
ICOC website, and can serve as a starting point for other districts. These districts stand
out for having a website with a user-friendly interface in which all information is
categorized and presented separately for better navigation.

Through June 30, 2018 the Bond Oversight Committee had vacancies. As a best practice, 
the District should evaluate communications options (i.e., appropriate communication 
channels) to ensure no vacancies within the CBOC consistent with the SDCTA guidance. 
Additionally, the District should create a comprehensive Bond Program policies and 
procedures manual for presentation to the Board. This manual should highlight all the 
functional areas related to Bond Program activities such as, but not limited to, staffing, 
procurement, financial controls, document control, budgeting practices, master planning, 
scheduling, invoice/payment application review and processing, change order review and 
processing, and claims avoidance and management. 

66 of 175 66 of 175



67 of 175 67 of 175



68 of 175 68 of 175



69 of 175 69 of 175



70 of 175 70 of 175



71 of 175 71 of 175



72 of 175 72 of 175



73 of 175 73 of 175



74 of 175 74 of 175



75 of 175 75 of 175



76 of 175 76 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 42 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

APPENDIX A: LIST OF INTERVIEWEES 
The following key WCCUSD personnel were interviewed: 

• Associate Superintendent of Business Services
• Associate Superintendent Operations
• Bond Oversight Committee Members
• Director of Business Services
• Director of Communications
• Director of Contracts Administration
• Engineering Officer
• Fiscal Coordinator
• Internal Auditor

77 of 175 77 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 43 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

APPENDIX B: COST BENEFIT AND VALUE 
ENGINEERING ANALYSES 
The following guidelines and recommendations can be utilized by the District to maximize 
value engineering (VE) studies and cost benefit analyses. 

• Identify whether or not a VE study should be conducted for each project (or a
component) prior to finalization of the contract.

• Prepare a revised scope of work template that is consistent with SAVE International®
guidelines.

• Set a delivery date within a short period of time following the last day of the VE
workshop (three days is suggested by SAVE International).

• Include scope for VE team leader to attend the District’s decision meeting regarding
acceptance or rejection of the VE team recommendations to ensure that decision
makers have a full and complete understanding of the recommendations.

• Provide the details of the VE process to all construction contractors as part of the
bidding process information.

The District should conduct VE studies to determine the goals and needs of the District. This 
can be conducted in three phases: pre-workshop, workshop, and post-workshop. 

• Define the District’s expectations for conducting a VE study workshop and provide it to
all VE team leaders in advance of conducting each workshop.

• Ensure that sufficient time is available to the VE team leader and team members to
accomplish all pre-workshop activities.

• Require pre-workshop preparation of matrix or graphical models of capital cost,
operations and maintenance (O&M) cost, lifecycle cost, energy, space, time, or other
project characteristics as needed to provide the VE team with appropriate insights into
the distribution of these critical elements through the project components.

• Distribute presentation outlines to the District project managers and the design project
manager to provide guidance about the information they need to present during the
information phase on the first day of the VE workshop.

• Have the VE team cost estimator(s) conduct a validation of the project construction cost
estimate in advance of the VE workshop to identify any areas of concern in the estimate.

• Ensure involvement by at least two VE team members (one planning and construction
design/project management staff member who is not part of the design team for the

78 of 175 78 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 44 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

project and one staff member from operations and maintenance) appropriate to the type 
of project for the duration of at least half of the workshop. 

• Provide the VE team with a list of clear and well-defined true constraints on the VE team
to help them stay focused.

• Ensure that a function analysis of the specific project is conducted with the VE team
during the workshop. It must be specific to the project rather than borrowing functions
identified in previous VE studies.

• Ensure that the creative process is truly creative and is not limited to proven ideas.
• Attend a mid-workshop review of the “shortlist” of VE ideas with representatives of

operations and maintenance as well as the design team and identify any ideas with “fatal
flaws” and any ideas not on the shortlist that should be added.

• Ensure attendance at the VE team presentation by representatives of all of the internal
stakeholder groups (i.e., Facility Planning and Construction, Finance) within the District
that are relevant to the VE study.

• Require that the VE team leader, assistant, or another team leader review each
recommendation for completeness and correctness before the end of the workshop.

• Require the design team to respond to each VE recommendation and design suggestion
with the same level of detail as is contained in the VE recommendation. Require detailed
documentation if the design team disagrees with the VE team’s estimated cost impacts
of the recommendation. Require detailed justification for recommendations to reject any
VE recommendation.

• Ensure that all key stakeholders respond to the VE recommendations and are
represented at the post-workshop decision meeting, including the VE team leader.

• Ensure that the results of each VE study are entered in the various tracking systems that
are part of the Bond Program.

• Incorporate a line item in the budget for the VE that includes funds for VE program
associated expenses, training for VE program staff and design project manager, and
consultant services for VE studies. Make the head of the VE program responsible for
meeting that budget. Include a contingency allowance in the budget for VE studies that
may be identified at a later date.

• Set a VE study budget for each project in the District’s Master Plan.
• Check the VE budget for each project to confirm that it falls between 0.5 percent and 2

percent of the project construction cost.

79 of 175 79 of 175



Proposition 39 Bond Performance Audit Report for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 | 45 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

APPENDIX C: SAN DIEGO TAXPAYERS 
EDUCATIONAL FOUNDATION CRITERIA FOR 
SCHOOL BOND TRANSPARENCY 
The following best practice criteria for ICOC websites was utilized by the SDTEF to measure 
school bond program transparency: 

• Committee Bylaws: A link to the committee bylaws is available on the ICOC website.
• Member Information: A list of the names of all ICOC members is available on the ICOC

website.
• Meeting Minutes/Agendas: Links to the most up-to-date meeting minutes and agendas

are available on the ICOC websites.
• Additional Meeting Material: Links to attachments, appendixes, presentations, and

other additional materials for every ICOC meetings are available on the ICOC website.
• Annual Reports: A link to the Annual Reports is available on the ICOC website.
• Performance Audits: A link to separate Performance Audits is available on the ICOC

website, or under a separate heading within the Financial Audits.
• Financial Audits: A link to the Financial Audit is available on the ICOC website.
• Project List: All projects currently being funded by the bond are listed on the ICOC

website.
• Project Descriptions: A brief written description of each project can be found on the

ICOC website.
• Project Progress: The current status and plan of action for each project can be found

on the ICOC website.
• Bond Background: A brief description of the bond, for what it is intended, when it was

passed, and its amount can be found on the ICOC website.
• Contact Information: The school district phone number and an email address of the

ICOC point of contact is listed on the ICOC website.
• Vacancies listed: Any committee vacancies, expected vacancies, or lack of vacancies

are listed on the ICOC website.
• Number of Vacancies: The number of current ICOC committee vacancies is listed on

the ICOC website. While this is not a scored criterion, SDTEF recommends having no
vacancies when possible.

• Prior Year Reports Available: The Prior Year Audits and Annual Reports are available
on the ICOC website. This criterion must be met in order to meet the criteria listed
below.

• Budget Overview: A breakdown of how the budget was allocated for the past year is
found in the annual report or audit.

• Program Status Updates: An explanation of the current status of the bond program is
found in the annual report or audit.

80 of 175 80 of 175



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

81 of 175 81 of 175



FINAL REPORT 

West Contra Costa Unified School District 
FORENSIC ACCOUNTING INVESTIGATION IMPLEMENTATION REVIEW 

March 20, 2019 

Moss Adams LLP 
101 Second Street, Suite 900 

San Francisco, CA 94105 
(415) 956-1500

82 of 175 82 of 175



 

March 20, 2019 

Mr. David Johnston 
Executive Director, General Services 
West Contra Costa Unified School District 
1400 Marina Way South 
Richmond, CA 94804 

Dear Mr. Johnston: 

Thank you for the opportunity to perform the implementation plan review for the West Contra 
Costa Unified School District Bond Program. This report summarizes the results of the first 
phase of the Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review. 

This engagement was performed in accordance with the Standards for Consulting Services 
established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accounts and delivered in accordance 
with phase one of our professional services agreement dated November 14, 2017. The scope 
of this engagement is outlined in the body of our report. This report was developed based on 
our review of information and criteria provided by the District. 

This report is intended solely for the use of the West Contra Costa Unified School District, and 
may not be provided to, used, or relied upon by any third parties. Moss Adams LLP does not 
accept any responsibility to any other party to whom this report may be shown or into whose 
hands it may come. 

We appreciate the opportunity to help you continuously improve your construction program 
performance. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you have any questions or need further 
assistance regarding this important matter. 

Sincerely, 

Moss Adams LLP 

83 of 175 83 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report 

WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  
 

Table of Contents 

I. Executive Summary 1 

Recommendations 2 

II. Background Information 4 

III. Objective, Scope, and Methodology 6 

IV. Observations 7 

a. Implemented Through June 30, 2017 7 

b. Partially Implemented Through June 30, 2017 20 

c. Not Implemented Through June 30, 2017 35 

d. Undetermined 36 
 
 

84 of 175 84 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 1 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  

 

I. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
Moss Adams LLP (Moss Adams) reviewed the implementation progress of recommendations provided in Vicenti, Lloyd & 
Stutzman LLP’s (VLS) Phase II Report of Forensic Accounting Investigation (FAI Report). We reviewed 62 of the third-party 
recommendations noted as implemented by the West Contra Costa Unified School District (the District) as of June 30, 2017. As 
part of this review, we interviewed District and Bond Program personnel and reviewed relevant documentation to determine the 
status of implementations identified within VLS’s report dated September 16, 2016. Through inquiry and review of documents, we 
confirmed that of the 62 recommendations outlined in the District’s DRAFT Phase II Forensic Accounting Investigation Report 
Implementation Plan (Implementation Plan), provided by the Implementation Task Force and dated July 2017, 33 out of 62 of the 
recommendations were implemented, 19 out of 62 were partially implemented, three out of 62 were not implemented, and seven 
out of 62 were undetermined through June 30, 2017. Category classifications are defined below: 

• Implemented – The District implemented the FAI recommendations through June 30, 2017. 
• Partially Implemented – Steps towards implementation were noted through June 30, 2017; however, District deliverable 

exceptions were identified. 
• Not Implemented – Evidence of implementation or steps towards implementation by the District was not available through 

June 30, 2017. 
• Undetermined – Implementation could not be determined due to either attorney-client privileged documentation held by the 

District or unverifiable implementation evidence. As such, the documentation was not made available for review by the District 
and Moss Adams was unable to determine whether implementation had occurred. Additionally, formal policies and 
procedures were not updated. 

Management responses from District facility staff are reported below. Moss Adams reviewed the specific recommendations given 
to the District within the FAI Report, the District’s implementation response (noted as “Deliverables” within the District’s 
Implementation Plan), and the date of implementation through June 30, 2017. The District’s Implementation Plan and associated 
Deliverables were available on the District’s website. Observations for each of the recommendations can be found in the report. 
In certain instances, Moss Adams classified a recommendation as not implemented, partially implemented, or undetermined 
which differed from District management’s classification as implemented. This was due either because information was not 
available to Moss Adams, recommendation implementation Deliverables were not well-defined, and/or implementation occurred 

85 of 175 85 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 2 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

after June 30, 2017. We recommend that these instances be revisited in the subsequent implementation review to ensure 
appropriate District classification. Please see recommendations below for additional information. 

To summarize the implementation evaluation, we categorized the status of each recommendation as follows: 

IMPLEMENTATION STATUS CATEGORY 
RECOMMENDATIONS 

REVIEWED VLS RECOMMENDATION REFERENCE NO. 

Recommendation Implemented as of June 30, 2017 33 

TC: 4-1, 4-3, 4-4, 4-5, 7-2, 8-3, 8-5, 8-6, 9-1,11-4, 11-5, 
12-2, 13-3, 13-4, 13-9, 16-9

FI: 3-2, 3-3, 3-4, 3-5, 4-1, 4-2, 7-2, 7-4, 7-5, 7-6, 8-1, 11-
1, 11-2, 7-3 

Admin Nos.: 1, 3, 4 

Partially Implemented as of June 30, 2017. 19 TC: 1-1, 4-2, 4-6, 6-2, 6-3, 6-4, 6-5, 6-6, 7-1, 7-3, 7-4, 7-
5, 8-1, 8-2, 8-4, 13-2, 13-5, 13-7, 13-8 

Not Implemented as of June 30, 2017 3 TC: 16-5, 16-6, 16-10 

Undetermined 7 
TC: 11-2 

FI: 1-4, 1-5, 3-6, 3-8, 10-1, 10-2 

Total Reviewed Recommendations 62 

The District has made progress towards the implementation of VLS’s Phase II recommendations; however, there are areas where 
implementation can be improved upon. The District should consider the following as part of their effort to effectively implement 
VLS recommendations in a reasonable, transparent manner:  

1. The District should review all reported implementation exceptions and ensure processes are consistently implemented going
forward. The District should review each of these recommendations and the processes associated with these

86 of 175 86 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 3 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  

 

implementations to ensure the intended process and control improvements are consistently applied. Development of proper 
policies and procedures will help formalize these processes and reduce the risk of noncompliance. 

2. The District should consider improving its current Implementation Plan by ensuring measurable Deliverables for all VLS 
recommendations. Based on our audit procedures performed, certain Deliverables identified within the Implementation Plan 
were determined to not be measurable. For example, the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan for TC 6-4 
stated, “Up the duties of the Principal Accountant” and for TC 7-2 stated, “This is current practice.” Furthermore, FI11-1 had 
no Deliverable specified to address VLS’s recommendation. The District should ensure each VLS recommendation’s 
implementation Deliverable is well-defined, with a specific action and measurable results, if possible. This will ensure a 
measurable plan of action while promoting transparency of approach and resolution. 

3. The District should consider exploring opportunities to utilize external services for policy and procedure drafting and 
formalization. In recent fiscal years, the District has experienced reduced Bond Program staffing due to employee departure 
and turnover. This has caused expanded duties and higher workloads for current employees during the interim. As a result, 
auxiliary objectives, such as policy and procedure drafting and formalization, have been restricted even further. With current 
staffing resource restrictions, the District should consider exploring the use of external professional services to achieve 
specialized objectives such as policy and procedure drafting. Utilizing an external service provider can free up internal 
resources while also leveraging external expertise and expediting the completion of current objectives. 

87 of 175 87 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 4 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  

 

II. BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
On October 7, 2015, the District Board of Education awarded a contract to Vicenti, Lloyd & Stutzman LLP (VLS) to provide the 
Subcommittee for the Clay Investigation (the Subcommittee) with: 

• A fraud risk assessment of a District employee’s complaint, which alleged acts of gross mismanagement, negligence, and 
malfeasance in the District’s bond program, identifying the highest risks of waste or improper expenditure 

• Guidance to the Board’s Subcommittee in providing a scope for a forensic accounting investigation  
• A scope of work for completion of the forensic accounting investigation of high-priority items for approval by the Board’s 

Subcommittee 

On January 7, 2016, VLS delivered to the Subcommittee a two-part deliverable as contracted for in Phase I of the Forensic 
Accounting Investigation. This consisted of the Bond Program Fraud Risk Assessment Matrix and a Proposed Scope of Work for 
Phase II forensic accounting services. 

On September 16, 2016, the District received the Phase II Report of Forensic Accounting Investigation Final Report (FAI Report) 
prepared by VLS. The Phase II report included updated risk scores, additional testing and investigation, and implementation 
recommendations. Specifically, 75 recommendations resulting from their test of controls (TC), 33 recommendations resulting from 
their forensic investigation (FI), and four recommendations resulting from overall operational and administrative efficiencies 
review, for a total of 112 recommendations. 

During VLS’s investigation and development of the Phase II report, the District was provided an opportunity to review and 
respond to each recommendation. At the time the recommendations were provided to the District, the results of the testing (or 
background work) were not provided to the District prior to the report being finalized and published. However, in general, the 
District agreed with the recommendations. Subsequently, as recommended by VLS, the District formed an Implementation Task 
Force, assigned with creating an implementation plan and monitoring and reporting the plan’s implementation. 

Per the District’s Implementation Task Force, District management released an implementation matrix, noting the status of each 
of the 112 recommendations. As of June 30, 2017, the matrix noted that 62 of the 112 recommendations had been implemented. 

On November 7, 2017, the District awarded a contract to Moss Adams LLP for a two-part review of the VLS recommendation 
implementations. Part One was to review and report on the status of the 62 recommendations stated as implemented by the 

88 of 175 88 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 5 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

 

District as of June 30, 2017. Part Two was to review and report on the remaining recommendations once they have been 
implemented. This report incorporates Part One of the review. 

89 of 175 89 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 6 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT  

 

III. OBJECTIVE, SCOPE, AND METHODOLOGY 
The objective of this assessment was to provide the District with a review of the implementation progress of VLS’s forensic 
accounting investigation recommendations. The District’s forensic accounting investigation report dated September 16, 2016 and 
the District’s implementation matrix showed that 62 of the 112 recommendations had been implemented as of June 30, 2017. 
These 62 recommendations, marked as implemented, comprised the scope of this initial review. Specific areas of review 
included: 

• Recommendations provided by VLS and confirmed by the District  
• The District’s implementation plan and subsequent updates as provided to the facilities subcommittee  
• Additions and modifications made to policies and procedures to verify they meet the objectives identified within District 

Implementation Plan Deliverables as a result of the Forensic Accounting Investigation, if applicable 
• Sampled documents to confirm procedures have been put into practice when applicable. The following samples were 

selected and reviewed for Budget Transfers and Amendments, Vendor Payments, Vendor Contract Procurement, and Vendor 
Change Orders and Amendments between the period of December 1, 2016 and June 30, 2017: 
○ Budget Transfers and Amendments – A population of 387 separate budget transfers and amendments occurred during 

the review period. A total of 107 transfers and amendments were sampled. 
○ Vendor Payments – A population of 1,404 vendor payments totaling $55,257,981 occurred during the review period. 

Thirty-four vendor payments were sampled, totaling $20,020,798. 
○ Vendor Contract Procurement – A population of 39 vendor contracts totaling $1,374,939 were procured during the review 

period. Eight vendor contracts were sampled, totaling $801,365. Five of these samples included professional and special 
service vendors, totaling $384,035. The remaining three samples were for construction vendors, totaling $417,330. 

○ Vendor Change Orders and Amendments – A population of 104 vendor change orders and amendments totaling 
$2,309,001 occurred during the review period. Twenty change orders and amendments were sampled, totaling 
$1,066,760. 

• The roles and responsibilities of relevant District staff and conducting interviews 
○ Interviewees included the Associate Superintendent, Director of Contract Administration, (former) Director of Internal 

Audit, Internal Auditor 
 

90 of 175 90 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 7 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

IV. OBSERVATIONS 
 

The following table is organized by Implementation Status Category (i.e., Implemented, Partially Implemented, Not Implemented, and Undetermined) through June 30, 2017, 
with each recommendation referenced by its original VLS Phase II - Forensic Accounting Investigation Final Report identifying number. The VLS Risk Rating for each 
recommendation listed in this table is the same as the risk score VLS assigned to the allegation(s) pertaining to the recommendation. 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 4-1 Medium ML# 4 The District implemented the TC 4-1 Compliance with Legal Requirements and Board 
Policies - Governance recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We reviewed the 
Governance Handbook (revised May 17, 2017, BOE approved July 19, 2017) inclusion 
of Board member management limitations. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “Revised Governance Handbook BOE 11/2/2016. Revised 
Governance Handbook with newly added Vendor and Relations section (page 19) 
providing guidance on how board members should refrain from performing 
management functions, prohibits board members from directing the work of vendors, 
consultants, contractors, or others. Revisions also include language on site visitations 
which incorporates BP 9200.” We reviewed the Governance Handbook's inclusion of 
Board member responsibilities, noting the explicit exclusion of day-to-day management 
activities (pg. 11) and a Vendor and Relations section (pg. 19). 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

TC 4-3 Medium ML# 6 The District implemented the TC 4-3 Compliance with Legal Requirements and Board 
Policies - Governance recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We reviewed the 
Governance Handbook (revised May 17, 2017, BOE approved July 19, 2017) inclusion 
of Board member restrictions related to conflict of interest. Per the Deliverables section 
of the District's Implementation Plan, “Revised Governance Handbook BOE 11/2/16. 
Revised Governance Handbook on page 21 to add a summary of existing bylaw 9270 
which sets out the District’s conflict of interest code. Language was also incorporated 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

91 of 175 91 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 8 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
regarding solicitation of donations and ethical conduct.” We reviewed the Governance 
Handbook's Conflicts of Interest section (pg. 21). 

TC 4-4 Medium ML# 7 The District implemented the TC 4-4 Compliance with Legal Requirements and Board 
Policies - Governance recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We reviewed the 
Governance Handbook (revised May 17, 2017, BOE approved July 19, 2017) inclusion 
of Vendor Communications Relations and Board member disclosure requirements. Per 
the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Revised Governance 
Handbook BOE 11/2/2016. Revised Governance Handbook on page 19 to address 
Vendor Communications and Relations. Legal Counsel recommended that the 
Governance Handbook / Board Policies not be modified to include language to require 
disclosure in every instance due to it being unprecedented and would be difficult to 
administer. Board discussion with legal counsel on 11/2/2016 regarding this matter.” 
We reviewed the Governance Handbook's inclusion of a Vendor and Relations section 
(pg. 19). Required Board member disclosure of any relationship was not included in 
the handbook, as the District determined it unnecessary. Board of Education Regular 
Meeting minutes dated 11/2/16 included Action Item F.1, “Discuss and Approve 
Governance Handbook Revisions,” and was approved unanimously by the Board. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

TC 4-5 Medium ML# 8 The District implemented the TC 4-5 Compliance with Legal Requirements and Board 
Policies - Governance recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We reviewed the 
Governance Handbook (revised May 17, 2017, BOE approved July 19, 2017) inclusion 
of guidance on Board member appropriateness of proposing contract amendments. 
Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Legal Counsel 
recommended that the Governance Handbook and Board Policies not be modified due 
to a concern of practicality. A formal process for contract amendments, including 
review by counsel in every instance, would significantly increase the cost and time 
necessary for contract amendment approval. Legal counsel provided memorandum 
dated 10/19/2016. Legal counsel made recommendation (above) to BOE on 11/2/16 
(see agenda).” We reviewed the Governance Handbook's inclusion of Board member 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

92 of 175 92 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 9 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
responsibility for making contract amendments (pg. 19). No legal counsel review of 
modification to contract terms was included in handbook, as it was determined 
unnecessary by the District. Board of Education Regular Meeting minutes dated 
11/2/16 included Action item F.1, “Discuss and Approve Governance Handbook 
Revisions,” and was approved unanimously by the Board. 

TC 7-2 Medium ML# 22 The District has implemented the TC 7-2 Vendor Contract Administration - Vendor Due 
Diligence recommendation prior to June 30, 2017. We evaluated documented 
Contractor License review prior to Contract execution. Per the Deliverables section of 
the District's Implementation Plan, “This is current practice.” However, the District’s 
deliverable to address VLS’s recommendation was determined to not be measurable 
for our audit procedures (see Recommendation No. 2 for further information). The VLS 
recommendation stated, “Ensure that the review of contractor’s license information is 
documented and maintained for all construction contracts to demonstrate completion 
of this critical compliance step.” We sampled three construction contractors procured 
by the District, noting documentation of contractor licenses was available and print 
dated prior to contract execution, consistent with the VLS recommendation. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

TC 8-3 Medium ML# 28 The District implemented the TC 8-3 Vendor Contract Administration - Vendor 
Contracts recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated annual updates 
from legal and reviewed sampled vendor contracts for significant deviations. Per the 
Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel provides 
annual updates for all contract templates to ensure comprehensive protection for the 
District. The District requires legal counsel approval for any deviations from the 
approved contract templates.” We reviewed updates from legal, noting front-end legal 
document updates were attached from the legal counsel email dated March 27, 2017. 
Additionally, no significant contract deviations were noted within sampled contracts. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

93 of 175 93 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 10 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 8-5 Medium ML# 30 The District implemented the TC 8-5 Vendor Contract Administration - Vendor 
Contracts recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated vendor payment 
workflow and controls to mitigate vendor payment before confirmation of an executed 
agreement. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “The 
executed contract is a required attachment in the financial system prior to the financial 
record being released into workflow approval. If a financial record is released without 
the required attachments, it will be rejected until the contract is complete.” We 
performed a walkthrough of vendor payment workflow in the Munis system, noting that 
a payment can only be made after the record’s Contract status is changed to “Posted.” 
A Contract record will not be marked as “Posted” until an executed contract is 
attached. The systematic status change and contract attachment is administered by 
the Director of Contracts. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

TC 8-6 Medium ML# 31 The District has implemented the TC 8-6 Vendor Contract Administration - Vendor 
Contracts recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated the Notice to 
Proceed document updated December 14, 2016. Per the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “Revised Notice to Proceed.” We reviewed the updated 
Notice to Proceed template document, noting notice to proceed date and contract 
execution date sections were present. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

TC 9-1 Low ML# 34 The District implemented the TC 9-1 Vendor Contract Administration - Bidding Process 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Per the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “The proof of publishing will be retained in the Project 
file. The proof of publishing will also be retained in the central program file.” We 
sampled three construction contractors procured by the District, noting two instances 
of proof of publication documentation available and one instance as not applicable 
(under the $45,000 threshold for bidding procedures).  

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

94 of 175 94 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 11 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 11-4 Medium ML# 38 The District has implemented the TC 11-4 Vendor Contract Administration - Invoice 
Payments recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Procedural documents were 
drafted; however, they were not approved by the Board as of June 30, 2018. We 
sampled District expenditures during the review period confirming payment approval 
form completion. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, 
“The Facilities Planning Specialist prepares the coversheet and ensure all signature 
are collected for approvals. Once all signatures are completed, the invoice and 
approval coversheet is provided to the Fiscal department for a secondary confirmation 
and processing within the financial system.” We reviewed sampled District 
expenditures occurring between December 2016 and June 2017, noting payment 
approval forms were signed and completed prior to payment processing for all 
sampled expenditures. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

TC 11-5 Medium ML# 39 The District has implemented the TC 11-5 Vendor Contract Administration - Invoice 
Payments recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Procedural documents were 
drafted; however, they were not approved by the Board as of June 30, 2018. We 
sampled District expenditures during the review period confirming payment approval 
form completion. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, 
“The Facilities Planning Specialist prepares the coversheet and ensure all signature 
are collected for approvals. Once all signatures are completed, the invoice and 
approval coversheet is provided to the Fiscal department for a secondary confirmation 
and processing within the financial system. (See ML#38)” We reviewed sampled 
District expenditures occurring between December 2016 and June 2017, noting 
payment approval forms for construction projects were signed by the District Project 
Manager. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

TC 12-2 Medium ML# 41 The District has implemented the TC 12-2 Billings and Performance of Outside 
Construction Manager Recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Procedural 
documents were drafted, however, were not board approved through June 30, 2018. 
We evaluated review and approval of staffing level and rate changes for Construction 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 

Implemented 

95 of 175 95 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 12 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
Management Services. Based on the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “Staff reviews and approves staffing levels and bill rates." We 
performed walkthrough of Director of Contract's analysis and review of billing rate 
charges on August 31, 2018 for Construction Management Services for Roebbelen 
Construction Management to prevent any rates charges not compliant with the 
Contract. Excel sheets were maintained locally by the Director of Contracts; however, 
no specific or formal confirmation, approval, or procedure was in place. We also noted 
construction management contract template article 7.2 requires any proposal for 
change in personnel to be communicated in writing by the vendor. 

confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

TC 13-3 Medium ML# 44 The District implemented the TC 13-3 Change Order Approval and Accounting 
Practices recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated Primavera forms 
utilized for District change order approval and compliance. Per the Deliverables 
section of the District's Implementation Plan, “The forms have been updated in 
Primavera. The change order checklist documents compliance with all the signature 
requirements.” We reviewed change order checklist forms, noting they were updated 
to include appropriate signatures for construction change orders.  

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

TC 13-4 Medium ML# 45 The District implemented the TC 13-4 Change Order Approval and Accounting 
Practices recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated sampled change 
order packet contents and staff approval and execution of change order document. Per 
the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “The District has 
implemented a process that includes: printing the Board precis the day after the Board 
meeting and including it in the change order packet for every change order approved 
by the Board. The full packet is provided to staff for signature ratification after the 
Board approval / ratification.” We sampled 13 construction change orders procured by 
the District, noting the change order packet contents were available for all samples, 
dated prior to staff signature execution of change order document. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

96 of 175 96 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 13 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 13-9 Medium ML# 50 The District implemented the TC 13-9 Change Order Approval and Accounting 
Practices recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated sampled add 
service change request board presentations for inclusion of historical information. Per 
the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “The format was revised. 
The approved format will be used for all future Bond add-service requests. Example: 
BOE 10/5/16, Item G10 including two attachments (Engineering Approval Table, 
Engineering Contract Amendments) All changes were communicated to the Board and 
community in a Friday Memo (9/30/16). “ We sampled seven add service change 
requests, noting Board presentation included professional service summary tables, 
including prior contract total, proposed amendment amount, scope of services, and 
scope of service changes. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented  

TC 16-9 Medium ML# 74 The District implemented the TC 16-9 Financial Reporting recommendation provided in 
the FAI Report. We evaluated the use of commitment terminology within the “Bond 
Program Spending by Site” report. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, the District “will use word ‘commitments’ instead of 
‘encumbrances’ on multi-year report.” We performed an on-site review of the multi-
year spending by site reports, noting the use of the commitment term and the absence 
of the encumbrance term. 

This item has been implemented. Staff 
will continue to be trained to ensure this 
continues. 

Implemented 

FI 3-2 N/A ML# 86 The District implemented the FI 3-2 Vendor Contract Administration - SGI 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated Friday Memo contents and 
sampled vendor contracts. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation 
Plan, “Legal counsel reviewed the recommendations and provided contractual 
revisions to strengthen the existing contact and amendment templates. Friday Memo 
to the Board (12-30-16)” We reviewed the Friday Memo contents, confirming the 
communication of various contract revisions to the Board on December 30, 2016, 
including changes to invoicing, subcontractors, duration of services, and the right to 
audit clause. Additionally, a right to audit clause was noted in sampled contracts. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

97 of 175 97 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 14 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

FI 3-3 N/A ML# 87 The District implemented the FI 3-3 Vendor Contract Administration - SGI 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We sampled District expenditures during 
the review period confirming payment approval form completion. Per the Deliverables 
section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Notification was sent to all vendors 
providing hourly services in October 2016 identifying the invoice requirements. In 
November, any vendor that failed to provide the invoicing detail requirements were 
notified and invoices were rejected. Legal counsel reviewed the recommendation and 
provided contractual revisions to strengthen the existing contract and amendment 
templates.” We reviewed sampled District expenditures occurring between December 
2016 and June 2017, noting all invoices for vendors paid on actual hours included 
timecard detail for vendor employee charges. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

FI 3-4 N/A ML# 88 The District implemented the FI 3-4 Vendor Contract Administration - SGI 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated Friday Memo contents and 
sampled vendor contracts. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation 
Plan, “Legal counsel reviewed the recommendations and provided contractual 
revisions to strengthen the existing contact and amendment templates. Friday Memo 
to the Board (12-30-16). Legal counsel amended the District's Right to Audit section. 
(June 2017).” We reviewed the Friday Memo contents, confirming the communication 
of various contract revisions to the Board on December 30, 2016, including changes to 
invoicing, subcontractors, duration of services, and the right to audit clause. 
Additionally we noted an updated right to audit clause within one sampled vendor 
contract occurring in June of 2017. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

FI 3-5 N/A ML# 89 The District implemented the FI 3-5 Vendor Contract Administration - SGI 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated District asset procurement 
methods by vendors and responsible parties for inventory tagging. Per the 
Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “The proposal approval form 
and Munis document the authorization for all purchases. The inventory process is 
implemented for asset management and tracking.” We reviewed sampled vendors, 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 

Implemented 

98 of 175 98 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 15 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
noting no vendors were permitted to purchase assets for the District. Per the Director 
of Contracts, no vendors can purchase assets for the District; the District procures all 
its own assets. Inventory tagging for asset management is administered by the 
Director of General Services. 

confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

FI 4-1 N/A ML# 93 The District implemented the FI 4-1 Vendor Contract Administration - SGI 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated Friday Memo contents and 
an RFQ/RFP example including legal review. Based on the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel reviewed the recommendations and 
provided contractual revisions to strengthen the existing contact and amendment 
templates. Friday Memo to the Board (12-30-16). Legal counsel prepared draft 
RFQ/RFP incorporating all recommendations.” We reviewed the Friday Memo 
contents, confirming the communication of various contract revisions to the Board on 
December 30, 2016, including changes to invoicing, subcontractors, duration of 
services, and the right to audit clause. Additionally, an RFQ/RFP preparation example 
was provided for the Crespi MS Gymnasium Seismic project, which included the legal 
review and revisions for the contract template, dated October 31, 2016.  

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented.  

Implemented 

FI 4-2 N/A ML# 94 The District implemented the FI4-2 Vendor Contract Administration - SGI 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated sampled vendor contracts 
and performed walkthroughs of rate confirmation procedures performed during the 
payment process by the Director of Contracts. Per the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel reviewed the recommendations and 
provided contractual revisions to strengthen the existing contact and amendment 
templates. Friday Memo to the Board (12-30-16)”. We sampled eight vendor contracts, 
noting start and end dates were identified for all sampled vendor contract documents 
procured after the District’s reported implementation date. Additionally, we walked 
through payment processing procedures, noting contractual rates are confirmed by the 
Director of Contracts before invoices are approved. Excel sheets are maintained 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

99 of 175 99 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 16 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
locally by the Director of Contracts; however, no specific or formal confirmation, 
approval, or procedure was in place.  

FI 7-2 N/A ML# 99 The District implemented the FI 7-2 Vendor Contract Administration - Architect Firms 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated the District’s use and 
maintenance of the Pre-Qualified Architect List. Per the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “The District implemented this recommendation for 
solicitation for the Crespi MS Gymnasium Seismic Retrofit Master Plan Project. The 
District recently released a new RFQ for Architectural Services.” We reviewed the RFP 
solicitation and price proposals received for the Crespi MS Gymnasium Seismic 
Retrofit Master Plan Project, noting three proposals were considered for competitive 
prices. We reviewed the Pre-Qualified Architects List noting an updated RFQ, # 
2017AOR – S, dated September 18, 2017 and amended September 22, 2017 was 
issued for update to the pre-qualified list.  

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

FI 7-3 N/A ML# 100 The District implemented the FI7-3 Vendor Contract Administration - Architect Firms 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated the inclusion of existing 
condition and related reports and drawings inclusion in construction bid documents. 
Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “This is part of the 
current practice.” However, the District’s deliverable to address VLS’s recommendation 
was determined to not be measurable for our audit procedures (see Recommendation 
No. 2 for further information). The VLS recommendation stated, “If the District performs 
professional services, including, but not limited to, geotechnical, hazardous materials 
studies, and traffic mitigation, ensure that any reports or drawings related to those 
services are included in the project prior to going out to bid. If architect design services 
are required for the project, ensure these reports or drawings are provided to the 
architect early in the design process. This will help prevent claims from architects 
related to delays caused by unknown site or other conditions.” We reviewed the bid 
documentation for two sampled construction vendors procured under formal bid, noting 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

100 of 175 100 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 17 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
reference to existing conditions and related reports were made within both projects’ bid 
sets. 

FI 7-4 N/A ML# 101 The District implemented the F I7-4 Vendor Contract Administration - Architect Firms 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Per the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “This is part of the current practice. The process has 
been formalized through the architectural form of contract.” We sampled four 
architectural contracts procured by the District, noting a not-to-exceed amount for all 
four contracts. No instance of a vendor dispute was identified in the sampled vendors. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

FI 7-5 N/A ML# 102 The District implemented the F I7-5 Vendor Contract Administration - Architect Firms 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Per the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel reviewed the recommendations and 
provided contractual revisions to strengthen the existing contact and amendment 
templates. Friday Memo to the Board (12-30-16)” We reviewed the Friday Memo 
contents, confirming the communication of various contract revisions to the Board on 
December 30, 2016, including changes to invoicing, subcontractors, duration of 
services, and the right to audit clause. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

FI 7-6 N/A ML# 103 The District implemented the FI 7-6 Vendor Contract Administration - Architect Firms 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. We evaluated the procurement for the 
most recent master planning services. Based on the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “This is current practice.” We reviewed the procurement 
of Long Range Facilities Master Planning Services that occurred in April of 2015, 
noting a competitive process for obtaining and selecting the provider. The process 
consisted of an RFQ and RFP procedure to solicit for and establish well-qualified firms; 
a selection committee consisting of District staff, CBOC members, and community 
members; and a defined scoring criteria to determine the most qualified and best value 
to the District. No procurement of master planning services occurred during or 
subsequent to the review period. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

101 of 175 101 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 18 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

FI 8-1 N/A ML# 104 The District implemented the FI 8-1 Vendor Contract Administration - Architect Firms 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Per the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “This is current practice.” We sampled three 
construction contractors procured by the District, noting two instances of bidding 
details documented in Board meeting minutes and one instance as not applicable 
(under the $45,000 threshold for District bidding procedures).  

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented. 

Implemented 

FI 11-1 N/A ML# 107 The District implemented the FI 11-1 Financial Reporting recommendation provided in 
the FAI Report. We evaluated the General Conditions for Contractor Agreements 
inclusion of “Specification section 0070.” Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “NO DELIVERABLE WRITTEN BY DISTRICT”; however, the 
District’s deliverable to address VLS’s recommendation was determined to not be 
measurable for our audit procedures (see Recommendation No. 2 for further 
information). The VLS recommendation stated, “Enforce the guidelines included in 
specification section 0070 of the General Conditions section of general contractor 
agreements, which requires that general contractors submit Proposed Change Orders 
within five days of the knowledge of the circumstances resulting in the Proposed 
Change Order. This will ensure that the District is made aware of contractor requests 
in a timely manner and will result in more accurate reporting of potential project costs.” 
We reviewed sampled construction contracts and the revised contract template, noting 
the inclusion of Article 17.7.5 of the general conditions stating the “Contractor shall 
submit its PCO within five (5) days of the date Contractor Discovers.” The revised 
template was created March 28, 2017. Similar language was also included in prior 
templates. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented.  

Implemented 

FI 11-2 N/A ML# 108 The District implemented the FI 11-2 Financial Reporting recommendation provided in 
the FAI Report. We evaluated the Munis contract module numbering system for 
purchase orders. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, 
“The Munis contract module does not allow the use of multiple numbers for individual 
and separate contracts. Each contract will have a unique and separate contract 

This item has been implemented. No 
further action is required. 

Implemented 

102 of 175 102 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 19 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
number.” We reviewed the Munis Contract Module noting a “Contract” Number is 
utilized in place of a purchase order. The Contract number is unique and is utilized for 
the length for the contract. This numbering system has been consistent for all sampled 
service contracts. 

Admin 
No. 1 

N/A ML# 109 The District implemented the Admin No. 1 recommendation provided in the FAI 
Report. We evaluated the District's fraud reporting mechanism. Per the Deliverables 
section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Fraud Hotline will be added to the 
website by January 31, 2017 Fraud Hotline brochures and posters will be distributed to 
each school site and department by January 31, 2017.” We confirmed the WeTip 
hotline (1-800-US-Fraud) was in operation by calling the service on August, 28, 2018. 
The answering representative noted that the District was an entity covered by the 
service and any issue received would be reported to the appropriate local authority, 
and not to the District. On August 31, 2018 we noted the fraud hotline brochure was 
posted and available at the Operation and Business Services Facility (1400 Marina 
Way). Per inquiry with the Internal Auditor and Director of Contracts, brochures are 
posted at every District location. 

This item has been implemented. Staff 
will continue to be trained to ensure this 
continues. 

Implemented 

Admin 
No. 3 

N/A ML# 111 The District implemented the Admin No. 3 recommendation provided in the FAI 
Report. We evaluated Board review of District job descriptions for the Internal Audit 
Department. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “New 
Job Descriptions created for Internal Auditor, Confidential, and Director, Internal 
Auditor to BOE 11/2/16.” We reviewed Board of Education Meeting minutes dated 
November 02, 2016 for inclusion of proposed job descriptions for the Internal Audit 
Department (Director, Internal Audit and Internal Auditor) noting unanimous consent 
vote by the Board. 

This item has been implemented. No 
further action is required. 

Implemented 

103 of 175 103 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 20 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

Admin 
No. 4 

N/A ML# 112 The District implemented the Admin No. 4 Recommendation provided in the FAI 
Report. We evaluated the District's establishment of the Implementation Task Force 
and Implementation Plan. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation 
Plan, “BOE approval of Implementation Task Force on September 21, 2016. BOE 
9/21/2016, Item F-5 attachments. Draft Implementation Plan approved by Task Force 
on October 21, 2016” We reviewed Board of Education Meeting minutes dated 
September 21, 2016 noting the approval of the Implementation Task Force on a four to 
one vote in favor of the motion. We also noted the Draft Implementation Plan, dated 
July 2017, was prepared by the Implementation Task Force and available on the 
District website. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The District will update 
the District's Implementation Plan to 
acknowledge the Auditor's observation 
confirming the recommendation has 
been implemented.  

Implemented 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 1-1 Low ML# 1 The District has taken steps to address the TC 1-1 Conflict of Interest - CBOC 
recommendation provided in the FAI Report. However, based on available 
documentation the District was unable to provide evidence of CBOC membership 
openings per the District eNewsletter. We evaluated the methods of reaching out to the 
entire community to advertise the opportunity of membership in the CBOC. Based on 
the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Added openings to the 
District website on October 1. Will add openings to the District eNewsletter on Nov. 1. 
(provided by Marcus Walton 10/26/16)” We observed evidence for implementation of 
website CBOC openings posting on August, 27, 2018. Evidence of a published 

The District agrees that it has taken 
steps on this recommendation.  

The recommendation identifies various 
ways in which to advertise the 
opportunity for membership in the 
CBOC. A District e-newsletter was 
published in December 2016 which had 
a link entitled “Bond Oversight 
Committee Seeks Members” to the 

Ongoing 

104 of 175 104 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 21 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
eNewsletter was not available and was confirmed by the District as not available on 
October 31, 2018. Absent evidence of a published eNewsletter, we were unable to 
validate that the District implemented this recommendation. Per inquiry with the 
District, the Implementation Plan will be updated to better reflect the District’s intended 
implementation deliverable. 

CBOC website to “join the team.” The 
district continues to have “quick links” on 
its main page entitled “Board 
Committee/Subcommittee Information” 
and “Citizens Bond Oversight 
Committee” that directs potential 
committee members to the appropriate 
page. The website and e-newsletter are 
not the most effective way in which to 
recruit members. The most success 
comes from individual networking and 
verbal communications by CBOC 
members and district staff which is not 
applicable to be set forth in policies and 
procedures. 

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable to more 
clearly state how the recommendation is 
currently being implemented by the 
District.  

TC 4-2 Medium ML# 5 The District has taken steps to address the TC 4-2 Compliance with Legal 
Requirements and Board Policies - Governance recommendation’s Implementation 
Plan Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. However, per Board meeting minute 
documentation, full Board attendance was not evident during the Brown Act Training 
workshop. We evaluated the Brown Act training workshop and Board member 
attendance. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Attend 
Brown Act training sponsored by the District and Lozano, Smith on 1-25-17.” We 
reviewed Brown Act training workshop presentation materials and confirmed training 
was held during the Board of Education Special Meeting dated January 25, 2017. We 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. 

Implemented 

105 of 175 105 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 22 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
noted four of five members were present for the meeting and Brown Act training. No 
documentation was provided by the District to evidence makeup training sessions for 
absent Board members. Based on inquiry with the District, the Board in its entirety was 
trained on the Brown Act on February 7, 2018. Absent full Board attendance 
documentation, we were unable to validate that the District implemented this 
recommendation prior to June 30, 2017. 

TC 4-6 Medium ML# 9 The District has taken steps to address the TC 4-6 Compliance with Legal 
Requirements and Board Policies - Governance recommendation’s Implementation 
Plan Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. However, per Board meeting minute 
documentation, full Board attendance was not evident during the training workshop. 
We evaluated the frequency of Board member governance handbook training hosted 
by the District. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, 
“Workshop/training for Board conducted by attorney covering Governance Handbook 
provisions. Workshop completed on 1-25-17 on: The role of the Board, Brown 
Act/Board Communications, Board Meeting Process and Procedures, Conflict of 
Interest. Superintendent to schedule annual trainings with the Board.” We reviewed 
Governance Handbook training workshop presentation materials and confirmed 
training was held during the Board of Education Special Meeting dated January 25, 
2017. We noted four of five members were present for the meeting and Governance 
Handbook training. No documentation was provided by the District to evidence 
makeup training session for absent Board members. Annual training was evidenced by 
the District; however, policies and procedures were not modified to reflect annual 
practice. Based on inquiry with the District, the Board in its entirety was trained on the 
Board Handbook and other required trainings on January 6, 2018. Absent full Board 
attendance documentation, we were unable to validate that the District implemented 
this recommendation prior to June 30, 2017. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. 

Implemented 

TC 6-2 High ML# 13 The District has taken steps to address the TC 6-2 Budgeting Practices - 
Adequacy/Completeness recommendation's Implementation Plan Deliverable prior to 

Staff will be counseled and trained 
regarding this recommendation. For a 

June 2019 

106 of 175 106 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 23 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
June 30, 2017. Per our change order sample, the District was unable to document 
budget verification prior to approval of the contract, contract amendment, or Board 
approval of budget transfers; however, procedural documents were drafted. Per the 
Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Developed, presented, and 
Board ratified resolution for budget revisions, resulting transfers, increases and/or 
decreases for the 2016-17 budget. The first resolution of this type included budget 
increases and transfers from fund balance. See attached Board documents. Board 
approval November 16, 2016.” We sampled eight vendor's procurement records and 
20 contract change orders noting no instance of budget verification or sign-off present 
on the proposal approval form or change order checklist. No other verification 
documentation was made available. Absent budget verification and sign-off on 
proposal approval forms or change orders, we were unable to validate that the District 
implemented this recommendation.  

contract to be processed, it must have 
funding available in the associated line 
item. If there is insufficient funding, a 
budget transfer can be initiated by the 
processor of the contract, or by a 
department member who has access to 
the MUNIS financial system. Sign off can 
then be done by the appropriate project 
or department manager. This will be fully 
implemented by June 30, 2019.  

TC 6-3 High ML# 14 The District has taken steps to address the implementation of the TC 6-3 Budgeting 
Practices - Adequacy/Completeness recommendation's Implementation Plan 
Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. Based on our sample, the District was unable to 
document budget verification approval by the Fiscal Coordinator on the proposal 
approval form; however, procedural documents were drafted. Per the Deliverables 
section of the District's Implementation Plan, “The Fiscal coordinator will initial and 
date the Proposal Approval form to document the budget verification has been 
performed.” We sampled eight vendor's procurement records, noting no instance of 
budget verification or sign-off present on the proposal approval form. No other 
verification documentation was made available. Six of the sampled vendors were 
procured during or after March 2017 (the District’s reported implementation date). 
Absent budget verification and sign-offs present on proposal forms, we were unable to 
validate that the District implemented this recommendation. Per inquiry with the 
District, the Implementation Plan will be updated to better reflect the District’s intended 
implementation deliverable. 

The District has taken steps to 
implement this recommendation.  

Current practice requires the principal 
accountant to verify the budget and 
provide the account code for all 
expenditures on the proposal approval 
cover sheet. Historically, the budget 
verification and account code was 
provided by the fiscal coordinator or 
principal accountant.  

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable to more 
clearly state how the recommendation is 
currently being implemented by the 
District. 

February 2019 

107 of 175 107 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 24 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 6-4 High ML# 15 The District has taken steps to address the TC 6-4 Budgeting Practices - 
Adequacy/Completeness recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Based on our 
sample, the District was able to document the Accountant’s signature, although 
implementation was inconsistent. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “Up the duties of the Principal Accountant.” However, the 
District’s deliverable to address VLS’s recommendation was determined to not be 
measurable for our audit procedures (see Recommendation No. 2 for further 
information). The VLS recommendation stated, “Require the Principal Accountant to 
initial and date the Munis Contract & Purchase Order Form to document that the 
budget string was reviewed for accuracy. In addition, the Principal Accountant must 
verify that the affected general ledger account string is appropriate and accurate for 
the specific contract based on the assigned budget string. This will ensure that there is 
proper review and oversight in this step and provide the proper audit trail 
documentation.” We sampled eight vendor's procurement records, noting two 
instances of Principal Accountant sign-offs present on the proposal approval form, both 
occurring in May of 2017. The other six sampled vendors did not include Principal 
Accountant sign-offs on the proposal approval forms. Absent timely approvals and 
appropriate signs-off, we were unable to validate that the District implemented this 
recommendation. 

Staff will be counseled and trained 
regarding this recommendation. Budget 
verification can be done by any staff 
member with MUNIS access. Sign off 
can be done by the Principal Accountant, 
or other financial/department supervisor. 
This will be fully implemented by June 
30, 2019.  

June 2019 

TC 6-5 High ML# 16 The District has taken steps to address the TC 6-5 Budgeting Practices - 
Adequacy/Completeness recommendation provided in the FAI Report. However, 
Project Budget Amendment/Transfer Approval Forms were inconsistent. We sampled 
budget amendments and transfers during the review period to confirm Principal 
Accountant review was present. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “Up the duties of the Principal Accountant.” However, the 
District’s deliverable to address VLS’s recommendation was determined to not be 
measurable for our audit procedures (see Recommendation No. 2 for further 
information). The VLS recommendation stated “Require that the Principal Accountant 
continue the review of the Project Budget Amendment/Transfer Form to verify that the 

Staff will be counseled and trained 
regarding this recommendation with full 
implementation by June 30, 2019.  

June 2019 

108 of 175 108 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 25 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
budget amount(s) is accurate and project string(s) is appropriate. Add a section to the 
form for the Principal Accountant’s initials and date to document that this review 
occurred. Additionally, add a section where the funding source and total amount of the 
amendment/transfer(s) can be documented.” We reviewed sampled budget 
amendments and transfers occurring between December 2016 and June 2017, noting 
approval forms were completed; however, the Principal Account review was only 
present on five of 20 samples, all occurring after May 30, 2017 (the District’s reported 
implementation date). Additionally, sampled amendment and transfer approval forms 
occurring after May 30, 2017 were inconsistent, resulting in a lack of review signature 
from the Principal Account and other noted approvers on the form. Absent timely 
approvals and appropriate signs-off, we were unable to validate that the District 
implemented this recommendation. 

TC 6-6 High ML# 17 The District has taken steps to address the TC 6-6 Budgeting Practices - 
Adequacy/Completeness recommendation provided in the FAI Report. However, Fund 
21 Budget Summary Reports were not approved monthly, nor was a reconciling log 
available. We sampled budget amendments and transfers during the review period to 
confirm Board approval was available. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “New forms were developed and have been approve by the 
Board for budget amendments and budget transfers. Used in November 2016 and 
March 2017.” We reviewed sampled budget amendments and transfers occurring 
between December 2016 and June 2017, noting Board ratification was provided on 
March 1, 2017 and May 24, 2017 through the Bond Fund for Capital Outlay Fund 21 
Budget Summary Report. However, Board ratification of budget transfers and 
amendments did not regularly occur on a monthly basis. Additionally, a log was not 
available to reconcile sample budget amendments and transfers to the Bond Fund for 
Capital Outlay Fund 21 Budget Summary Report and we were therefore unable to 
confirm Board ratification of individual sampled budget transfers and amendments. 
Absent timely Budget Summary Report approvals and reconciling logs, we were 
unable to validate that the District implemented this recommendation. 

Staff will be counseled and trained 
regarding this recommendation with full 
implementation by June 30, 2019.  

June 2019 

109 of 175 109 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 26 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 7-1 Medium ML# 21 The District has taken steps to address the TC 7-1 Vendor Contract Administration - 
Vendor Due Diligence recommendation provided in the FAI Report. However, based 
on our sample of construction contractors, the District was unable to document full 
implementation of procedural documents. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “The procedures were prepared in October 2015 to outline the 
process for procurement, and contracting construction services. The process is 
currently being updated to reflect current practice, including recommendations from the 
Forensic Audit.” We sampled three construction contractors procured by the District, 
noting documentation demonstrating a full implementation of the procedures was not 
made available for the sampled construction contracts. Implementation requirements 
are outlined in the procedural documents. For instance, the Construction Bid 
Coordination Checklist and/or Proposal Approval Checklists were not provided or 
incomplete for two formal bid samples. Additionally, competitive quote documentation, 
Notice of Award, and Notice to Proceed documentation was not available for one 
CUPCCA bid proposal sample under $25,000. Absent complete procurement 
documentation per the procedural documents, we were unable to validate that the 
District fully implemented this recommendation. Per inquiry with the District, procedural 
documents and the Implementation Plan will be updated to better reflect the District’s 
intended procedures and implementation deliverable. 

The District has taken steps to 
implement this recommendation.  

Current practice does not require a 
Notice of Award or Notice to Proceed for 
construction contracts less than twenty-
five thousand. Current practice also does 
not require retention of the Bid 
Coordination checklist, it is used as an 
internal checklist to verify the information 
needed to advertise and publish bid 
documents. Current practice does 
require completion of the proposal 
approval coversheet; however, the use 
and format of the proposal approval 
cover sheet has evolved from the original 
form. The district recognizes the 
importance of maintaining policies and 
procedures that align with acceptable 
practices to fulfil the District’s duty to be 
accountable and transparent to the 
public. 

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable and 
procedure to more clearly state how the 
recommendation is currently being 
implemented by the District. 

June 2019 

TC 7-3 Medium ML# 23 The District has taken steps to address the TC 7-3 Vendor Contract Administration - 
Vendor Due Diligence recommendation provided in the FAI Report. However, based 

The District has taken steps to 
implement this recommendation.  

June 2019 

110 of 175 110 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 27 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
on our sample of professional service vendors, the District was unable to document full 
implementation of procedural documents. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “The procedures were prepared in October 2015 to outline the 
process for procurement, and contracting Professional & Special Services. The 
process of procurement and associated approvals are part of the contract files.” We 
sampled five professional service's procurement records, noting documentation 
demonstrating a full implementation of the procedures was not made available for any 
of the sampled professional service contracts. Implementation requirements are 
outlined in the procedural documents. For instance, documentation was not available 
to demonstrate a fair, competitive selection process for three of the four professional 
services samples requiring such per District procedural documents. Additionally, 
Proposal Approval Checklists were incomplete available for the samples. Samples 
included professional and special service contracts both under and over the Board 
approval threshold. Four of the five sampled contracts were procured after March 2017 
(the District’s reported implementation date). Absent complete procurement 
documentation per the procedural documents, we were unable to validate that the 
District fully implemented this recommendation. Per inquiry with the District, procedural 
documents and the Implementation Plan will be updated to better reflect the District’s 
intended procedures and implementation deliverable. 

The samples selected by the auditor 
included both professional services and 
special services which have completely 
different procurement processes. Special 
services were procured pursuant to the 
procurement process set forth in 
Government Code §53060 which does 
not require a competitive selection 
process. The additional architectural 
services within the existing DSA 
application that were contracted for 
Korematsu & Ohlone ES were assigned 
to the Architect of Record based on 
previous procurement and prior Board 
approval. The District recognizes the 
importance of maintaining policies and 
procedures that align with acceptable 
practices to fulfil the District’s duty to be 
accountable and transparent to the 
public. 

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable and 
procedure to more clearly state how the 
recommendation is currently being 
implemented by the District. 

TC 7-4 Medium ML# 24 The District has taken steps to address the TC 7-4 Vendor Contract Administration - 
Vendor Due Diligence recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Based on our 
sample, while the District was able to document proposal review and selection process 
for professional services, implementation was inconsistent. Per the Deliverables 

The District has taken steps to 
implement this recommendation.  

June 2019 

111 of 175 111 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 28 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
section of the District's Implementation Plan, “The procedures were prepared in 
October 2015 to outline the process for procurement, and contracting Professional & 
Special Services. The process of procurement and associated approvals are part of 
the contract files.” We sampled five professional service's procurement records, noting 
one instance of complete procurement documentation in January 2017. 
Implementation requirements are outlined in the procedural documents. Complete 
procurement documentation (e.g., proposals, firm ratings, results of interviews, etc.) 
was not made available by the District for the other four samples requiring such per 
District procedural documents, all occurring during or after March 2017 (the District’s 
reported implementation date). Absent complete procurement documentation per the 
procedural documents, we were unable to validate that the District implemented this 
recommendation. Per inquiry with the District, procedural documents and the 
Implementation Plan will be updated to better reflect the District’s intended procedures 
and implementation deliverable. 

The samples selected by the auditor 
included both professional services and 
special services which have completely 
different procurement processes. Special 
services were procured pursuant to the 
procurement process set forth in 
Government Code §53060 which does 
not require a competitive selection 
process. The additional architectural 
services within the existing DSA 
application that were contracted for 
Korematsu & Ohlone ES were assigned 
to the Architect of Record based on 
previous procurement and prior Board 
approval. The District recognizes the 
importance of maintaining policies and 
procedures that align with acceptable 
practices to fulfil the District’s duty to be 
accountable and transparent to the 
public.  

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable and 
procedure to more clearly state how the 
recommendation is currently being 
implemented by the District. 

TC 7-5 Medium ML# 25 The District has taken steps to address the TC 7-5 Vendor Contract Administration - 
Vendor Due Diligence recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Based on our 
sample, while the District was able to document formal conflict of interest check during 
the proposal process, implementation was inconsistent. Per the Deliverables section of 

The District agrees that it has taken 
steps on this recommendation.  

June 2019 

112 of 175 112 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 29 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
the District's Implementation Plan, “This was reviewed by legal counsel. Training from 
legal counsel was provided for all Bond Team staff members in October 2016.” Based 
on the VLS recommendation, recommendation implementation included the following: 
“Incorporate a formal, documented process to perform a conflict of interest check for all 
vendors submitting proposals to the District for the bond program.” We confirmed 
training from legal counsel was evidenced through training materials and Board 
meeting minutes. Additionally, we sampled eight vendor's procurement records, noting 
that only one instance had available documentation of a formal conflict of interest 
check during the proposal process in January 2017. Documentation of conflict of 
interest checks during the proposal process was not made available by the District for 
the other seven samples, including one professional service procurement occurring in 
June 2017 (the completion date per the District’s Implementation Matrix). Absent 
formal conflict of interest certifications, we were unable to validate that the District 
implemented this recommendation. Per inquiry with the District, the Implementation 
Plan will be updated to better reflect the District’s intended implementation deliverable. 

Current practice for construction 
contracts, the contractor provides a Non 
Collusion Declaration, pursuant to Public 
Contract Code §7106. Current practice 
for non-construction contracts, the 
RFQ/RFP procurement process includes 
conflict of interest certification. In 
addition, legal counsel has prepared a 
conflict of interest certification document 
that may be incorporated into an 
Agreement for services.  

Staff is preparing a formal documented 
process that will highlight all the of steps 
being proactively taken during the 
procurement process to identify any 
potential conflict of interest.  

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable and 
procedure to more clearly state how the 
recommendation is currently being 
implemented by the District. 

TC 8-1 Medium ML# 26 The District has taken steps to address the TC 8-1 Vendor Contract Administration - 
Vendor Contracts recommendation prior to June 30, 2017. Based on our sample, while 
the District was unable to document a completed proposal approval form, procedural 
documents were drafted. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation 
Plan, “The Proposal Approval Checklist must be completed and approved before any 
new contracts or requisitions can be entered into the District's financial system.” We 
sampled eight vendor's procurement records, noting no instance of a completed 

The District agrees that it has taken 
steps on this recommendation.  

In an effort to continually improve our 
practice, the use and format of the 
proposal approval cover sheet has 
evolved from the original form. 

February 2019 

113 of 175 113 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 30 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
proposal approval form including all signatures being provided by the District. Sampled 
proposal approval forms were often missing one or more signatures, dates, and/or had 
incomplete status sections. Absent completed proposal approval checklists with 
adequate sign-off documentation, we were unable to validate that the District 
implemented this recommendation. Per inquiry with the District, the Proposal Approval 
Checklist and the Implementation Plan will be updated to better reflect the District’s 
intended approval procedure and implementation deliverable. 

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable to more 
clearly state how the recommendation is 
currently being implemented by the 
District. 

TC 8-2 Medium ML# 27 The District has taken steps to address the implementation of the TC 8-2 Vendor 
Contract Administration - Vendor Contracts recommendation prior to June 30, 2017. 
Based on our sample, the District was unable to document a completed proposal 
approval form, including a budget review section. While procedural documents were 
drafted, they were not Board approved through June 30, 2018. Additionally, proposal 
approval templates present in procedural documents, dated October 2016, included a 
budget approval section; however, they were inconsistent with approval forms utilized 
in vendor procurement. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation 
Plan, “The proposal approval checklist includes a budget review section. The process 
was updated to reflect best practices, including recommendations from the forensic 
audit.” We sampled eight vendor's procurement records, noting no instance of a 
completed proposal approval form including a budget review section. No other budget 
verification documentation was made available. Six of the sampled vendors were 
procured during or after March 2017 (the District’s reported implementation date). 
Based on the District’s response, this recommendation was implemented; however, 
absent budget verification and sign-off present on proposal approval forms, we were 
unable to validate that the District implemented this recommendation. Per inquiry with 
the District, the Proposal Approval Checklist and the Implementation Plan will be 
updated to better reflect the District’s intended approval procedure and implementation 
deliverable. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. 

In an effort to continually improve our 
practice, the use and format of the 
proposal approval cover sheet has 
evolved from the original form.  

In March 2017, a budget review section 
was added to the proposal approval 
cover sheet to incorporate the fiscal 
approval into the same form. In May 
2017, the principal accountant and 
financial coordinator joined the fiscal 
team, and assumed responsibility to sign 
the form and provide the account code. 
The integration of fiscal, procurement, 
and engineering approval on a single 
form for all contracts and 
requisitions/purchase orders was very 
helpful for the team. In June 2017, the 
team reformatted the form to provide 
greater clarity for the fiscal team 

February 2019 

114 of 175 114 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 31 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
including a breakdown by fiscal year for 
multi-year contracts, and an area to 
indicate and track if/when a budget 
transfer/amendment was necessary.  

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable to more 
clearly state how the recommendation is 
currently being implemented by the 
District. 

TC 8-4 Medium ML# 29 The District has taken steps to address the TC 8-4 Vendor Contract Administration - 
Vendor Contracts recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Based on our sample, 
the District was able to document a conflict of interest clause in vendor contracts, 
although implementation was inconsistent. Based on the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel reviewed the recommendations and 
provided contractual revisions to strengthen the existing procurement and contracting.” 
We sampled eight vendor's procurement records, noting one instance of a conflict of 
interest clause within the vendor contract, occurring in January 2017. Conflict of 
interest clauses were not identified within the other seven sampled vendor contracts 
provided. Six of the sampled vendors were procured during or after March 2017 (the 
District’s reported implementation date). Absent conflict of interest clauses within 
contracts, we were unable to validate that the District implemented this 
recommendation. Per inquiry with the District, the Implementation Plan will be updated 
to better reflect the District’s intended implementation deliverable. 

The District agrees that it has taken 
steps on this recommendation.  

Current practice for construction 
contracts, the contractor provides a Non 
Collusion Declaration, pursuant to Public 
Contract Code §7106. Current practice 
for non-construction contracts, the 
RFQ/RFP procurement process includes 
conflict of interest certification. In 
addition, legal counsel has prepared a 
conflict of interest certification document 
that may be incorporated into an 
Agreement for services. Staff is 
preparing a formal documented process 
that will highlight all of the steps being 
proactively taken during the procurement 
process to identify any potential conflict 
of interest.  

June 2019 

115 of 175 115 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 32 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable and 
procedure to more clearly state how the 
recommendation is currently being 
implemented by the District. 

TC 13-2 Medium ML# 43 The District has taken steps to address the TC 13-2 Change Order Approval and 
Accounting Practices recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Based on our 
sample of vendor change orders, the District was able to document the completion of 
change order review and approval prior to board presentation, although 
implementation was inconsistent. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “The District implemented a change order checklist to verify that 
all required signatures and documents are included, prior to submission for the BOE. 
The change order checklist is signed by the Director of Contract Administration and 
Chief Engineering Officer to document the review prior to submission for the Board.” 
We sampled 13 construction change orders procured by the District, noting no 
documented instances of change order review and approval prior to Board 
presentation. Documentation was not made available for all 13 sampled construction 
change orders identifying change order approval by the Director of Contracts and the 
Chief Engineering Officer prior to board presentation. For all sampled change orders, a 
change order checklist was utilized; however, date of approval was either not 
documented and/or signatures were absent for all of the samples. Absent timely 
approved forms, we were unable to validate that the District implemented this 
recommendation. 

The District agrees that it has taken 
steps on this recommendation. 

The District will modify the existing 
change order checklist to include a date 
field.  

February 2019 

TC 13-5 Medium ML# 46 The District has taken steps to address the TC 13-5 Change Order Approval and 
Accounting Practices recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Based on our 
sample of vendor change orders, the District was able to document the completion of 
change order review and approval prior to Board presentation, although 
implementation was inconsistent. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation.  

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable to more 
clearly state how the recommendation is 

February 2019 

116 of 175 116 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 33 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
Implementation Plan, “The District implemented a change order checklist to verify that 
all required signatures and documents are included, prior to submission for the BOE. 
The change order checklist is signed by the Director of Contract Administration and 
Chief Engineering Officer to document the review prior to submission for the Board.” 
We sampled 13 construction change procured by the District, noting no documented 
instances of change order review and approval prior to Board presentation. 
Documentation was not made available for all 13 sampled construction change orders 
identifying change order approval by the Director of Contracts and the Chief 
Engineering Officer prior to Board presentation. For all sampled change orders, a 
change order checklist was utilized; however, date of approval was either not 
documented and/or signatures were absent for all of the samples. Based on the 
District’s response, this recommendation was implemented; however, absent timely 
approved checklists, we were unable to validate that the District implemented this 
recommendation. Per inquiry with the District, the Implementation Plan will be updated 
to better reflect the District’s intended implementation deliverable. 

currently being implemented by the 
District. 

TC 13-7 Medium ML# 48 The District has taken steps to address the TC 13-7 Change Order Approval and 
Accounting Practices recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Based on our 
sample of change orders, the District was able to document the utilization of the 
proposal approval form for vendor add service change requests; however, forms were 
incomplete. Based on the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, 
“The Proposal Approval Checklist form is used for every add-service proposal.” We 
sampled seven add service change requests, noting the proposal approval form was 
utilized for all samples. However, the proposal checklists were incomplete and did not 
include all appropriate signatures for all seven samples. Five of the seven samples 
occurred during or after February 2017 (the District’s reported implementation date). 
Absent timely approved forms, we were unable to validate that the District 
implemented this recommendation. 

The District agrees that it has taken 
steps on this recommendation. 

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable to more 
clearly state how the recommendation is 
currently being implemented by the 
District. 

February 2019 

117 of 175 117 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 34 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 13-8 Medium ML# 49 The District has taken steps to address the TC 13-8 Change Order Approval and 
Accounting Practices recommendation provided in the FAI Report. Based on our 
sample of change orders, the District was able to document the utilization of the 
proposal approval form for vendor add service change requests; however, forms did 
not include Associate Superintendent approval. Per the Deliverables section of the 
District's Implementation Plan, “The Proposal Approval Checklist form is used for every 
add- service proposal.” We sampled three add service change requests in excess of 
$50,000, noting the proposal approval form was utilized; however, the Associate 
Superintendent of Operations and Bond Program approval signature was not provided 
within the Proposal Approval Checklist documenting approval prior to Board 
presentation. Two of the three samples occurred during or after February 2017 (the 
District’s reported implementation date). Based on the District response, Associate 
Superintendent of Operations approval is achieved through electronic upload; 
however, documentation was not evident or provided by the District. Absent timely 
approval documentation, we were unable to validate that the District implemented this 
recommendation. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation.  

The Associate Superintendent of 
Operations approves all Board precis 
prior to uploading agenda items into 
Agenda-On-Line for board of education 
upcoming meetings.  

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable to more 
clearly state how the recommendation is 
currently being implemented by the 
District.  

February 2019 

118 of 175 118 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 35 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS  
Ref.  
No. 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 16-5 Medium ML# 70 The District was unable to provide evidence of the implementation of the TC 16-5 
Financial Reporting recommendation's Implementation Plan Deliverable prior to June 
30, 2017. Based on available documentation, the District was unable to provide Cash 
Flow and Financial Status Reports including footnotes reconciling balances to reported 
amounts. Per the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Footnotes 
have been included in Cash Flow Reports. Footnotes have been included in Financial 
Status Reports.” We reviewed Cash Flow Reports and Financial Status reports for 
April, 30, 2017 and April 30, 2018 noting no inclusion of footnotes reconciling 
beginning balances. No reconciliation of balances for available monthly reports was 
provided by the District. No monthly reports including reconciling footnotes were 
provided by the District. 

Staff will be counseled and trained 
regarding the need for footnotes on the 
cash flow and financial status reports. 
This will be implemented by June 30, 
2019.  

June 2019 

TC 16-6 Medium ML# 71 The District was unable to provide evidence of the implementation of TC 16-6 Financial 
Reporting Recommendation's Implementation Plan Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017, 
although evidence was available demonstrating implementation through June 30, 
2018. Based on available documentation, the District was unable to provide Monthly 
Warrant Listing reports including reconciliation footnotes prior to June 30, 2017. 
However, we evaluated the April 2018 Monthly Warrant Listing report footnotes. Per 
the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Footnotes on monthly 
A/P Checklist.” We reviewed the Monthly Warrant Listing report dated April 2018, 
noting the inclusion of a retention reconciliation to the total April expenditure amount. 

Staff will be counseled and trained 
regarding the need for footnotes on the 
monthly warrant listing reports. This will 
be implemented by June 30, 2019. 

June 2019 

TC 16-
10 

Medium ML# 75 The District was unable to provide evidence the implementation of TC 16-10 Financial 
Reporting recommendation's Implementation Plan Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017, 
although evidence was available demonstrating implementation through June 30, 
2018. Based on available documentation, the District was unable to provide cash flow 
projection reports prior to June 30, 2017. However, we evaluated the preparation of 
monthly cash flow projections from August 2017 through April 2018. Per the 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation.  

The District will update the District's 
Implementation Plan to acknowledge the 
Auditor's observation confirming the 

Implemented 

119 of 175 119 of 175



Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 36 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No. 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No. Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “The cash flow projection is 
reviewed monthly to assess potential adjustments.” We reviewed monthly cash flow 
projection reports for Pinole Valley High School from August 2017 through April 2018, 
noting a comprehensive project listing and committed cost assessment. 

recommendation has been implemented 
after June 30, 2017.  

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE 
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS 
Ref. 
No 

VLS 
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 

TC 11-2 Medium ML# 36 The District was unable to provide evidence of implementation of the TC 11-2 Vendor 
Contract Administration - Invoice Payments recommendation's Implementation Plan 
Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017, although evidence was available demonstrating 
implementation through June 30, 2018. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “The process for rejecting an invoice is currently being performed 
by staff. The development of the full procedure and staffing assignments is in process. 
See ML#35” We reviewed sampled expenditures noting no instances of invoice 
rejection, and upon request the District was unable to provide example of the invoice 
rejection letters implementation prior to June 30, 2017. Per inquiry with the District, no 
invoices were formally rejected during the audit period. Additionally, no policies or 
procedural documents including invoice rejection procedures were made available. 
Therefore, the District’s completion of the Implementation Plan deliverable for the 
improvement recommendation could not be determined prior to June 30, 2017. 
However, an example of invoice rejection was available for an architectural service 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation.  

Ongoing practice requires that invoices 
that cannot be accepted are rejected and 
returned to the vendor to revise and 
resubmit. 

The District will update the 
Implementation Plan deliverable to more 
clearly state how the recommendation is 
currently being implemented by the 
District.  

Implemented 

120 of 175 120 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 37 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS  
Ref.  
No 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
provider dated May 3, 2018. Absent evidence of an invoice rejection through June 30, 
2017, we were unable to validate that the District implemented this recommendation. 

FI 1-4 N/A ML# 79 The District was unable to provide adequate evidence that steps had been taken to 
implement the FI 1-4 Conflict of Interest recommendation's Implementation Plan 
Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel consulted and provided attorney-client privileged 
memorandum to District. Legal counsel had closed session discussion with Board 
resulting in direction on this matter.” Legal Memo and Closed Session meeting 
minutes' documentation was not made available for our review. Therefore, the District's 
completion of the implementation plan deliverable for the improvement 
recommendation could not be determined. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The verbal and written 
communications from Legal Counsel to 
the Board of Education on this matter 
continues to be protected by attorney-
client privilege. 

Implemented  

FI 1-5 N/A ML# 80 The District was unable to provide adequate evidence that steps had been taken to 
implement the FI 1-5 Conflict of Interest recommendation's Implementation Plan 
Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. Per the Deliverables section of the District's 
Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel consulted and provided attorney-client privileged 
memorandum to District. Legal counsel had closed session discussion with Board 
resulting in direction on this matter.” Legal Memo and Closed Session meeting 
minutes' documentation was not made available for our review to address this 
recommendation. Therefore, the District's completion of the implementation plan 
deliverable for the improvement recommendation could not be determined. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The verbal and written 
communications from Legal Counsel to 
the Board of Education on this matter 
continues to be protected by attorney-
client privilege. 

Implemented  

FI 3-6 N/A ML# 90 The District was unable to provide adequate evidence that steps had been taken to 
implement the FI 3-6 Vendor Contract Administration - SGI recommendation's 
Implementation Plan Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. Per the Deliverables section 
of the District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel was consulted and had closed 
session discussion with Board resulting in direction on this matter.” Closed Session 
meeting minutes' documentation was not made available for our review to address this 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The verbal and written 
communications from Legal Counsel to 
the Board of Education on this matter 
continues to be protected by attorney-
client privilege. 

Implemented  

121 of 175 121 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 38 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS  
Ref.  
No 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
recommendation. Therefore, the District's completion of the implementation plan 
deliverable for the improvement recommendation could not be determined. 

FI 3-8 N/A ML# 92 The District was unable to provide adequate evidence that steps had been taken to 
implement the FI 3-8 Vendor Contract Administration - SGI recommendation's 
Implementation Plan Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. Per the Deliverables section 
of the District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel consulted and provided attorney-
client privileged memorandum to District. Legal counsel had closed session discussion 
with Board resulting in direction on this matter.” Legal Memo and Closed Session 
meeting minutes' documentation was not made available for our review to address this 
recommendation. Therefore, the District's completion of the implementation plan 
deliverable for the improvement recommendation could not be determined. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The verbal and written 
communications from Legal Counsel to 
the Board of Education on this matter 
continues to be protected by attorney-
client privilege. 

Implemented  

FI 10-1 N/A ML# 105 The District was unable to provide adequate evidence that steps had been taken to 
implement the FI 10-1 Change Order Approval and Accounting Practices 
recommendation's Implementation Plan Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. Per the 
Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel consulted 
and provided attorney-client privileged memorandum to District. Legal counsel had 
closed session discussion with Board resulting in direction on this matter.” Legal Memo 
and Closed Session meeting minutes' documentation was not made available for our 
review to address this recommendation. Therefore, the District's completion of the 
implementation plan deliverable for the improvement recommendation could not be 
determined. 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The verbal and written 
communications from Legal Counsel to 
the Board of Education on this matter 
continues to be protected by attorney-
client privilege. 

Implemented  

FI 10-2 N/A ML# 106 The District was unable to provide adequate evidence that steps had been taken to 
implement the FI 10-2 Change Order Approval and Accounting Practices 
recommendation's Implementation Plan Deliverable prior to June 30, 2017. Based on 
the Deliverables section of the District's Implementation Plan, “Legal counsel consulted 
and provided attorney-client privileged memorandum to District. Legal counsel had 
closed session discussion with Board resulting in direction on this matter.” Legal Memo 

The District has implemented this 
recommendation. The verbal and written 
communications from Legal Counsel to 
the Board of Education on this matter 
continues to be protected by attorney-
client privilege. 

Implemented  

122 of 175 122 of 175



 

Forensic Accounting Investigation Implementation Review Report | 39 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT ONLY 

 

VLS REPORT 
REFERENCE 

DISTRICT 
REFERENCE MOSS ADAMS OBSERVATION 

MANAGEMENT RESPONSE  
PROVIDED BY THE DISTRICT 

VLS  
Ref.  
No 

VLS  
Risk 

Rating ITF Ref. No Observation Management Response 

Planned 
Resolution 

Date 
and Closed Session meeting minutes' documentation was not made available for our 
review to address this recommendation. Therefore, the District's completion of the 
implementation plan deliverable for the improvement recommendation could not be 
determined. 

123 of 175 123 of 175



 124 of 175 124 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

1 

THESE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE BOARD POLICY 
REMOVE SOME VERBAGE, ADD NEW VERBAGE AND 

RELOCATES OTHER VERBAGE. 
LANGUAGE PROPOSED TO BE ALTERED IS IN RED. 

NEW LANGUAGE IS IN RED. 
LANGUAGE TO BE REMOVED IS IN RED AND INCLUDES A 

STRIKETHROUGH 

Proposition 39, approved by California voters in the General Election of 
November 7, 2000 provides that the Governing Board of a school district 
may pursue the authorization and issuance of general obligation bonds 
passed by a vote of 55 percent or more of the electorate. 

As a result of the passage of Proposition 39, language was added to the 
Education Code requiring school districts passing a bond designated as a 
Proposition 39 bond to establish a Citizens’ Oversight Committee 
(“Committee” or “CBOC”) to actively review and report on uses of bond 
proceeds to ensure that they are spent only on school facilities improvements 
allowed under each bond measure and not for any other purpose. The 
Committee shall be established within sixty (60) days of the date that the 
Board enters the election results in its minutes. A school district may also 
establish a voluntary bond oversight committee for a general obligation bond 
adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the electorate. 

District voters have approved multiple Proposition 39 School Bond 
Measures requiring a CBOC.  The District has established an independent 
CBOC to provide oversight for these ballot measures. California Education 
Code Sections 15264 through 15288 govern the operation of the CBOC. 

The purpose of this policy is to establish the practices and procedures for 
CBOC selection and support for its operations.  

125 of 175 125 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

2 

• The CBOC is independent of the Board of Education, and
• The Board and Superintendent shall not adopt any policy, administrative
regulation, practice or procedure that would interfere with the independence
of the CBOC.  In the event of any conflict between this policy and the
Education Code, the provisions of the Education Code shall apply.

1. COMMITTEE’S PURPOSE
The purpose of the Committee is to inform the public concerning the
expenditure and uses of bond revenues. The Committee’s legal charge is to
actively review and report on the expenditure of taxpayer’s money for school
construction. The Committee shall convene to provide oversight of the
following:

a. That bond revenues from bonds adopted by a 55 percent vote of the
electorate are expended only for the purpose described in Article 13A,
section 1, subdivision (b)(3) of the California Constitution including the
construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation or replacement of school
facilities, including for a Proposition 39 bond measure the furnishing and
equipping of school facilities, or the acquisition or lease of real property
for school facilities; and

b. That, for bonds adopted by a 55 percent vote of the electorate, as
prohibited by Article l3A, section 1, subdivision (b)(3)(A) of the
California Constitution, no funds are used for any teacher and
administrative salaries or other school operating expenses, except for
salaries of bond facilities project administrators paid pursuant to the
November 2001 and February 2003 resolutions validated by the
Judgment of Validation in the Superior Court of California, Contra Costa
County Action No. N03-02l6; and

c. That, for bonds adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the electorate,
funds are used only for the purposes described in Article l3A, section 1,

126 of 175 126 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 
 

 3 

subdivision (b)(2) of the California Constitution including the acquisition 
or improvement of real property. 

 
2. COMMITTEE’S DUTIES 
The Committee may engage in the following activities in furtherance of its 
purpose:  
 

a. Receiving and reviewing copies of the annual performance audits 
required by Article 13A, section 1, subdivision (b)(3)(C) of the California 
Constitution. 

 

1) The Auditor shall deliver directly to the Audit Subcommittee a draft copy 
of each audit report at the same time as delivery is made to the district. 

 

2) The Auditor shall deliver directly to the Committee progress reports at 
the same time at these reports are issued to the district. 

 

3) The Committee shall participate with the district in a yearly review of the 
Auditor’s performance. 

 

b. Receiving and reviewing the annual financial audits required by Article 
13A, section 1, subdivisions (b)(3)(D) of the California Constitution. 

 

1) The Auditor shall deliver directly to the Audit Subcommittee a draft copy 
of each audit report at the same time as delivery is made to the district. 

 

2) The Auditor shall deliver directly to the Committee progress reports at 
the same time at these reports are issued to the district. 

 

3) The Committee shall participate with the district in a yearly review of the 
Auditor’s performance. 

 

127 of 175 127 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 
 

 4 

c. Inspecting school facilities and grounds to ensure that Bond revenues are 
expended in compliance with the requirements of Article 13A, section 1, 
subdivision (b)(3) of the California Constitution. 

 

d. Receiving and reviewing copies of any deferred maintenance proposals 
or plans developed by the district, including any reports required by 
Education Code section 17584.1. 

 

e. Reviewing efforts by the district to maximize Bond revenues by 
implementing cost-saving measures including, but not limited, to the 
following: 

 

1) Mechanisms designed to reduce the costs of professional fees; 
 

2) Mechanisms designed to reduce the cost of site preparation; 
 

3) Recommendations regarding the joint use of core facilities; 
 

4) Mechanisms designed to reduce costs by incorporating efficiencies in 
school site design; 

 

5) (Recommendations regarding the use of cost-effective and efficient 
reusable facility plans.  

 
 

3. COMMITTEE OPERATIONS 
The Committee’s legal charge is to review Bond expenditures and to inform 
the public about the uses of Bond proceeds.  
 

The Committee shall have the authority to: 
 

a. Inspect a job site or construction project in coordination with the district 
Superintendent or designee. Visits to job sites require that the Committee 
member(s) be accompanied by a representative of the district and require 
that all safety measures in effect at the job site be followed. 

128 of 175 128 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

5 

b. Contact district staff, district contractors or consultants, including
without limitation, accountants, auditors, architects, financial advisors
and legal counsel in coordination with district Superintendent or
designee.

The Committee shall not have the authority to: 
a. Participate in the bond sale and issuance process or make decisions

concerning the timing, terms or structure of a bond issuance, except that
the Committee may review the district’s plans for any bond sale and may
review bond issuance documents upon the conclusion of a bond sale if
desired;

b. Determine how bond funds shall be spent;

c. Select contractors or consultants for bond projects or participate in the
negotiation or bid process for such contractors and consultants;

d. Require the district to prepare reports or conduct audits more frequently
than those required by law.

The Committee shall not be entitled to legal representation by district legal 
counselor at district expense, unless permitted by the Board.  

The Superintendent or his/her designee shall attend Committee meetings. 
Members of the Board shall attend as necessary or desirable.  

Upon completion of all Bond projects, the Committee shall prepare a final 
written report summarizing its activities and conclusions.  

The Board shall, without expending Bond funds: 

a. Provide the Committee with any necessary technical assistance;

129 of 175 129 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 
 

 6 

b. Provide administrative assistance in furtherance of the Committee’s 
purpose; and 

 

c. Provide the Committee with sufficient resources to publicize the 
Committee’s conclusions. 

 

The Associate Superintendent of Operations will serve as a resource to the 
Committee. He/she shall assign such other district staff and professional 
service providers as needed to assist the Committee in carrying out its duties.  
 

The Committee and Board shall hold joint meetings during the first quarter 
(January through March) and third quarter (July through September) of each 
year.  
 

The Committee shall make reports to the Board of Education at each regular 
Board meeting.  This report shall be placed on the Board’s agenda.  All 
recommendations approved by the Committee shall be presented to the 
Board of Education.  The Board shall respond to the Committee’s 
recommendation(s) within sixty (60) days after receipt of the 
recommendation(s).  
 

The CBOC shall establish a set of bylaws and operational rules to manage 
the operation of the committee.  These bylaws and operational rules shall be 
in compliance with Board Policy and all applicable laws.  

 
4. FINANCIAL OPERATIONS 
The Board of Education shall adopt an annual Facilities Program Budget. 
 

a. District staff shall identify the budget by fund and account code on each 
Board action memo that recommends the expenditure of funds for 
facility projects. 

 

130 of 175 130 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

7 

b. The Facility Program Budget shall be formally amended by the board of
Education during the calendar year, as needed, for new and revised
projects and change orders.

5. COMMITTEE SELECTION AND COMPOSITION
The Superintendent or designee and the CBOC shall solicit by all means
available applications for membership on the Committee.

The Committee shall be comprised of individuals who either live or work 
within the boundaries of the district, except that no elected officials shall be 
appointed to the Committee.  

Nominations for the five positions required by law shall be made by the 
respective organization for each position shown below.  

Nominations for all the other positions on the Committee shall be by self-
nomination.  

All nominations shall be made using the CBOC approved Application Form 
and shall include a resume and statement as to why the candidate wants to 
be a Committee member. 

Applicants shall submit all application documents to the Superintendent and 
CBOC Chair.  

The Application Package for all nominees shall be published in a regular or 
special meeting of the Facilities Subcommittee Agenda Package and all 
candidates shall be interviewed by the Facilities Subcommittee at a regular 
or special public meeting.  

The Facilities Subcommittee shall make recommendations based on merit to 
the Board of Education for appointment to the CBOC.  

131 of 175 131 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

8 

The Board of Education shall appoint the Committee members. While the 
Committee must consist of at least seven members, the Board intends the 
Committee to consist of 17 14 members as shown below: members.  

As required by law, Committee membership shall include the following 
categories: 

a. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a business
organization representing the business community of the district;

b. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a senior
citizens’ organization, which may be a local, regional, statewide or
national organization;

c. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a bona fide
taxpayers’ organization, which may be a local, regional, statewide or
national organization;

d. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be the parent or guardian
of at least one child currently enrolled in a school of the district;

e. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be a parent or guardian
of at least one child currently enrolled in a school of the district and be
an active member in a district parent-teacher organization, such as the
PTA or school site council.

f. Committee membership shall also include the following community
members:

1) Seven members shall be selected at-large including three residents of the
City of Richmond, one resident each from the Cities of El Cerrito,
Hercules, Pinole, and San Pablo, excluding sitting elected officials;

132 of 175 132 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

9 

2) Two members One member shall reside in an unincorporated areas area
of the district and shall be selected at-large from unincorporated areas in
of the district, excluding sitting elected officials;

3) One member shall, at the time of appointment, represent the Contra
Costa Building and Construction Trades Council.

4) One member shall, at the time of appointment, be a representative of the
five four employee unions, United Teachers of Richmond (UTR), Public
Employees Local 1 Teamsters Local 856, School Supervisors Association
(SSA), and West Contra Costa Administrators Association (WCCAA)
and Adult School Teachers United (ASTU).  This member may not be a
current WCCUSD employee.

5) One member shall, at the time of appointment, be a WCCUSD student,
and represent district students.

Pursuant to Education Code Section 15282(b), no employee or official of 
the district shall be appointed to the Committee. Additionally, no vendor, 
contractor, or consultant of the district shall be appointed to the Committee. 
If, while serving on the Committee, a member becomes an official or 
employee of the district or becomes a vendor, contractor or consultant of 
the district, their membership on the Committee shall cease immediately.  

Members of the Citizens’ Oversight Committee may serve for no more than 
three consecutive terms of two years each.  Committee members who wish 
to be appointed for a second or third two-year term shall reapply to the 
Board for consideration. (Education Code 15282).  Committee members 
shall receive no remuneration for their participation on the Committee.  

A Committee member who no longer serves as a representative of the 
designated group she/he was appointed to represent (e.g., ceases to be active 
within a taxpayers’ organization, or ceases to have a child enrolled in the 

133 of 175 133 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

10 

district) shall be allowed to complete his/her term. However, that 
Committee member shall not be entitled to serve a subsequent term as a 
representative of the designated group.  

Within sixty (60) days of being notified of a Committee vacancy, the Board 
will appoint a new member to complete the term of the vacancy following 
the process used to select the original Committee members, provided an 
eligible and willing candidate is available and ready to serve.  

Committee members shall be subject to prohibitions regarding 
incompatibility of office pursuant to Government Code 1125-1129 and 
financial interest in contracts pursuant to Government Code 1090-1098.  

The Committee shall establish an attendance policy and procedures for the 
removal from the Committee for a violation of this policy.  

The Committee will determine when a seat on the Committee becomes 
vacant. and a new Committee member will be named by the Board if one or 
more of the following events occur: 

a. The Committee member submits a written resignation;

b. The Committee member fails to meet the participation requirements
above

An individual who replaces such a member shall serve until the completion 
of the original member’s term. Thereafter, the member must apply for an 
additional term if she/he wishes to remain on the Committee. A member 
who is replaced may appeal to the Board for the Board to reappoint that 
person to the Committee. 

Support for Committee Operations 
Audits 

134 of 175 134 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 
 

 11 

In accordance with Education Code 15278, 15286, and 15280, the 
Committee receives and reviews the annual financial and performance audits 
required by Article 13A, section 1, subdivision (b)(3)(C) and (D) of the 
California Constitution. 
• The District shall solicit input from the Committee on the scope and 
objectives of the performance audit. 
• The District shall solicit input from the Committee on the nature, timing, 
and extent of the financial audit work.  To accomplish this, the District shall 
coordinate input from the Committee to the auditors at the beginning and 
end of each financial audit, including an entrance conference and an exit 
conference with the CBOC or its Audit Subcommittee. 
• The Committee shall participate in the interviews to select auditors and 
shall participate with the District in a yearly review of the Auditors’ 
performance. 
• The District shall direct the Auditors to deliver progress reports, and draft 
and final copies of the audits to the Committee at the same time as they are 
delivered to the District. 
• The District shall provide the Committee with responses to any and all 
findings, recommendations, and concerns addressed in the Audits within 
three months of receiving the Audits.  

 
Liaison and Joint Meetings 
In order to foster good communication between the Committee, the 
District, and the Board: 
• The Associate Superintendent of Operations will serve as a resource and 
District liaison to the Committee and shall attend Committee meetings. 
He/she shall assign such other district staff and professional service 
providers as needed to assist the Committee in carrying out its duties. 
• A member of the Board shall act as liaison to the Committee and attend 
Committee meetings. 

135 of 175 135 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

12 

• The Committee and Board shall hold joint meetings during the first quarter
(January through March) and third quarter (July through September) of each
year.
• The Committee shall make reports to the Board of Education at each
regular Board meeting. This report shall be placed on the Board’s agenda.
All recommendations approved by the Committee shall be presented to the
Board of Education. The Board shall respond to the Committee’s
recommendation(s) within sixty (60) days after receipt of the
recommendation(s).

Publicizing Committee Work 
Education Code Section 15280 establishes that the Board shall provide 
sufficient resources to publicize the conclusions of the Committee.  The 
District shall: 
• Establish and maintain a Committee website for the Committee to post its
activities, documents, and conclusions.
• Authorize one Committee member, selected by the Committee, with
appropriate security measures, to post documents to the Committee website
and maintain the Committee website on a current basis.
• Provide resources to publicize the annual report and other findings and
conclusions of the Committee.
• Publicize Committee membership vacancies and recruit new members.

Technical and Administrative Assistance 
Education Code 15280 establishes that the Board shall, without expending 
bond funds, provide the Committee with any necessary technical assistance 
and shall provide administrative assistance in furtherance of its purpose.  To 
this end, the District shall: 

• Establish in April of each year an annual budget for the operation of the
Committee in the following fiscal year as mutually agreed between the
District and the Committee.

136 of 175 136 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 
 

 13 

• Provide financial reports to the Committee, with form and frequency as 
mutually agreed between the District and the Committee. 
• Provide administrative support for Committee and subcommittee meetings 
including assistance in preparing agenda packets, meeting logistics, meeting 
notes and recordings, and posting agendas, minutes, and recordings to the 
Committee website. 
• Provide Committee members training on the Brown Act on an annual 
basis. 
• Provide the Committee independent legal counsel. 
• Facilitate Committee inspection of school sites and construction projects. 
• Facilitate Committee member contact with district staff, district contractors 
or consultants, including, accountants, auditors, architects, financial advisors 
and legal counsel.  Committee members shall inform the District liaison of 
such contact. 

 
Board Policies Relevant to School Bond Construction Program 
Board Policy 3400 Management of District Assets/Accounts and Administrative 
Regulation 3400 
Board Policy 7000 Facilities 
 
Legal References  
EDUCATION CODE  
15278-15288  
CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION  
Article, XIIIA, Section 1 (b)  
Article, XVI, Section 18 (b)  
Policy WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT adopted:  
August, August 2008 Richmond, California  
revised:  January 9, 2008 2009 
revised:  November 16, 2011  
revised:  May 14, 2014  
revised:  December 9, 2015 

137 of 175 137 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/ 19/2019 12:12 AM 
BP 7214.2 Citizen's Bond Oversight Committee 
Explanation of Proposed Amendments 

Background 

The Forensic Accounting Investigation report includes a recommendation that Board Policy 
7214.2 regarding the CBOC be revised (recommendation FI 6-2). At the joint CBOC Board 
meeting of September 12, 2018 District staff presented a proposed revision. The CBOC 
requested the opportunity to review the policy and make its own recommendations for revision, 
and the Board agreed. 

Explanation of Proposed Amendments 

On March 14, 2019 the Citizen's Bond Oversight Committee (CBOC) unanimously approved 
proposed amendments to the Board Policy BP 7214.2 regarding the role and operation of the 
CBOC. It is proposed that these proposed amendments by discussed at the March 27, 2019 Joint 
Board/CBOC meeting. 

These proposed amendments were informed by: 

• extensive discussion by the CBOC over many months 
• research of the California Legislature intent in establishing CBOC's 

• Education Code sections about the role and operation of the Proposition 39 independent 
oversight committees. 

• Advice from CBOC Legal Counsel Adam Ferber 

• Recommendations made by VLS in their September 2016 Forensic Accounting 
Investigation Report. 

• Restatement of Education Code - In the existing Board Policy, there are many sections 
that are lifted word-for-word from the Education Code. The tack we took in the revision 
was to include policies that address implementation of the Code and leave out the 
restatement of the code except via reference. 

• Directives on Committee Operations. The CBOC is an independent body, and the Board 
cannot dictate how we operate. The tack we took was to include policies that address 
District support for our operation, and to delete clauses that would appear to dictate how 
the CBOC operates. 

• Irrelevant Sections. Section 4 - "Financial Operations" in the existing Board Policy do 
not relate specifically to the CBOC, so was deleted. 

Shown below is an explanation of each of the proposed amendments displayed in the attached 
redline version of BP 7214.2. 

C:\Users\Anton_2\Desktop\BP 7214.2 Explanation of Amendments - 3. 18.19 - aj - mm.docx Page 1 of 6 

138 of 175 138 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 
BP 7214.2 Citizen's Bond Oversight Committee 
Explanation of Proposed Amendments 

Pa!!e Line Proposed Amendment 

1 25-28 Provides for the establishment 
of one CBOC for the District' s 
Proposition 39 Bond 
measures, current and future. 

1 30-31 States that this policy 
establishes the practices and 
procedures for CBOC 
selection and support. 

2 32 The CBOC is independent of 
the Board of Education. 

2 33-36 The Board and Superintendent 
shall not adopt any policy or 
practice that would interfere 
with the independence of the 
CBOC. 

2 38-65 Deletes the current policy on 
the Committee's purpose. 

3 67-118 Deletes the current policy on 
the Committee's duties. 

4 121-188 Deletes the current policy on 
Committee' s operations. 

3/19/2019 12:12 AM 

Explanation 

Current practice. 

States the purpose of this 
policy. 

Education Code 

The CBOC is independent of 
the Board and the Board policy 
should reflect this status. 

Repeats what is in the 
California Constitution and 
Education Code. 

The provision on audits are 
included in the proposed new 
section on Audits. The 
remaining duties are all 
included in Education Code. 

The Committee' s operations are 
described in the proposed new 
sections on Liaison and Joint 
Meetings, Publicizing 
Committee Work and Technical 
and Administrative Assistance 
described below. 

C:\Users\Anton ~2\Deslctop\BP 7214.2 Explanation of Amendments - 3. 18. 19 - aj - mm.docx Page 2 of 6 

139 of 175 139 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/19/2019 12:12 AM 
BP 7214.2 Citizen's Bond Oversight Committee 
E I f f P d A d t xp ana 10n o ropose men mens 
Pa!!e Line Proposed Amendment Explanation 

6 190-199 Deletes the current policy on Adoption of annual Facilities 
facilities program budget. Program Budget is not part of 

Committee's role. 

8 232 Proposes to reduce the size of The three positions proposed to 
the CBOC from 17 members be removed have been vacant 
to 14 members. See details for months. 
below. 

9 263 Reduce the number of Position has been vacant for 
unincorporated membership months. 
category from two members to 
one member. 

9 267-268 Remove the Contra Costa Position has been vacant for 
Building Construction Trades months. 
Council membership category. 

9 270-275 Remove the Solution Team Position has been vacant for 
membership category. months. 

10 305-307 Remove reference to Government Code applies 
Government Code about without inclusion in Board 
incompatibility of office. Policy. 

10 309-310 Remove provision that CBOC has this authority 
Committee shall establish an without Board Policy. 
attendance policy. 

10 313-325 Remove provisions about CBOC has this authority 
replace of Committee without Board Policy. 
members. 

10 327 Adds a new section to the New sections for the Board to 
Policy, Support for Committee prescribe how it will support the 
Operations, organized in four operation of the CBOC as an 
parts: independent Proposition 3 9 

• Audits oversight committee. 

• Liaison and Joint 

C:\Users\Anton_2\Desktop\BP 7214.2 Explanation of Amendments - 3.18.19 - aj - mm.docx Page3 of6 

140 of 175 140 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/19/2019 12:12 AM 
BP 7214.2 Citizen's Bond Oversight Committee 
E I f fP d A d t xp ana 10n o ropose men mens 
Page Line Proposed Amendment Explanation 

Meetings 

• Publicizing Committee 
Work 

• Technical and 
Administrative 
Assistance 

11 329-332 Cites legal requirement for Existing Education Code and 
CBOC to receive and revise current practices. 
annual financial and 
performance audits. 

11 333-334 The District shall solicit input Current practice. 
from the Committee on the 
scope and objectives of the 
performance audit. 

11 335-339 CBOC participate in entrance Current practice. 
and exit conference for annual 
financial audit. 

11 340 CBOC participate in Current practice. 
interviews to select auditors. 

11 346-348 The District will provide Existing Education Code. 
CBOC with responses to Normally the District provides 
findings and its response in the audit report 
recommendations. itself. 

11 350-352 Add procedures to foster good Current practice 
communication between the 
Committee, the District, and 
the Board. 

11 357-358 A member of the Board shall Current practice. 
act as liaison to the 
Committee. 

C:\Users\Anton_2\Desktop\BP 7214.2 Explanation of Amendments -3.18.19 - aj - mm.docx Page 4 of 6 

141 of 175 141 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/19/2019 12:12 AM 
BP 7214.2 Citizen's Bond Oversight Committee 
E I f f P d A d t xp ana 10n o ropose men mens 
Page Line Proposed Amendment Explanation 

12 369 Add a new section on Current practice. 
Publicizing Committee Work. 

12 373-374 Establish and maintain Current practice. 
Committee website. 

12 375-376 Authorize one Committee Current practice. 
member to maintain website. 

12 380 Publicize Committee Current practice. 
membership vacancies and 
recruit new members. 

12 382-386 Add a new section Technical Current practice. 
and Administrative Assistance. 

12 388-390 Provides for the establishment Recommended by VLS in the 
in April of each year an annual Forensic Accounting 
budget for the following fiscal Investigation report (FI 6-3). 
year mutually agreed between 
District and the Committee. 

13 391-392 Provides mutually agreed Recommended by VLS in the 
financial reports will be Forensic Accounting 
distributed to the Committee. Investigation report (FI 6-1 ). 

13 393-396 Provides administrative Current practice. 
support for the Committee and 
subcommittees. 

13 397-398 Provides Committee members New requirement consistent 
annual Brown Act training. with VLS recommendation for 

Board Members. 

13 399 Provide the Committee Current practice. Adam Ferber 
independent legal counsel. has been the CBOC 

Independent Legal Counsel for 
several years. 

C:\Users\Anton _ 2\Desktop\BP 72 14.2 Explanation of Amendments - 3 .18. I 9 - aj - mm.docx Page 5 of 6 

142 of 175 142 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 
BP 7214.2 Citizen's Bond Oversight Committee 
Explanation of Proposed Amendments 

Attachments 

3/19/2019 12:12 AM 

1. Board Policy BP 7214.2 Today's Policy as Amended Version 
2. Board Policy BP 7214.2 Redline Version 
3. CBOC Legal Council Adam Ferber's Legal Opinion 

Prepared: March 19, 2019 

Prepared by CBOC Members : Mac Moore, Vanessa Hill and Anton Jungherr 

C:\Users\Anton_2\Desktop\BP 7214.2 Explanation of Amendments - 3.18.19 - aj - mm.docx Page 6 of 6 

143 of 175 143 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/18/2019 3:45 PM 
Board Policy BP 7214.2 Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee (CBOC) 
Proposed Substitute Policy as Unanimously Approved by CBOC on March 14, 2019 

ATTACHMENT 1 
BP 7214.2 CBOC Explanation 

1 

2 Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee (CBOC) -----Ma_rc_h_1~9~, 2=0~1=9 ____ _ 

3 Proposition 39, approved by California voters in the General Election of November 7, 2000 
4 provides that the Governing Board of a school district may pursue the authorization and 
5 issuance of general obligation bonds passed by a vote of 55 percent or more of the electorate. 
6 
7 As a result of the passage of Proposition 39, language was added to the Education Code 
8 requiring school districts passing a bond designated as a Proposition 39 bond to establish a 
9 Citizens' Oversight Committee ("Committee" or "CBOC") to actively review and report on 

10 uses of bond proceeds to ensure that they are spent on ly on school facilities improvements 
11 allowed under each bond measure and not for any other purpose. The Committee shall be 
12 establ ished within sixty (60) days of the date that the Board enters the election results in its 
13 minutes. A school district may also establish a voluntary bond oversight committee for a 
14 general obligation bond adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the electorate. 
15 

16 District voters have approved four Proposition 39 School Bond Measures requiring a CBOC. 
17 The District has established an independent CBOC to provide oversight for these ballot 
18 measures. California Education Code Sections 15264 through 15288 govern the operation of the 
19 CBOC. 

20 The purpose of this policy is to establish the practices and procedures for CBOC selection and 
21 support for its operations. 

22 • The CBOC is independent of the Board of Education, and 

23 • The Board and Superintendent shall not adopt any policy, administrative regulation, 
24 practice or procedure that would interfere with the independence of the CBOC. In the 
25 event of any conflict between this policy and the Education Code, the provisions of the 
26 Education Code shall apply. 

27 Committee Selection and Composition 

28 The Superintendent or designee and the Committee shall solicit by all means available 
29 applications for membership on the Committee. 

30 The Committee shall be comprised of individuals who either live or work within the boundaries 
31 of the district, except that no elected officials shall be appointed to the Committee. 
32 
33 Nominations for the five positions required by law shall be made by the respective organization 
34 for each position shown below. 
35 
36 Nominations for all the other positions on the Committee shall be by self-nomination. 
37 
38 All nominations shall be made using the Committee approved Application Form and shall 
39 include a resume and statement to why the candidate wants to be a Committee member. 

40 Applicants shall submit all application documents to the Superintendent and Committee Chair. 

C:\BP 7214.2 - As Approved by CBOC March 14, 20 19 - 3. 18.19 - aj.docx Page 1 of 5 

144 of 175 144 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/18/2019 3:45 PM 
Board Policy BP 7214.2 Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee (CBOC) 
Proposed Substitute Policy as Unanimously Approved by CBOC on March 14, 2019 

41 The Application Package for all nominees shall be published in a regular Facilities 
42 Subcommittee Agenda Package and all candidates shall be interviewed by the Facilities 
43 Subcommittee at a regular public meeting. 
44 
45 The Facilities Subcommittee shall make recommendations based on merit to the Board of 
46 Education for appointment to the Committee. 
47 
48 The Board of Education shall appoint the Committee members. While the Committee must 
49 consist of at least seven members, the Board intends the Committee to consist of --l--+ 14 members 
50 as shown below members. 
51 
52 As required by law, Committee membership shall include the following categories: 
53 
54 a. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a business organization 
55 representing the business community of the district; 
56 
57 b. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a senior citizens' 
58 organization, which may be a local, regional, statewide or national organization; 
59 
60 c. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a bona fide taxpayers' 
61 organization, which may be a local, regional, statewide or national organization; 
62 
63 d. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be the parent or guardian of at least 
64 one child currently enrolled in a school of the district; 
65 
66 e. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be a parent or guardian of at least one child 
67 currently enrolled in a school of the district and be an active member in a district parent-
68 teacher organization, such as the PTA or school site council. 
69 
70 f. Committee membership shall also include the following community members: 

71 (1) Seven members shall be selected at-large including three residents of the City of 
72 Richmond, one resident each from the Cities of El Cerrito, Hercules, Pinole, and San Pablo, 
73 excluding sitting elected officials; 
74 
75 (2) One member shall reside in unincorporated areas of the district and shall be 
76 selected at-large from unincorporated areas of the district, excluding sitting elected 
77 officials; 
78 
79 (3) One member shall , at the time of appointment, be a WCCUSD student, and represent District 
80 students. 
81 
82 Pursuant to Education Code Section 15282(6), no employee or official of the district shall be 
83 appointed to the Committee. Additionally, no vendor, contractor, or consultant of the district 
84 shall be appointed to the Committee. If, while serving on the Committee, a member becomes an 
85 official or employee of the district or becomes a vendor, contractor or consultant of the district, 
86 their membership on the Committee shall cease immediately. 

C:\BP 7214.2 - As Approved by CBOC March 14, 2019 - 3.18.19 - aj.docx Page 2 of 5 
145 of 175 145 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/18/2019 3:45 PM 
Board Policy BP 7214.2 Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee (CBOC) 
Proposed Substitute Policy as Unanimously Approved by CBOC on March 14, 2019 

87 Members of the Cit izens' Bond Oversight Committee may serve for no more than three 
88 consecutive terms of two years each. Committee members who wish to be appointed for a 
89 second or third two-year term shall reapply to the Board for consideration. (Education Code 
90 15282) Committee members shall receive no remuneration for their participation on the 
91 Committee. 
92 
93 A Committee member who no longer serves as a representative of the designated group she/he 
94 was appointed to represent ( e.g., ceases to be active w ithin a taxpayers' organization, or ceases 
95 to have a child enrolled in the district) shall be allowed to complete his/her term. However, that 
96 Committee member shall not be entitled to serve a subsequent term as a representative of the 
97 designated group. 
98 
99 Within sixty (60) days of being notified of a Committee vacancy, the Board wil l appoint a new 

100 member to complete the term of the vacancy following the process used to select the original 
101 Committee members, provided an eligible and willing candidate is available and ready to 
102 serve. 

103 The Committee will determine when a seat on the Committee becomes vacant. 

104 Support for Committee Operations 

105 Audits 

106 In accordance with Education Code 15278, 15286, and 15280, the Committee receives and 
107 reviews the annual financial and performance audits required by Article 13A, section 1, 
108 subdivision (b)(3)(C) and (D) of the California Constitution. 

109 • The District shall solicit input from the Committee on the scope and objectives of the 
110 performance audit. 

111 • The District shall solicit input from the Committee on the nature, timing, and extent of the 
112 financial audit work. To accomplish this, the District shall coordinate input from the 
113 Committee to the auditors at the beginning and end of each financial audit, including an 
114 entrance conference and an exit conference with the CBOC or its Audit Subcommittee. 

115 • The Committee shall participate in the interviews to select auditors and shall participate with 
116 the District in a yearly review of the Auditors' performance. 

117 • The District shall direct the Auditors to deliver progress reports, and draft and final copies of 
118 the audits to the Committee at the same time as they are delivered to the District. 

119 • The District shall provide the Committee with responses to any and all findings, 
120 recommendations, and concerns addressed in the Audits within three months of receiving the 
121 Audits. 

122 Liaison and Joint Meetings 

123 In order to foster good communication between the Committee, the District, and the Board: 

C:\BP 7214.2 -As Approved by CBOC March 14, 20 19 - 3. 18. 19 - aj.docx Page 3 of 5 
146 of 175 146 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/18/2019 3:45 PM 
Board Policy BP 7214.2 Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee (CBOC) 
Proposed Substitute Policy as Unanimously Approved by CBOC on March 14, 2019 

124 • The Associate Superintendent of Operations will serve as a resource and District liaison to the 
125 Committee and shall attend Committee meetings. He/she shall assign such other district staff 
126 and professional service providers as needed to assist the Committee in carrying out its duties. 

127 • A member of the Board shall act as liaison to the Committee and attend Committee meetings. 

128 • The Committee and Board shall hold joint meetings during the first quarter (January through 
129 March) and third quarter (July through September) of each year. 

130 • The Committee shall make reports to the Board of Education at each regular Board meeting. 
131 This report shall be placed on the Board's agenda. All recommendations approved by the 
132 Committee shall be presented to the Board of Education. The Board shall respond to the 
133 Committee's recommendation(s) within sixty (60) days after receipt of the recommendation(s). 

134 Publicizing Committee Work 

135 Education Code Section 15280 establishes that the Board shall provide sufficient resources to 
136 publicize the conclusions of the Committee. The District shall: 

137 • Establish and maintain a Committee website for the Committee to post its activities, 
138 documents, and conclusions. 

139 • Authorize one Committee member, selected by the Committee, with appropriate security 
140 measures, to post documents to the Committee website and maintain the Committee website on 
141 a current basis. 

142 • Provide resources to publicize the annual report and other findings and conclusions of the 
143 Committee. 

144 • Publicize Committee membership vacancies and recruit new members. 

145 Technical and Administrative Assistance 

146 Education Code 15280 establishes that the Board shall, without expending bond funds, provide the 
147 Committee with any necessary technical assistance and shall provide administrative assistance in 
148 furtherance of its purpose. To this end, the District shall: 

149 • Establish in April of each year an annual budget for the operation of the Committee in the 
150 following fiscal year as mutually agreed between the District and the Committee. 

151 • Provide financial reports to the Committee, with form and frequency as mutually agreed 
152 between the District and the Committee. 

153 • Provide administrative support for Committee and subcommittee meetings including assistance 
154 in preparing agenda packets, meeting logistics, meeting notes and recordings, and posting 
155 agendas, minutes, and recordings to the Committee website. 

156 • Provide Committee members training on the Brown Act on an annual basis. 

C:\BP 7214.2 - As Approved by CBOC March 14, 2019 - 3.18.19 - aj.docx Page 4 of 5 

147 of 175 147 of 175



WCCUSDCBOC 3/18/2019 3:45 PM 
Board Policy BP 7214.2 Citizens' Bond Oversight Committee (CBOC) 
Proposed Substitute Policy as Unanimously Approved by CBOC on March 14, 2019 

157 • Provide the Committee independent legal counsel. 

158 • Facilitate Committee inspection of school sites and construction projects. 

159 • Facilitate Committee member contact with district staff, district contractors or consultants, 
160 including, accountants, auditors, architects, financial advisors and legal counsel. Committee 
161 members shall inform the District liaison of such contact. 

162 Board Policies Relevant to School Bond Construction Program 

163 Board Policy 3400 Management of District Assets/Accounts and Administrative Regulation 3400 

164 Board Policy 7000 Facilities 

165 Legal References 

166 EDUCATIONCODE 

167 15264-15288 

168 CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION 

169 Article XI/IA, Section 1 (b) 

170 Article, XVI, Section 18 (b) 

171 POLICY WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

172 Adopted: August 2008 

173 Revised: January 9, 2009 

174 Revised: November 16, 2011 

175 Revised: May 14, 2014 

176 Revised: December 9, 2015 

177 Revised: --------

C:\BP 7214.2 - As Approved by CBOC March 14, 2019 -3.18.19 - aj.docx Page 5 of5 

148 of 175 148 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

1 

THESE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE BOARD POLICY 1 
REMOVE SOME VERBAGE, ADD NEW VERBAGE AND 2 

RELOCATES OTHER VERBAGE. 3 
LANGUAGE PROPOSED TO BE ALTERED IS IN RED. 4 

NEW LANGUAGE IS IN RED. 5 
LANGUAGE TO BE REMOVED IS IN RED AND INCLUDES A 6 

STRIKETHROUGH 7 

8 
Proposition 39, approved by California voters in the General Election of 9 
November 7, 2000 provides that the Governing Board of a school district 10 
may pursue the authorization and issuance of general obligation bonds 11 
passed by a vote of 55 percent or more of the electorate. 12 

13 
As a result of the passage of Proposition 39, language was added to the 14 
Education Code requiring school districts passing a bond designated as a 15 
Proposition 39 bond to establish a Citizens’ Oversight Committee 16 
(“Committee” or “CBOC”) to actively review and report on uses of bond 17 
proceeds to ensure that they are spent only on school facilities improvements 18 
allowed under each bond measure and not for any other purpose. The 19 
Committee shall be established within sixty (60) days of the date that the 20 
Board enters the election results in its minutes. A school district may also 21 
establish a voluntary bond oversight committee for a general obligation bond 22 
adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the electorate. 23 

24 
District voters have approved multiple Proposition 39 School Bond 25 
Measures requiring a CBOC.  The District has established an independent 26 
CBOC to provide oversight for these ballot measures. California Education 27 
Code Sections 15264 through 15288 govern the operation of the CBOC. 28 

29 
The purpose of this policy is to establish the practices and procedures for 30 
CBOC selection and support for its operations. 31 

149 of 175 149 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

2 

• The CBOC is independent of the Board of Education, and 32 
• The Board and Superintendent shall not adopt any policy, administrative33 
regulation, practice or procedure that would interfere with the independence 34 
of the CBOC.  In the event of any conflict between this policy and the 35 
Education Code, the provisions of the Education Code shall apply. 36 

37 
1. COMMITTEE’S PURPOSE38 
The purpose of the Committee is to inform the public concerning the 39 
expenditure and uses of bond revenues. The Committee’s legal charge is to 40 
actively review and report on the expenditure of taxpayer’s money for school 41 
construction. The Committee shall convene to provide oversight of the 42 
following: 43 

44 
a. That bond revenues from bonds adopted by a 55 percent vote of the45 

electorate are expended only for the purpose described in Article 13A, 46 
section 1, subdivision (b)(3) of the California Constitution including the 47 
construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation or replacement of school 48 
facilities, including for a Proposition 39 bond measure the furnishing and 49 
equipping of school facilities, or the acquisition or lease of real property 50 
for school facilities; and 51 

52 
b. That, for bonds adopted by a 55 percent vote of the electorate, as53 

prohibited by Article l3A, section 1, subdivision (b)(3)(A) of the 54 
California Constitution, no funds are used for any teacher and 55 
administrative salaries or other school operating expenses, except for 56 
salaries of bond facilities project administrators paid pursuant to the 57 
November 2001 and February 2003 resolutions validated by the 58 
Judgment of Validation in the Superior Court of California, Contra Costa 59 
County Action No. N03-02l6; and 60 

61 
c. That, for bonds adopted by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the electorate,62 

funds are used only for the purposes described in Article l3A, section 1, 63 

150 of 175 150 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

3 

subdivision (b)(2) of the California Constitution including the acquisition 64 
or improvement of real property. 65 

66 
2. COMMITTEE’S DUTIES67 
The Committee may engage in the following activities in furtherance of its 68 
purpose: 69 

70 
a. Receiving and reviewing copies of the annual performance audits71 

required by Article 13A, section 1, subdivision (b)(3)(C) of the California 72 
Constitution. 73 

74 
1) The Auditor shall deliver directly to the Audit Subcommittee a draft copy75 

of each audit report at the same time as delivery is made to the district. 76 
77 

2) The Auditor shall deliver directly to the Committee progress reports at78 
the same time at these reports are issued to the district. 79 

80 
3) The Committee shall participate with the district in a yearly review of the81 

Auditor’s performance. 82 
83 

b. Receiving and reviewing the annual financial audits required by Article84 
13A, section 1, subdivisions (b)(3)(D) of the California Constitution. 85 

86 
1) The Auditor shall deliver directly to the Audit Subcommittee a draft copy87 

of each audit report at the same time as delivery is made to the district. 88 
89 

2) The Auditor shall deliver directly to the Committee progress reports at90 
the same time at these reports are issued to the district. 91 

92 
3) The Committee shall participate with the district in a yearly review of the93 

Auditor’s performance. 94 
95 

151 of 175 151 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

4 

c. Inspecting school facilities and grounds to ensure that Bond revenues are 96 
expended in compliance with the requirements of Article 13A, section 1, 97 
subdivision (b)(3) of the California Constitution. 98 

99 
d. Receiving and reviewing copies of any deferred maintenance proposals100 

or plans developed by the district, including any reports required by 101 
Education Code section 17584.1. 102 

103 
e. Reviewing efforts by the district to maximize Bond revenues by104 

implementing cost-saving measures including, but not limited, to the 105 
following: 106 

107 
1) Mechanisms designed to reduce the costs of professional fees;108 

109 
2) Mechanisms designed to reduce the cost of site preparation;110 

111 
3) Recommendations regarding the joint use of core facilities;112 

113 
4) Mechanisms designed to reduce costs by incorporating efficiencies in114 

school site design; 115 
116 

5) (Recommendations regarding the use of cost-effective and efficient117 
reusable facility plans. 118 

119 
120 

3. COMMITTEE OPERATIONS121 
The Committee’s legal charge is to review Bond expenditures and to inform 122 
the public about the uses of Bond proceeds. 123 

124 
The Committee shall have the authority to: 125 

126 
a. Inspect a job site or construction project in coordination with the district127 

Superintendent or designee. Visits to job sites require that the Committee 128 
member(s) be accompanied by a representative of the district and require 129 
that all safety measures in effect at the job site be followed. 130 

152 of 175 152 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

5 

131 
b. Contact district staff, district contractors or consultants, including132 

without limitation, accountants, auditors, architects, financial advisors 133 
and legal counsel in coordination with district Superintendent or 134 
designee.  135 

136 
The Committee shall not have the authority to: 137 
a. Participate in the bond sale and issuance process or make decisions138 

concerning the timing, terms or structure of a bond issuance, except that 139 
the Committee may review the district’s plans for any bond sale and may 140 
review bond issuance documents upon the conclusion of a bond sale if 141 
desired; 142 

143 
b. Determine how bond funds shall be spent;144 

145 
c. Select contractors or consultants for bond projects or participate in the146 

negotiation or bid process for such contractors and consultants; 147 
148 

d. Require the district to prepare reports or conduct audits more frequently149 
than those required by law. 150 

151 
The Committee shall not be entitled to legal representation by district legal 152 
counselor at district expense, unless permitted by the Board. 153 

154 
The Superintendent or his/her designee shall attend Committee meetings. 155 
Members of the Board shall attend as necessary or desirable. 156 

157 
Upon completion of all Bond projects, the Committee shall prepare a final 158 
written report summarizing its activities and conclusions. 159 

160 
The Board shall, without expending Bond funds: 161 

162 
a. Provide the Committee with any necessary technical assistance;163 

164 

153 of 175 153 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

6 

b. Provide administrative assistance in furtherance of the Committee’s 165 
purpose; and166 

167 
c. Provide the Committee with sufficient resources to publicize the168 

Committee’s conclusions. 169 
170 

The Associate Superintendent of Operations will serve as a resource to the 171 
Committee. He/she shall assign such other district staff and professional 172 
service providers as needed to assist the Committee in carrying out its duties. 173 

174 
The Committee and Board shall hold joint meetings during the first quarter 175 
(January through March) and third quarter (July through September) of each 176 
year. 177 

178 
The Committee shall make reports to the Board of Education at each regular 179 
Board meeting.  This report shall be placed on the Board’s agenda.  All 180 
recommendations approved by the Committee shall be presented to the 181 
Board of Education.  The Board shall respond to the Committee’s 182 
recommendation(s) within sixty (60) days after receipt of the 183 
recommendation(s). 184 

185 
The CBOC shall establish a set of bylaws and operational rules to manage 186 
the operation of the committee.  These bylaws and operational rules shall be 187 
in compliance with Board Policy and all applicable laws. 188 

189 
4. FINANCIAL OPERATIONS190 
The Board of Education shall adopt an annual Facilities Program Budget. 191 

192 
a. District staff shall identify the budget by fund and account code on each193 

Board action memo that recommends the expenditure of funds for 194 
facility projects. 195 

196 

154 of 175 154 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

7 

b. The Facility Program Budget shall be formally amended by the board of 197 
Education during the calendar year, as needed, for new and revised 198 
projects and change orders. 199 

200 
5. COMMITTEE SELECTION AND COMPOSITION201 
The Superintendent or designee and the CBOC shall solicit by all means 202 
available applications for membership on the Committee. 203 

204 
The Committee shall be comprised of individuals who either live or work 205 
within the boundaries of the district, except that no elected officials shall be 206 
appointed to the Committee. 207 

208 
Nominations for the five positions required by law shall be made by the 209 
respective organization for each position shown below. 210 

211 
Nominations for all the other positions on the Committee shall be by self-212 
nomination. 213 

214 
All nominations shall be made using the CBOC approved Application Form 215 
and shall include a resume and statement as to why the candidate wants to 216 
be a Committee member. 217 

218 
Applicants shall submit all application documents to the Superintendent and 219 
CBOC Chair. 220 

221 
The Application Package for all nominees shall be published in a regular or 222 
special meeting of the Facilities Subcommittee Agenda Package and all 223 
candidates shall be interviewed by the Facilities Subcommittee at a regular 224 
or special public meeting. 225 

226 
The Facilities Subcommittee shall make recommendations based on merit to 227 
the Board of Education for appointment to the CBOC. 228 

229 

155 of 175 155 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

8 

The Board of Education shall appoint the Committee members. While the 230 
Committee must consist of at least seven members, the Board intends the 231 
Committee to consist of 17 14 members as shown below: members. 232 

233 
As required by law, Committee membership shall include the following 234 
categories: 235 

236 
a. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a business237 

organization representing the business community of the district; 238 
239 

b. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a senior240 
citizens’ organization, which may be a local, regional, statewide or 241 
national organization; 242 

243 
c. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be active in a bona fide244 

taxpayers’ organization, which may be a local, regional, statewide or 245 
national organization; 246 

247 
d. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be the parent or guardian248 

of at least one child currently enrolled in a school of the district; 249 
250 

e. One member shall, at the time of appointment, be a parent or guardian251 
of at least one child currently enrolled in a school of the district and be 252 
an active member in a district parent-teacher organization, such as the 253 
PTA or school site council. 254 

255 
f. Committee membership shall also include the following community256 

members: 257 
258 

1) Seven members shall be selected at-large including three residents of the259 
City of Richmond, one resident each from the Cities of El Cerrito, 260 
Hercules, Pinole, and San Pablo, excluding sitting elected officials; 261 

262 

156 of 175 156 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

9 

2) Two members One member shall reside in an unincorporated areas area 263 
of the district and shall be selected at-large from unincorporated areas in 264 
of the district, excluding sitting elected officials; 265 

266 
3) One member shall, at the time of appointment, represent the Contra267 

Costa Building and Construction Trades Council. 268 
269 

4) One member shall, at the time of appointment, be a representative of the270 
five four employee unions, United Teachers of Richmond (UTR), Public 271 
Employees Local 1 Teamsters Local 856, School Supervisors Association 272 
(SSA), and West Contra Costa Administrators Association (WCCAA) 273 
and Adult School Teachers United (ASTU).  This member may not be a 274 
current WCCUSD employee.  275 

276 
5) One member shall, at the time of appointment, be a WCCUSD student,277 

and represent district students. 278 
279 

Pursuant to Education Code Section 15282(b), no employee or official of 280 
the district shall be appointed to the Committee. Additionally, no vendor, 281 
contractor, or consultant of the district shall be appointed to the Committee. 282 
If, while serving on the Committee, a member becomes an official or 283 
employee of the district or becomes a vendor, contractor or consultant of 284 
the district, their membership on the Committee shall cease immediately. 285 

286 
Members of the Citizens’ Oversight Committee may serve for no more than 287 
three consecutive terms of two years each.  Committee members who wish 288 
to be appointed for a second or third two-year term shall reapply to the 289 
Board for consideration. (Education Code 15282).  Committee members 290 
shall receive no remuneration for their participation on the Committee. 291 

292 
A Committee member who no longer serves as a representative of the 293 
designated group she/he was appointed to represent (e.g., ceases to be active 294 
within a taxpayers’ organization, or ceases to have a child enrolled in the 295 

157 of 175 157 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

10 

district) shall be allowed to complete his/her term. However, that 296 
Committee member shall not be entitled to serve a subsequent term as a 297 
representative of the designated group. 298 

299 
Within sixty (60) days of being notified of a Committee vacancy, the Board 300 
will appoint a new member to complete the term of the vacancy following 301 
the process used to select the original Committee members, provided an 302 
eligible and willing candidate is available and ready to serve. 303 

304 
Committee members shall be subject to prohibitions regarding 305 
incompatibility of office pursuant to Government Code 1125-1129 and 306 
financial interest in contracts pursuant to Government Code 1090-1098. 307 

308 
The Committee shall establish an attendance policy and procedures for the 309 
removal from the Committee for a violation of this policy. 310 

311 
The Committee will determine when a seat on the Committee becomes 312 
vacant. and a new Committee member will be named by the Board if one or 313 
more of the following events occur: 314 

315 
a. The Committee member submits a written resignation;316 

317 
b. The Committee member fails to meet the participation requirements318 

above 319 
320 

An individual who replaces such a member shall serve until the completion 321 
of the original member’s term. Thereafter, the member must apply for an 322 
additional term if she/he wishes to remain on the Committee. A member 323 
who is replaced may appeal to the Board for the Board to reappoint that 324 
person to the Committee. 325 

326 
Support for Committee Operations 327 
Audits 328 

158 of 175 158 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

11 

In accordance with Education Code 15278, 15286, and 15280, the 329 
Committee receives and reviews the annual financial and performance audits 330 
required by Article 13A, section 1, subdivision (b)(3)(C) and (D) of the 331 
California Constitution. 332 
• The District shall solicit input from the Committee on the scope and333 
objectives of the performance audit. 334 
• The District shall solicit input from the Committee on the nature, timing,335 
and extent of the financial audit work.  To accomplish this, the District shall 336 
coordinate input from the Committee to the auditors at the beginning and 337 
end of each financial audit, including an entrance conference and an exit 338 
conference with the CBOC or its Audit Subcommittee. 339 
• The Committee shall participate in the interviews to select auditors and340 
shall participate with the District in a yearly review of the Auditors’ 341 
performance. 342 
• The District shall direct the Auditors to deliver progress reports, and draft343 
and final copies of the audits to the Committee at the same time as they are 344 
delivered to the District. 345 
• The District shall provide the Committee with responses to any and all346 
findings, recommendations, and concerns addressed in the Audits within 347 
three months of receiving the Audits. 348 

349 
Liaison and Joint Meetings 350 
In order to foster good communication between the Committee, the 351 
District, and the Board: 352 
• The Associate Superintendent of Operations will serve as a resource and353 
District liaison to the Committee and shall attend Committee meetings. 354 
He/she shall assign such other district staff and professional service 355 
providers as needed to assist the Committee in carrying out its duties. 356 
• A member of the Board shall act as liaison to the Committee and attend357 
Committee meetings. 358 

159 of 175 159 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

12 

• The Committee and Board shall hold joint meetings during the first quarter 359 
(January through March) and third quarter (July through September) of each 360 
year. 361 
• The Committee shall make reports to the Board of Education at each362 
regular Board meeting. This report shall be placed on the Board’s agenda. 363 
All recommendations approved by the Committee shall be presented to the 364 
Board of Education. The Board shall respond to the Committee’s 365 
recommendation(s) within sixty (60) days after receipt of the 366 
recommendation(s). 367 

368 
Publicizing Committee Work 369 
Education Code Section 15280 establishes that the Board shall provide 370 
sufficient resources to publicize the conclusions of the Committee.  The 371 
District shall: 372 
• Establish and maintain a Committee website for the Committee to post its373 
activities, documents, and conclusions. 374 
• Authorize one Committee member, selected by the Committee, with375 
appropriate security measures, to post documents to the Committee website 376 
and maintain the Committee website on a current basis. 377 
• Provide resources to publicize the annual report and other findings and378 
conclusions of the Committee. 379 
• Publicize Committee membership vacancies and recruit new members.380 

381 
Technical and Administrative Assistance 382 
Education Code 15280 establishes that the Board shall, without expending 383 
bond funds, provide the Committee with any necessary technical assistance 384 
and shall provide administrative assistance in furtherance of its purpose.  To 385 
this end, the District shall: 386 

387 
• Establish in April of each year an annual budget for the operation of the388 
Committee in the following fiscal year as mutually agreed between the 389 
District and the Committee. 390 

160 of 175 160 of 175



CITIZENS’ BOND OVERSIGHT COMMITTEE 
PROPOSED REVISIONS 

TO 
WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT 

BOARD POLICY 7214.2 

13 

• Provide financial reports to the Committee, with form and frequency as 391 
mutually agreed between the District and the Committee. 392 
• Provide administrative support for Committee and subcommittee meetings393 
including assistance in preparing agenda packets, meeting logistics, meeting 394 
notes and recordings, and posting agendas, minutes, and recordings to the 395 
Committee website. 396 
• Provide Committee members training on the Brown Act on an annual397 
basis. 398 
• Provide the Committee independent legal counsel.399 
• Facilitate Committee inspection of school sites and construction projects.400 
• Facilitate Committee member contact with district staff, district contractors401 
or consultants, including, accountants, auditors, architects, financial advisors 402 
and legal counsel.  Committee members shall inform the District liaison of 403 
such contact. 404 

405 
Board Policies Relevant to School Bond Construction Program 406 
Board Policy 3400 Management of District Assets/Accounts and Administrative 407 
Regulation 3400 408 
Board Policy 7000 Facilities 409 

410 
Legal References 411 
EDUCATION CODE 412 
15278-15288 413 
CALIFORNIA CONSTITUTION 414 
Article, XIIIA, Section 1 (b) 415 
Article, XVI, Section 18 (b) 416 
Policy WEST CONTRA COSTA UNIFIED SCHOOL DISTRICT adopted: 417 
August, August 2008 Richmond, California 418 
revised:  January 9, 2008 2009 419 
revised:  November 16, 2011 420 
revised:  May 14, 2014 421 
revised:  December 9, 2015 422 

161 of 175 161 of 175



ATTACHMENT 3 
BP 7214.2 CBOC EXPLANATION 

MARCH 19, 2019 
Law Office of 

Adam S. Ferber 
www.ferberlawoffice.com  

1180 Brown Ave, Suite 100 
Lafayette, CA 94549       

(510) 508-2500
adam.ferber@yahoo.com 

Memorandum 
The information in this document is confidential 

and protected by attorney-client and attorney work product privileges. 

TO: Don Gosney 
Chair – WCCUSD Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee 

FROM:  Adam S. Ferber 

SUBJECT: Intent of Proposition 39 With Regard to Bond Program 

DATE:  March 8, 2019 

In a letter dated March 2, 2019, which I received on March 5, 2019, you 
asked for my opinion concerning how, in general, California courts would 
likely interpret the purview of a Citizens Bond Oversight Committee in 
light of Proposition 39, the 2001 ballot measure which amended California 
Constitution Section 1 of Article XIII A, and Section 13 of Article XVI.  

The precise interpretation by a court of any Constitutional or statutory 
language would depend primarily on the specific facts of the matter in 
front of it.  However, in my opinion, in general, a court would likely 
construe that purview liberally. 

Discussion 

The principal impact of Proposition 39 was to lower the threshold required 
to pass California local school district bond measures from a two-thirds 
super majority vote to a 55% super majority vote, subject to certain 
oversight and accountability requirements.1  These oversight and 

1 In the interest of economy, this memorandum is brief.  For a fuller discussion of the purview of the CBOC, I refer 
you to pertinent portions of my September 16, 2015 opinion letter to Ms. Ivette Rico, then CBOC Chair.  A copy of 
that letter is transmitted electronically along with this memorandum. 

162 of 175 162 of 175



ATTACHMENT 3 
BP 7214.2 CBOC EXPLANATION 

MARCH 19, 2019 
accountability requirements ultimately included the creation, by the 
enactment of Education Section 15278, of a Citizens Bond Oversight 
Committee (“CBOC”) upon the first successful passage of a school district 
bond measure pursuant to Proposition 39.   

The ultimately prevailing proponents of Proposition 39 stated the 
following in their arguments in support of the measure: 

Passing Prop. 39 will: 

Hold Administrators accountable for spending school bond 
construction money: 

- Prohibit using funds for administration or bureaucracy.

- Require school administrators to produce a detailed list of
specific school construction and repair projects to be funded. 

- Require schools to undergo two rigid, independent financial
and performance audits every year. 

- Require bonds to be passed by a tough 55% supermajority vote.

This initiative helps fix classroom overcrowding and provides much 
needed repairs of unsafe and outdated schools.  It mandates the 
strictest accountability requirements to ensure that bond funds 
are spent only on schools and classrooms, protecting taxpayers. 
(Emphasis supplied) 

It therefore appears that the drafters of the Measure, and the voters who 
passed it, understood and expected that the accountability measures 
provided for were to be of the strictest kind.  Conversely, especially in light 
of the expansion of taxing authority accorded to school districts, it appears 
that the drafters wished to avoid the “evil” of less than the strictest 
accountability requirements including any possible obfuscation or 
concealment, however inadvertent.  It can be fairly inferred that citizen 
oversight to enforce accountability measures would be liberally construed. 

In the interest of brevity, this memorandum omits the precise language of the ballot measure, and the language of the 
Constitutional amendments that effectuated it.  I will happy to provide this language upon request. 

163 of 175 163 of 175



West Contra Costa County
Unified School District

Facilities Master Plan Discussion
Joint CBOC/Board of Education Meeting, March 27th, 2019

Presented by:  Gregg Visineau (CBOC Member)

Then:  June/July 2016 [slides 2 and 3]

$181.8 million budget for Board-approved projects.

Now:  March 2019 [slides 4 and 5]

Some perspective on escalation and mitigation.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 1164 of 175 164 of 175



June 2016 Board-approved Projects

• 21 school site projects in this initial FMP program.

• Scheduled to conclude by 2023.

• Each project had its cost estimated as of June 2016.

• For budgeting, these were then escalated at 5% per year, from
mid-2016 to the scheduled mid-point of each of the 21 projects.

➢ The result was a $181.8 million budget for these projects.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 2165 of 175 165 of 175



“Closing the Gap at the Get-Go”

• June 2016 projected budget funding $    164.7 million
Source of Funds:  Local Bonds Only

2016 = $     8.5 million

2018 = $   60.5 million

2020 = $ 95.7 million

Total = $ 164.7 million, directly from the FMP

• <less> June 2016 FMP budget req’ts $ <181.8> see Slide 2

• Funding <gap> to-be-filled $   <17.1> million

• “Closing the Gap at the Get-Go” $  ~ 26 State grants thru 2023

• Projected Surplus vs $181.1 million $  ~   9 million

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 3166 of 175 166 of 175



Some Perspective
➢ Actual escalation has been around 8% so far,

based on projects comprising a third of the $181.8 million budget.

 This is on the low end of the State DSA’s 7-12% range from Feb 2018.

➢ Extrapolated over all 21 school site projects, 8% v 5% escalation
would add about $25 million more to the $181.8 million FMP budget.

➢ But this does not account for any mitigation, such as:
• Re-scoping or downsizing of projects;
• Re-timing (advancing or delaying) individual projects;
• Re-prioritizing (or re-ordering) several projects;
• Re-phasing (spreading out or splitting up) projects;
• Placing specific projects on hold (for re-assessment); or
• Cancelling (or long-term deferring) projects altogether.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 4167 of 175 167 of 175



Mitigation:

Projected surplus @ 5% escalation ~ $9 million. See Slide 3

8% escalation adds about  $25 million to the budget, See Slide 4

leaving a new $16 million gap to-be-filled.

On the COST Side:  Thru Program Management

• Budget Savings = $1.4 million-to-date; assume pro rata
performance, so maybe $4 – 6 million over the full program.

• Re-scope & re-prioritize to constrain escalating costs. See Slide 4

On the MONEY Side:  Via Sources of Funds

• Additional state grants (beyond original $26 million projection, Slide 3).

• New local school bond measures.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 5168 of 175 168 of 175



WRAP UP

Facilities Master Plan Discussion
Joint CBOC/Board of Education Meeting, March 27th, 2019

Presented by:  Gregg Visineau (CBOC Member)

Then:  June/July 2016 [slides 2 and 3]

$181.8 million budget for Board-approved projects.

Now:  March 2019 [slides 4 and 5]

Some perspective on escalation and mitigation.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 6169 of 175 169 of 175



West Contra Costa County
Unified School District

Facilities Master Plan Discussion
Joint CBOC/Board of Education Meeting, March 27th, 2019

Presented by:  Gregg Visineau (CBOC Member)

Then:  June/July 2016 [slides 2 and 3]

$181.8 million budget for Board-approved projects.

Now:  March 2019 [slides 4 and 5]

Some perspective on escalation and mitigation.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 1

We’ll quickly review the original Board-approved FMP project budget on the next two 
pages.

Then offer up a two-page perspective based on evidence from the past 3-years:

Challenges

Escalation is exceeding the 5% annual rate assumed in the original FMP budget, under 
pressure from several fronts, such as:

• Construction of replacement homes for northern California wildfire victims.
• A proposed strategy to build 3.5 million new homes across the State by 2025.
• Import tariffs on key materials like cement, wood and metals.

Positives

The District is actively engaged in budget management to address this escalation, for 
example:

• Generating budget savings-to-date.
• Utilizing design-build entities.
• Accessing state grant funding.

1
170 of 175 170 of 175



June 2016 Board-approved Projects

• 21 school site projects in this initial FMP program.

• Scheduled to conclude by 2023.

• Each project had its cost estimated as of June 2016.

• For budgeting, these were then escalated at 5% per year, from
mid-2016 to the scheduled mid-point of each of the 21 projects.

➢ The result was a $181.8 million budget for these projects.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 2

Source: From the FMP → “WCCUSD Long Range Facilities Master Plan - July 
2016.pdf”, authored by Darden Architects and Integrated Education Planning & 
Programming LLC.  It’s a 200-page document housed on the District’s website.

The Page #’s in the FMP to find these data are as follows:

They are all from Section 7:  Implementation, except for the 3rd bullet from Section 6: 
Option Development.

• “21 school site projects”:  Page 110.

• “Scheduled to conclude by 2023”:  Page 112.

• “Cost estimates as of June 2016”:  Pages 101 through 103.

• “Escalated at 5% per year”:  Page 109 – “Five percent inflation has been applied to
the midpoint of construction, compounded yearly, to account for inflation.”  The
midpoint of construction can be determined from the schedule on Page 112.

➢ June 2016 Board-approved projects = “$181.8 million budget”:  Page 110.

2
171 of 175 171 of 175



“Closing the Gap at the Get-Go”

• June 2016 projected budget funding $    164.7 million
Source of Funds:  Local Bonds Only

2016 = $     8.5 million

2018 = $   60.5 million

2020 = $ 95.7 million

Total = $ 164.7 million, directly from the FMP

• <less> June 2016 FMP budget req’ts $ <181.8> see Slide 2

• Funding <gap> to-be-filled $   <17.1> million

• “Closing the Gap at the Get-Go”  $  ~ 26 State grants thru 2023

• Projected Surplus vs $181.1 million $  ~   9 million

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 3

Source: The data comprising “the funding gap” is in the FMP, Page 109 ($164.7 
million) and Page 110 ($181.8 million).

Page 109:  “Considering the bond dollars already committed to existing projects 
outside this Master Plan, the District has estimated a total of approximately $164.7 
Million dollars available in these time periods”.  And:  “Obviously, these remaining 
funds do not accomplish the extent of the identified Master Plan need” (i.e., $181.8 
million).  And further:  “Strategies for covering this gap include:

• State Funding
• Change Critical Need Expectations
• Additional Savings from revising Educational Specifications and 

Material/Product Standards
• A change in escalation, deflation or the reduction of construction costs”

➢ We’ll discuss these and other Mitigations on the next couple slides.

At the Get-Go:  Please refer to various District financial Reports #13, “Bond Program 
Financial Status”, between February 2017 and February 28th, 2019 (Slide 5).  These 
show State grant funds – applied for & pending; approved; cash received – at various 
times, destined for both pre-FMP projects as well as for Board-approved FMP projects.

3
172 of 175 172 of 175



Some Perspective
➢ Actual escalation has been around 8% so far,

based on projects comprising a third of the $181.8 million budget.

 This is on the low end of the State DSA’s 7-12% range from Feb 2018.

➢ Extrapolated over all 21 school site projects, 8% v 5% escalation
would add about $25 million more to the $181.8 million FMP budget.

➢ But this does not account for any mitigation, such as:
• Re-scoping or downsizing of projects;
• Re-timing (advancing or delaying) individual projects;
• Re-prioritizing (or re-ordering) several projects;
• Re-phasing (spreading out or splitting up) projects;
• Placing specific projects on hold (for re-assessment); or
• Cancelling (or long-term deferring) projects altogether.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 4

Source for “the State DSA’s 7 – 12% range”:  “DSA 20/20 Focus on the Future – Feb. 
2018” from Lisa LeBlanc’s presentation to the Board Study Session on “Facilities”, May 
30th, 2018.

Backup to “around 8% escalation so far”; “add about $25 million more to the FMP”:

* Valley View & Harmon Knolls (8/9/17) & Richmond (11/14/18) are Board-approved 
FMP Budget Supplements; Crespi & Wilson are “close-in” planning estimates.

** From GV modeling.

4

Site Original Revised Delta *

Valley View $1.0 $1.15 $0.15

Harmon Knolls $0.3 $0.55 $0.25

Crespi MS $3.1 $3.9 $0.8

Richmond HS $15.1 $19.0 $3.9

Wilson ES $40.3 $43.0 $2.7

TOTAL $59.8 $67.6 $7.8

Full FMP
$181.8

5% escalation
$205.5

8.3% escalation **
$23.7

173 of 175 173 of 175



Mitigation:

Projected surplus @ 5% escalation ~ $9 million. See Slide 3

8% escalation adds about  $25 million to the budget, See Slide 4

leaving a new $16 million gap to-be-filled.

On the COST Side:  Thru Program Management

• Budget Savings = $1.4 million-to-date; assume pro rata 
performance, so maybe $4 – 6 million over the full program.

• Re-scope & re-prioritize to constrain escalating costs. See Slide 4

On the MONEY Side:  Via Sources of Funds

• Additional state grants (beyond original $26 million projection, Slide 3).

• New local school bond measures.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 5

“Budget Savings” are as reported to the Board on July 25th, 2018, as follows:

Harmon Knolls $ 101,565
Valley View ES $ 58,553
Grant ES $ 688,533
Ohlone ES $ 176,115
Lake (critical needs only) $ 352,499
TOTAL $ 1,377,265

3 or 4 times that rate-of-savings over all FMP projects = $ 4 – 6 million.

Projected receipts of “State grants” (as of February 28th, 2019) are as follows:

Pinole Valley HS $ 16,502,885 February 2020
Helms $ 4,133,414 February 2023
TOTAL $ 20,636,299

The projection may change if/when the District applies for additional grants.  
The timing of receipts may change if/when the State issues additional bonds.

5
174 of 175 174 of 175



WRAP UP

Facilities Master Plan Discussion
Joint CBOC/Board of Education Meeting, March 27th, 2019

Presented by:  Gregg Visineau (CBOC Member)

Then:  June/July 2016 [slides 2 and 3]

$181.8 million budget for Board-approved projects.

Now:  March 2019 [slides 4 and 5]

Some perspective on escalation and mitigation.

Analysis and "FMP Escalation Discussion v4.pptx" prepared by G Visineau, March 16th, 2019 6

There you have it:  The original Board-approved FMP is a well-known, well-defined 
and well-done statement of District strategy.  It’s got all the information necessary to 
test the impact on budget numbers if key assumptions change over time – e.g., 
escalation rates, site scopes or project timings.

Over the past 3-years, several clear-cut challenges have reared their heads, which the 
District has been addressing and will continue to chase down:

Challenges

Escalation is exceeding the 5% annual rate assumed in the original FMP budget:

• Construction of replacement homes for northern California wildfire victims.
• A proposed strategy to build 3.5 million new homes across the State by 2025.
• Import tariffs on key materials like cement, wood and metals.

Positives

The District is actively engaged in budget management to address this escalation:

• Generating budget savings-to-date.
• Utilizing design-build entities.
• Accessing state grant funding.

Serious challenges remain:  The current funding gap with 8% escalation is 
estimated at about $16 million; and the pressure on it is UP, not DOWN!

6
175 of 175 175 of 175


	03.27.19 Agenda Packet PDFs.pdf
	05-B.3~WCCUSD FAI Implementation Review.pdf
	I. Executive Summary
	Recommendations

	II. Background Information
	III. Objective, Scope, and Methodology
	IV. Observations
	a. Implemented Through June 30, 2017
	b. Partially Implemented Through June 30, 2017
	c. Not Implemented Through June 30, 2017
	d. Undetermined






